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r

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House . ,

Concord, NH 03301

Your Excellency and Members of the Council:

REQUESTED ACTION

1. Authorize the Department of Justice (DOJ) to enter into subgranls with the organizations
listed below in the amount of $609,958.00 from the Federal Victim of Crime Act Orant
(VOCA) for the purpose of providing direct services to victims of crime effective July 1,
2020 upon Governor and Executive Council approval through September 30,2022. 100%
Federal Funds.

Funding is available as follows, with the ability to adjust encumbrances through the
Budget Office, if needed and Justified:

j

02-20-20-201510-5021,

Victims of Crime Act Grant:

Account Subrccipicnt Vendor # Subgrant
FY 2021

Subgrant
FY 2022

Totals

072-

500574

Portsmouth Police

Department

159594-

BOOl

$24,759.00 $24,759.00 $49,518.00

072-

500575

Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital
(CAC at CHaD)

177160-

B002

$280,220.00 280,220.00 $560,440.00

2. Authorize the Department ofJustice (DOJ) to enter into subgrants with the organization
listed below in the amount of $13,460.70 from the Federal Victim of Crime Act Grant
(VOCA) for the expenses for technology enhancements for uSafeUS Technology from
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July 1, 2020 upon Governor and Executive Council approval through September 30,
2020. 100% Federal Funds.

Funding is available as follows:

02-20-20-201510-5021,

Victims of Crime Act Grant:

Account Subrecipient Vendor U Subgrant Total

Subgrant
085-588550 University of

New Hampshire •
315187-8083 $13,460.70 $13,460.70

Authorize the Department of Justice (DOJ) to enter into a subgrant as the result of a
competitive Request, for Proposal (RFP) process, with the organization listed below in the
amount of $222,143.00 from the Federal Victim of Crime Act Grant (VOCA) for the
purpose of providing direct services to victims of crime effective July 1, 2020 upon
Governor and Executive Council approval through September 30, 2022. 100% Federal
Funds.

Funding is available as follows, with the ability to adjust encumbrances through the
Budget Office, if needed and justified: ^

02-20-20-201510-5021,

Victims of Crime Act Grant:

Account Subrecipient Vendor U Subgrant
FY 2021

Subgrant
FY 2022

Total

072-

500574

Claremont

Police

Department

177373-

8002

$111,754.51 $1 10,388.49 $222,143.00

EXPLANATION

VOCA was enacted by Congress in 1984 and it established the Crime Victims Fund.
Fines paid by offenders of federal crimes are deposited into this Fund. Money from the Fund is
then distributed to states for the benefit of victims of crime. DOJ is the receiving agency for
VOCA funds in New Hampshire.
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DOJ subgrants.these funds to agencies providing direct services to victims of crime.
Agencies providing services in the fields of sexuaf assault, domestic violence, traditionally
underserved populations and crimes against children are required to be given priority. For many
years, DOJ has directed VOCA funds to certain core service providers that provide these
services.

Requested action number one includes funding to core service providers, Portsmouth
Police Department (PPD) and Mary.Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH). The PPD's Office
for Victim Witness Assistance provides valuable victim advocate support to victims of crime.
The victimizations range greatly, including but not limited to, assaults, robbery, and kidnapping.

The Child Advocacy Center at MHMH, conducts forensic child advocacy interviews for
children. In addition to forensic interviews, they also provide direct victim services to their
victims and families by providing follow up and resources to the child and non-offending family
members.

In requested action number two, the University of New Hampshire is seeking one time
VOCA funding to assist in enhancing their USafeUS phone application. USafeUS is used
'Statewide by institutes of higher education to provide information and resources to victims of
sexual assault in New Hampshire.

Requested action number three includes funding to the Claremont Police Department
(CPD). A Victim Services Needs Assessment was conducted in the spring of 2019. The results
of that needs assessment have assisted in developing future funding priorities for victim services
within the DOJ. The needs assessment indicated housing, legal services, and mental health as
the top needs for victims of crime in New Hampshire. The Department released a competitive
RFP with up to $2 million in VOCA grant funding available for crime victim services. The RFP
scope was targeted to the highest priorities indicated from the results of the Victim Services
Needs Assessment.

The RFP was posted on the state-wide purchasing website, the DOJ's website and in two
newspapers. An email notification of the RFP went out to several hundred victim service
provider contacts. In response to the RFP, seventeen grant applications were received. A
scoring committee reviewed the applications and made a recommendation to fund eight
organizations for the total of two million dollars. CPD was one of the eight organizations
recommended for funding in these requested actions.

This requested action will support CPD for expenses incurred and services provided for
direct victim services provided by the members of Adverse Childhood Experiences Response
Team (ACERT). ACERTs are coordinated systems of support focused specifically on providing
services to children affected by trauma as a result of crime and the coordinated response that is
thereby required.
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Each agency provided funding under the VOCA grant is required to report quarterly
Performance Measurerhent Data (PMT). PMT data includes victim de-identified demographic
information and types of services provided.

In the event that federal funds become no longer available, general funds will not be
requested to support this program.

Please let me know if you have any questions concerning this request. Your
consideration is greatly appreciated.

Respectfully submitted,

yOordeiT J. MacDonald

Attorney General

#2757503



GRANT AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Subrecipient hereby
Mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1 1.1. State Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Justice

1.2. State Agency Address

33 Capitol Street, Concord, NH 03301

1.3. Subrecipient Name

Portsmouth Police Department

1.4. Subrecipient Address

3 Junklns Avenue, Portsmouth, NH 03801

1.5 Subrecipient Phone #

(603)610-7457

1.6. Account Number

02-20-20-201510-5021 -072-5

00574

1.7. Completion Date

09/30/2022

1.8. Grant Limitation

S

49.518.00

1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency

Thomas Kaempfer

1.10. State Agency Telephone Number

(603) 271-3658

"By signing this form we certify that we have complied with any public meeting requirement for acceptance of this grant,
including if applicable RSA 31 /^S-b."1^)d^u^^iple^^gnati^^l^^ 1.12. Name & Title of Subrecipiept Signor 1

^ob-trt
Chef toitdl-

Subrecipient Signature 21/Ajjplicable

ihih-o
N^e & Title of Subrecipient Signor 2 If Applicable
^cirtn^,Coy\aA,o .

1-lX j-^lj/jo^edgmcnt: State of New Hampshire, County of
undersigned officer, personally appeared the praDn identified in block 1.12., known to me (or

satJsTactonly proven) to be the person whose name is signed in block 1.11., and acknowledged that he/she executed this
document in the capadty indicated in block 1.12.

1.13.1. Signature ofNotary Pubhqo/^|/stice of the4^ce
,  (/ 7) KAREMA8e«CAL
^ A. / Notap/Put)Oc-M«»Hamp«N»
[jtiULiV MyCommliaiooEK|)lm»Jun»10,2020

■3:13.2^ Nitm^: Title of Noai^
fl-S/nec

iblic or Justice of the Peace

4^
State Agenw Signature(s) ' 1.15. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

1.16. Approval by Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if G & C approval required)

By:^ . Assistant Attorney General, On: / /
^ AA/'in/onoA

1.17. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable)

By: On: / /

2.SCOPE OF WORK: In exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting through the Agency
identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Subrecipient identified in block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as
*^he Subrecipient"), shall perform that work identified and more particularly described in the scope of work attached hereto as
EXHIBIT A (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to as'*the Project"). /Jjil i/c'
Rev. 9/2015 Page 1 of 2 8 Subrecipient Imtialfsl: / .



3. AREA CQVFRFD' Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the 9.2.
Subrecipient shall perform the Project in. and with respect to, the State of New
Hampshire.

4. trpn-CTTVE DATE' COMPLETION OF PROJECT.

4.1. This Agreement, artd all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become 9.3.
effective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the Governor
and Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block 1.17), or upon 9.4.
signature by the State Agency as shown in block 1.14 ("the effective date").

4.2. Except 83 otherwise speciflcally provided herein, the Project, including all
reports required by this Agreement, shall be completed in FTS entirety prior to
the date in block 1.7 (hereinafter referred to as "the Completion Date").

y  GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATIQN ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS: PAYMENT. 9.S.

5.1. The Grant Amount is identified artd more particularly described in EXHIBIT B,
attached hereto. 10.

5.2. The manner of, and schedule of payment shall be as set forth in EXHIBIT B.
5.3. In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT B. and in consideration

of the satisfactory performance of the Project, as determined by the State, and as
limited by subpaiagraph S.S of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Subrecipient the Grant Amount. The Sute shall withhold ftom the amount
otherwise payable to the Subrecipiem under this subparagraph S.3 those sums
required, or permitted, to be withheld pursuant to N.H. RSA 80;7 through 7<.

5.4. The payment by the State of the Grant amouni shall be the only, and the
complete payment to the Subrecipient for all expenses, of whatever nature, II.
incurred by (he Subrecipient in the performance hereof, arid shall be the only, 11.1.
and the complete, compensation to the Subrecipient for the Project. The State
shall have no liabilities to the Subrecipient other than the Grant Amount.

5.5. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and I I.I.I
notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all 11.1.2
payments authorized, or actually made, heixunder exceed the Grant limitation 11.1.3
set forth in block 1.8 of these genera] provisions. 11.1.4

6. COKfPLIANCE BY SUBRECtPIENT WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS 11.2.
In connection with the performance of the Project, the Subrecipient shall comply
with all statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, state, county, or 11.2.1
municipal authorities which shall impose any obligations or duty upon the
Subrecipient, including the acquisition of any and all necessary permiu.
REmRDS and ACCOUNTS,

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Completion
Date the Subrecipient shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred in 11.2.2
connection with the Project, iiKluding, but not limited to, costs of
administration, transportation, insurance, telephone calls, and clerical materials
and services. Such accounts shall be supported by receipts, invoices, bills and
other similar documenu.

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Completion
Date, Bi any time during the Subrecipient's normal business hours, and as often 11.2.3
as the State shall demand, the Subrecipient shall make available to the State all
records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Subrecipient shall 11.2.4
permit die State to audit, examine, arid reproduce such records, and to make
audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel, data 12.
(as that term is hereinafter defined), and other information relating to all matters 12.1.
covered by this Agreement. As used in this paragraph. "Subrecipient" includes
all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or under common
ownership with, the entity identified as the Subrecipient in block 1.3 of these
provisions

8. PERSONNEL.

8.1. The Subrecipient shall, at its own expense, provide all personnel necessary to 12.2.
perform the Project. The Subrecipiem warrants that all personnel engaged in the
Project shall be qualified to perform such Project, and shall be properly licensed
and authorized to perform such Project under all applicable laws.

8J. The Subrecipiem shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor. 12.3.
subgrantee. or other person, firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a
combined effon to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual
relationship with the Sute, or wtw is a Sute officer or employee, elected or

8.3. appointed.
The Grant Officer shall be the represenutive of the State hereunder. In the event 12.4.
of any dispute hereunder, the interpreution of this Agreement by the Grant
Officer, and his/her decision on any dispuu, shall be final.

9, DATA-RETPN-nON OF DATA' AGCES.S
9.1. As used in this Agreement, the word "dau" shall mean all information and 13.

things developed or obuined during the performance of, or acquired or
developed by reason of, (his Agreement, including, bu not limited to, all studies,
reporu, files, formulae, surveys, maps, charu, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic representations,
computer programs, computer primouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Subrecipiem shall
grant to the Suu, or any person designated by it, unrestricted access to all dau
for examination, duplication, publication, tnuulation, sale, disposal, or for any
other purpose whatsoever.
No dau shall be subject to copyright in the United Sutes or any other country by
anyone other than the State.
On and after the Effective Date all data, and any property which has been
received from the Sute or purchased with ftuxls provided for that purpose under
this Agreement, shall be the property of the Sutc, and shall be returned to the
Sute upon demand or upon termination of this Agreement for any reason,
whichever shall first occur.

The Sute, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authority to
publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, all dau.
GQNPmQNAL NATURE OR AGREEMENT. Notwithsunding anything in

this Agreement to the contrary, oil obligations of the Sute hereunder, including,
without limiution, the cominuaiKe of paymenu hereunder. are contingent upon
the availability or continued appropriation of fbnds, and in no event shall the
Sute be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of such availoMe or
appropriated fVuxls. In the event of a reduction or termination of those ftindi, the
Sutc shall have the right to withhold payment undl such fUnds become
available, if ever, and shall have the ri(^t to terminate this Agreement
immediately upon giving the Subrecipiem notice of such termination.
EVEhTT OF DEFAULT: REMEDIES.

Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the Subrecipient shall
constitute an event of default hereunder (hereinafter referred to as "Events of
Default"):

Failure to perform the Project utisfactorily or on Khedule; or
Failure to submit any report required hereunder, or
Failure to mainuin, or permit access to, the records required hereunder, or
Failure to perfonn any of the other covenanu and conditions of this Agreement.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Sute may take any one, or
more, or all, of the following actions:
Give the Subrecipient a written notice specifying the Event of Defkult and
requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser
specification of time, thirty (30) days from the date of the notice; and if the
Event of Default is not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Subrecipient notice of termination; end
Give the Subrecipient a written notice specifying the Event of De&ult and
suspending all paymenu to be made under this Agreonent end ordering that the
portion of the Grant Amount which would otherwise accrue to the Stdirecipient
during the period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Subrecipient has cured the Event of Default shall never be
paid to the Subrecipient; and
Set off against any other obligation the State may owe to the Subrecipiem any
damages the State suffers by reason of any Evem of Defkult; and
Treat the agreement as breached and pursue any of its remedies at law or in
equity, or both.
TERMINATION.

In the event of any early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of the Project, the Subrecipient shall deliver to the Grant Officer,
not later than fifteen (IS) days after the date of termination, a report (hereinafter
referred to as the 'Termination Report") describing in detail aJI Project Work
performed, and the Grant Amount earned, to arxJ including the date of
termination.

In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the State shall entitle
the Subrecipiem to receive that portion of the Grant amount earned to and
including the date of termination.
In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the State shall in no
event relieve the Subrecipient finm any aixl all liability for damages sustained or
itKurred by the State as a result of the Subrecipiem's breach of its obligations
hereunder.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, either the State or,
except where notice dcfkult has been given to the Subrecipient hereunder, the
Subrecipient, may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days
written notice.
CONFLICT OF INTEREST No officer, member of employee of the
Subrecipient, and no representative, officer or employee of the Stau of New
Hampshire or of the governing body of the locality or localities in which the
Project is to be performed, who exercises any functions or responsibilities in the
review or approval of the undertaking or carrying out of such Project, shall
participate in any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his or her

Rev. 9/2015 Page 2 of 28 Subrecipient Initial(8):

Date



14.

15.

16.

17,

17.1

17.1.1

17.1.2

personal interest or the interest of any corporation, partnership, or association 17.2.
in which he or she is directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have,
any personal or pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the
procMds thereof.
SlIBRECIPreNT-S RELATION TO THE STATE, In the performance of this!
Agreement the Subrecipient, its employees, and any subcontractor or^
subgrantee of the Subrecipient are in all respects independent contractors, and 18.
are neither agents nor employees of the State. Neither the Subrecipient nor any
of its officers, employees, agents, members, subcontractors or subgrantees,
shall have authority to bind the State nor are they entitled to any of the bertefits,'
workmen's compensation or emoluments provided by the State to its
employees.
ASSIGNMENT AND SLIBCQNTRACTS. The Subrecipient shall not assign,
or otherwise transfer any interest in this Agreement without the prior written 19.
consent of the State. None of the Project Wort shall be sub^tracted or.
subgranted by the Subrecipient other than as set forth in Exhibit A without the;
prior written consent of the Stale. •
INDEMNIFICATION. The Subrecipient shall defend, indemnify and holdt 20.
harmless the State, its olTicers ai>d employees, from tnd against any and all
losses suffered by the State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers and employees, by
or on behalf of any person, on account of. based on. resulting from, arising out 21.
of (or which may be claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Subrecipient or subcontractor, or subgrantee or other agent of the Subrecipient.-
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver of the sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is
hereby reserved to the State. This covenant shall survive the termination of.
this agreement. 22.
INSURANCE AND BOND.

The Subrecipient shall, at its own expense, obtain and maintain in force, or. 23.
shall require any subcontractor, subgrantee or assignee performing Project'
work to obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of the State, the
following insurance;
Statutory workmen's compensation and employees liability insuraiKC for all- 24.
employees engaged in the performance of the ̂ ject, end
Comprehensive public liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries,
death or property damage, in amounts not less than % 1,0(X),(XK> per occunence
and S2,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and
S500.000 for property damage in any one incident; and

The policies described in subparagraph 17.1 of this paragra^rf) shall be the
standard form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters
acceptable to the State, and authorized to do business in the State of New
Hampshire. Each policy shall contain a clause prohibiting cancellation or
modification of the policy earlier than ten (10) days after written notice thereof
has been received by the State.
WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions
hereof after any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event, or any subsequent Event. No express waiver of any Event
of Default shall be deemed a waiver of any provisions hereof. No such failure of
waiver shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all
of the provisions hereof upon any ftinher or other default on the part of the
Subrecipient.
NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to
have been duly delivered or given at the lime of mailing by cenilied mail,
postage prepaid, in a United States Post Office addressed to ̂ e parties at the
addresses first above given.
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto and only after approval
of such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the
State of New Hamp^ire, if required or by the signing State AgetKy.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS. This Agreement shall be
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assignees. The captions and contents.of the "subject" blank are
used only as a matter of convenience, and are not to consider^ a part of this
Agreement or to be used in determining the intend of the parties hereto.
THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not Intend lo benefit any third parties
and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.
ENTRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be executed in a number
of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, constitutes the entire
agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedea all prior
agreements and urxJerstandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The additional provisions set forth in Exhibit C
hereto arc incorporated as part of this agreement.

Rev. 9/2015 Page 3 of28 Subrecipient Initial(s): ( tflttlUo
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EXHIBIT A

-SCOPE OF. SERVICES-

1. Portsmouth Police Department as Subrecipient shall receive a subgrant from the New

Hampshire Department of Justice (DOJ) for expenses incurred and services provided for

direct victim services provided by the VictimAVitness Program imder the Victims of
Crime Act Grant to include expenses for'.personnel.

I

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed by'the DOJ based on budgeted expenditures

described in Exhibit B. The Subrecipient shall submit incurred expenses for

reimbursement on the state approved expenditure reporting form as provided.

Expenditure reports shall be submitted on a quarterly basis, within fifteen (15) days

following the end of the current quarterly activities. Expenditure reports submitted later
than thirty (30) days following the end of the quarter will be considered late and out of

compliance. For example, with an award that begins on January 1. thefirst quarterly
report is due on April 15"* or 15 days after the close of the first quarter ending on March

31.

3. Subrecipient is required to maintain supporting documentation for all grant expenses both

state funds and match if provided and to produce those documents upon request of this
office or any other state or federal audit authority. Grant project supporting

documentation should be maintained for at least 5 years after the close of the project.

4. Subrecipient shall be subject to periodic desk audits and program reviews by DOJ. Such

desk audits and program reviews shall be scheduled with Subrecipient and every attempt

shall be made by Subrecipient to accommodate the schedule.

5. All correspondence and submittals shall be directed to:
NH Department of Justice

Grants Management Unit

33 Capitol Street

Concord, NH 03301

603-271-7820 or Tanya.pitman@doj.nh.gov

Subr=ipie„„nitia,sML
Date



EXHIBIT B
1

-METHOD Of PAYMENT-

1. The Subrecipient shall receive reimbursement in exchange for approved expenditure

reports as described in EXHIBIT A.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed within thirty (30) days following the DOJ's
approval of expenditures. Said payment shall be made to the Subrecipient's account
receivables address per the Financial System of the State of New Hampshire.

3. The State's obligation to compensate the Subrecipient under this Agreement shall not

exceed the price limitation set forth in form P-37 section 1.8.

3a. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $24,759.00 of the

total Grant Limitation from Governor and Council approval or 07/01/20,

whichever is later, to 06/30/21, with approved expenditure reports. This shall be
contingent on continued federal funding and program performance.

3b. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amovint not to exceed $24,759.00 of the

total Grant Limitation from 07/01/21 to 06/30/22, with approved expenditure
reports. This shall be contingent on continued federal funding and program

performance.

i. With sufficient reason and under limited circumstances, the

Subrecipient may apply for an extension of the grant period for up to

three months. The Subrecipent must submit the request in writing. No
extension is granted until approval is received by DOJ in writing.

ii. Neither the Subrecipient nor DOJ will be responsible for any expenses

or costs incurred under this agreement prior to Governor and Council

approval, nor after 06/30/22 or 9/30/22 if an extension is approved.

Page 5 of 28 Subrecipient Initials iiJL
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EXHIBIT C

-SPECUL PROVISIONS-

1. Subrecipients shall also be compliant at all times with the terms, conditions and
specifications detailed in the Special Conditions, which are subject to annual review.

Page 6 of 28
Subrecipient Initials

Date



EXHIBIT C

Special Provisions to the State of New Hampshire Grant Agreement

2019-V2-GX-0050

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

1. Requirements of the award; remedies fof non-compliance or for materially false
statements

The conditions of this award are material requirements of the award. Compliance
with any assurances or certifications submitted by or on behalf of the recipient that
relate to conduct during the period of performance also is a material requirement of
this award. By signing and accepting this award on behalf of the recipient, the
authorized recipient official accepts all material requirements of the award, and
specifically adopts all such assurances or certifications as if personally executed
by the authorized recipient official

Failure to comply with any one or more of these award requirements -- whether a
condition set out in full below, a condition incorporated by reference below, or an
assurance or certification related to conduct during the award period —may result in
the Office of Justice Programs ("OJP") taking appropriate action with respect to the
recipient and the award. Among other things, the OJP may withhold award funds,
disallow costs, or suspend or terminate the award. The U.S. Department of Justice
("POJ"), including OJP, also may take Other legal action as appropriate.

Any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement to the federal government
related to this award (or concealment or omission of a material fact) may be the
subject of criminal prosecution (including under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or 1621, and/or
34 U.S.C. 10271-10273), and also may lead to imposition of civil penalties and
administrative remedies for false claims or otherwise (including under 31 U.S.C.
3729-3730 and 3801-3812).

Should any provision of a requirement of this award be held to be invalid or
unenforceable by its terms, that provisioh shall first be applied with a limited
construction so as to give it the maximum effect permitted by law. Should it be held,
instead, that the provision is utterly invalid or -unenforceable, such provision shall be
deemed severable from this award.

2. Applicability of Part 200 Uniform Requirements

Page 7 of 28
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EXHIBIT C

The Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, as adopted and supplemented by DOJ in 2 C.F.R. Part 2800
(together, the "Part 200 Uniform Requirements") apply to this FY 2019 award from
OJP.

The Part 200 Uniform Requirements were first adopted by DOJ on December 26,
2014. If this FY 2019 award supplements funds previously awarded by OJP under
the same award number (e.g., fimds awarded during or before December 2014), the
Part 200 Uniform Requirements apply with respect to all fimds under that award
number (regardless of the award date, and regardless of whether derived from the
initial award or a supplemental award) that are obligated on or after the acceptance
date of this FY 2019 award.

For more information and resources on the Part 200 Uniform Requirements as they
relate to OJP awards and subawards ("subgrants"), see the OJP website at
httDs://oiD.gov/funding/Part200UniformReouirements.htm.

Record retention and access: Records pertinent to the award that the any subrecipicnt
("subgrantee") at any tier) must retain — typically for a period of 3 years from the
date of submission of the final expenditure report (SF 425), unless a different
retention period applies - and to which any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier)
must provide access, include performance measurement information, in addition to
the financial records, supporting docum^ts, statistical records, and other pertinent
records indicated at 2 C.F.R. 200.333. .

In the event that an award-related question arises from documents or other materials
prepared or distributed by OJP that may appear to conflict with, or differ in some
way from, the provisions of the Part 200 Uniform Requirements, the recipient is to
contact OJP promptly, for clarification.

3. Compliance with DOJ Financial Guide '

References to the DOJ Grants Financial ijuide are to the DOJ Grants Financial Guide

as posted on the OJP website (currently, the "DOJ Grants Financial Guide" available

at https://ojp.gov/financialguide/DOJ/index.htm), including any updated version that
may be posted during the period of performance. The subrecipient agrees to comply
with the DOJ Grants Financial Guide.

I

4. Reclassification of various statutory provisions to a new Title 34 of the United States
Code

subrecipient initial/-#
Date
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On Sqjtember 1, 2017, various statutory provisions previously codified elsewhere in
the U.S. Code were editorially reclassified to a new Title 34, entitled "Crime Control
and Law Enforcement." The reclassification encompassed a number of statutory
provisions pertinent to OJP awards (that h, OJP grants and cooperative agreements),
including many provisions previously codified in Title 42 of the U.S. Code.

Effective as of September 1, 2017, any reference in this award document to a
statutory provision that has been reclassified to the new Title 34 of the U.S. Code is
to be read as a reference to that statutory provision as reclassified to Title 34. This
rule of construction specifically includes references set out in award conditions,
references set out in material incorporated by reference through award conditions,
and references set out in other award requirements.

i

5. Requirements related to "de minimis" indirect cost rate

A recipient that is eligible under the Part 200 Uniform Requirements and other
applicable law to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate described in 2 C.F.R.
200.414(1), and that elects to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate, must advise
OJ? in writing of both its eligibility and its election, and must comply with all
associated requirements in the Part 200 Uniform Requirements. The "de minimis"
rate may be applied only to modified total direct costs (MTDC) as defined by the
Part 200 Uniform Requirements.

6. Requirement to report actual or imminent breach of personally identifiable
information (PII)

Any "subrecipient" at any tier must have written procedures in place to respond in
the event of an actual or imminent "breach" (0MB M-17-12) if it (or a subrecipient)-
-(1) creates, collects, uses, processes, stores, maintains, disseminates, discloses, or
disposes of "personally identifiable information (PII)" (2 CFR 200.79) within the
scope of an OJP grant-funded program ot activity, or (2) uses or operates a "Federal
information system" (0MB Circular A-130). The recipient's breach procedures must
include a requirement to report actual or imminent breach of PII to an OJP Program
Manager no later than 24 hours after an occurrence of an actual breach, or the
detection of an imminent breach.

7. All subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable
requirements for authorization of any subaward. This condition applies to
agreements that — for purposes of federal grants administrative requirements — OJP
considers a "subaward" (and therefore does not consider a procirrement "contract").

Page 9 of 28
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EXHIBIT C

The details of the requirement for authorization of any subaward are posted on the
OJP web site at https://'ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SubawardAuthorization.htm (Award
condition: All subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization),
and are incorporated by reference here.

8. Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in any
procurement contract that would exceed $250,000.

The subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tijer, must comply with all applicable requirements
to obtain specific advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in any procurement
contract that would exceed die Simplified Acquisition Threshold (currently, $250,000).
This condition applies to agreements that - for purposes of federal grante administrative
requirements — OJP considers a procurement "contract" (and therefore does not consider
a subaward).

The details of the requirement for advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in
a procurement contract under an OJP award are posted on the OJP web site at
http://ojp.gov/funding/Explorc/NoncompetitiveProcurement.htm (Award condition:
Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in a procurement
contract (if contract would exceed $250,000)), and are incorporate by reference here.

9. Compliance with applicable rules regarding approval, planning, and reporting of
conferences, meetings, trainings, and other events.

Any subrecipient (subgrantee) at any tier, must comply with all applicable laws,
regulations, policies, and official DOJ guidance (including specific cost limits^ prior
approval and reporting requirements, where applicable) governing the use of federal
funds for expenses related to conferences (as that term is defined by DOJ), including
the provision of food and/or beverages at such conferences, and costs of attendance at
such conferences.

Information on the pertinent DOJ definition of conferences and the rules applicable to
this award appears in the DOJ Grants Financial Guide (currently, as section 3.10 of
"Post-award Requirements" in the "DOJ Grants Financial Guide").

10. Requirement for data on performance and effectiveness under the award

The subrecipient must collect and maintain data that measure the performance and
effectiveness of activities under this award. The data must be provided to OJP in the
manner (including within the timeframes) specified by OJP in the program solicitation
or other applicable written guidance. Data collection supports compliance with the
Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and the GPRA Modernization Act
of 2010, and other applicable laws.

Page iO of 28
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11. OJP Training Guiding Principles

Any training or training materials that any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier -

develops or delivers with OJP award funds must adhere to the OJP Training Guiding

Principles for Grantees and Subrecipient; available at

httDs://oiD.gov/funding/Implement/TrainingPrinciDlesForGrantees-Subgrantees.htm

12. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28C.F.R.Part42

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable
requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 42, specifically including any applicable requirements
in subpart E of 28 C.F.R. Part 42 that relate to an equal employment opportunity
program.

13. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaimng to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28 C.F.R. Part 54

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable
requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 54, which relates to nondiscrimination on the basis of
sex in certain "education programs."

14. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28C.F.R.Part38

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable
requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 38 (as may be applicable from time to time)
specifically including any applicable requirements regarding written notice to
program beneficiaries and prospective program beneficiaries.

Currently, among other things, 28 C.F.R. Part 38 includes rules that prohibit
specific forms of discrimination on the basis of religion, a religious belief, a
refusal to hold a religious belief, or refusal to attend or participate in a
religious practice. Pan 38, currently, also sets out rules £ind requirements that
pertain to subrecipient ("subgrantee") organizations that engage in or conduct
explicitly religious activities, as well as rules and requirements that pertain to
recipients and subrecipients that are faith-based or religious organizations

The text of 28 C.F.R. Part 38 is available via the Electronic Code of Federal
Regulations (currently accessible at https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-
bin/ECFR?page =browse), by browsing to Title 28-Judicial Administration,

Page 11 of 28
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Chapter I, Part 38, under e-CFR "current" data.

15. Restrictions on "lobbying"

In general, as a matter of federal law, federal funds awarded by OJP may not be used
by the subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, either directly or indirectly, to support or
oppose the enactment, repeal, modification, or adoption of any law, regulation, or
policy, at any level of government. See 18 U.S.C. 1913. (There may be exceptions if
an applicable federal statute specifically authorizes certain activities that otherwise
would be barred by law.)

Another federal law generally prohibits ̂ ds awarded by OTP from being used by any
subrecipient at any tier, to pay any person to influence (or attempt to influence) a
-federal agency, a Member of Congress, or Congress (or an official or employee of any
of them) with respect to the awarding of federal grant or cooperative agreement,
subgrant, contract, subcontract, or loan with respect to actions such as renewing,
extending, or modifying any such award. See 31 U.S.C. 1352. Certain exceptions to
this law, including exception that applies to Indian tribes and tribal organizations^

t

Should any questions arise to whether a particular use of funds by a subrecipient would
or might fall within the scope of these prohibitions, the recipient is to contact OJP for
guidance, and may not proceed without the express prior written approval of OJP.

16. Compliance with general appropriations-law restrictions on the use of federal funds
(FY2019)

I

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable

restrictions on the use of federal funds set out in federal appropriations statutes.
• Pertinent restrictions, including from various "general provisions" in the

Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, are set out at

https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/FY19AppropriationsRestrictions.htm, ̂ d are
incorporated by reference here. •

Should a question arise as to whether a particular use of federal funds by a
subrecipient would or might fall within the scope of an appropriations-law
restriction, the recipient is to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without
the express prior written approval of OJP.

}

1

17. Reporting potential fraud, waste and abuse and similar misconduct.

Any subrecipients ("subgrantees") must promptly refer to the DOJ Office of the
Inspector General (010) any credible evidence that a principal, employee, agent.

Page 12 of 28 kSCL.
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subrecipient, contractor, subcontractor, or other person has, in connection with funds
under this award - (1) submitted a claimithat violates the False Claims Act; or (2)
committed a criminal or civil violation of laws pertaining to fraud, conflict of
interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct.

Potential fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct involving or relating to funds under
this award should be reported to the OIG by—(1) online submission accessible via
the OIG webpage at https://oigJustice.gov^otline/contact-grants.htm (select
"Submit Report Online"); (2) mail directed to; Office of the Inspector General, U.S.
Department of Justice, Investigations Division, 1425 New York Avenue, N.W. Suite
7100, Washington, DC 20530; and/or (3) by facsimile directed to the DOJ OJG
Fraud Detection Office (Attn; Grantee Reporting) at (202) 616-9881 (fax).

Additional information is available from the DOJ OIG website at

httDs://oig.iusti ce.gov/hotline.

18. Restrictions and certifications regarding non-disclosure agreements and related
matters.

No subrecipient ("subgrantee") under this award, or entity that receives a procurement
contract or subcontract with any funds under this award, may require any employee or
contractor to sign an internal confidentiality agreement or statement that prohibits or
otherwise restricts, or purports to prohibit or restrict, the reporting (in accordance with
law) of waste, fraud, or abuse to an investigative or law enforcement representative of
a federal department or agency authorized to receive such infonnation.

The foregoing is not intended, and shall riot be understood by the agency making this
award, to contravene requirements applicable to Standard Form 312 (which relates to
classified information). Form 4414 (which relates to sensitive compartmented
infonnation), or any other form issued by a federal department or agency governing the
nondisclosure of classified information.

a. In accepting this award, the subrecipient—
i. represents that it neither requires nor has required internal

confidentiality agreements or statements fix)m en^loyees or
contractors that currently prohibit or otherwise currently restrict
(or purport to prohibit or restrict) employees or contractors from
reporting waste, fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. certifies that, if it leams or is notified that it is or has been

requiring its employees or contractors to execute agreements or
statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport to
prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as
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described above, it will immediately stop any further obligations
of award funds, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit
resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to
do so by that agency.

b. If the subrecipient does or is authorized under this award to make
subawards ("subgrants"), procurement contracts, or both-

i. it represents that— it has determined that no other entity
that the subrecipient's application proposes may or will
receive award funds (whether through a subaward
("subgrant"), procurement contract, or subcontract imder
a procurement contract) either requires or has required
internal confidentiality agreements or statements fix)m
employees or contractors that currently prohibit or
otherwise currently restrict (or purport to prohibit or
restrict) employees or contractors from reporting waste,
fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. it has made appropriate inquiry, or otherwise has an
adequate factual basis, to support this representation; and

c. it certifies that, if it leams or is notified that any subrecipient,
contractor, or subcontractor entity that receives funds under this award
is or has been requiring its employees or contractors to execute
agreements or statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport
to prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as described
above, it will immediately stop any further obligations of award funds
to or by that entity, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit
resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to do so
by that agency.

19. Compliance with 41 U.S.C. 4712 (including prohibitions on reprisal; notice to
employees)

The subrecipient at any tier must comply with, and is subject to, all applicable
provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712, including all applicable provisions that prohibit, under
specified circumstances, discrimination against an employee as reprisal for the
employee's disclosure of information related to gross mismanagement of a federal
grant, a gross waste of federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a federal grant,
a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule,
or regulation related to a federal grant, r

The subrecipient also must inform its employees, in writing (and in the predominant
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native language of the workforce), of employee rights and remedies under 41 U.S.C.

4712.

Should a question arise as to the applicability of the provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712 to
this award, the recipient is to contact the DOJ awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as
appropriate) for guidance.

20. Encouragement of policies to ban text messaging while driving

Pursuant to Executive Order 13513, "Federal Leadership on Reducing Text
Messaging While Driving," 74 Fed. Reg. 51225 (October 1, 2009), DOJ encourages
subrecipients ("subgrantees") to adopt and enforce policies banning employees from
text messaging while driving any vehicle during the course of performing work
funded by this award, and to establish workplace safety policies and conduct
education, awareness, and other outreach to decrease crashes caused by distracted
drivers.

21. The subrecipient (subgrantees) at any tier, must authorize the Office for Victims of
Crime (OVC) and/or the Office of the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO), the New
Hampshire Department of Justice (NHDOJ) and its representatives, access to and the
right to examine all records, books, paper or documents related to the VOCA grant.

22. VOCA Requirements
Subrecipients assure they will comply with the conditions of the Victims of
Crime Act (VOCA) of 1984, sections 1404(a)(2), and 1404(b)(1) and (2), 34
U.S.C. 20103(a)(2) and (b)(1) and (2) (and the applicable program guidelines and
regulations), as required. Specifically, the subrecipient certifies that funds under
this award will:

a) be awarded only to eligible victim assistance organizations, 34 U.S.C.
20103(a)(2);

b) not be used to supplant State and local public funds that would otherwise be
available for crime victim assistance, 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2); and

c) be allocated in accordance with program guidelines or regulations
implementing 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(A) and 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(B) to, at
a minimum, assist victims in the following categories: sexual assault, child
abuse, domestic violence, and underserved victims of violent crimes as
identified by the State.

23. The subrecipient agrees to submit quarterly performance reports on the performance
metrics identified by OVC, and in the manner required by OVC. This information on
the activities supported by the award funding will assist in assessing the effects that

Page 15 of 28
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VOCA Victim Assistance funds have had on services to crime victims within the
jurisdiction.,

24. Employment eligibility verification for hiring under the award

1. The recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier) must—
A. Ensure that, as part of the hiring process for any position within the United

States that is or will be funded (in whole or in part) with award funds, the
any subrecipient properly verifies the employment eligibility of the
individual who is being hired, consistent with the provisions of 8 U S C
1324a(a)(l) and (2).

B. Notify all persons associated with any subrecipient who are or will be
involved in activities under this award of both—
1. this award requirement for verification of employment eligibility, and
2. the associated provisions in S^U.S.C. 1324a(a)(l) and (2) that, generally

speaking, make it unlawful, in the United States, to hire (or recruit for
employment) certain aliens.

C. Provide training (to the extent necessary) to those persons required by
this condition to be notified of the award requirement for employment
eligibility verification and of the associated provisions of 8 U.S.C.
1324a(a)(l)and(2).

D. As part of the recordkeeping for the award (including pursuant to the Part
200 Uniform Requirements), maintain records of all employment eligibility
verifications pertinent to compliance with this award condition in accordance
with Form 1 -9 record retention requirements, as well as records of all pertinent
notifications and trainings.

2. Monitoring r
The recipient's monitoring responsibilities include monitoring of subrecipient
compliance with this condition.

3. Allowable costs •

To the extent that such costs are not reimbursed under any other federal
program, award funds may be obligated for the reasonable, necessary, and
allocable costs (if any) of actions designed to ensure compliance with this
condition.

4. Rules of construction

A. Staff involved in hiring process
For purposes of this condition, persons "who are or will be involved in
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activities under this award" specifically includes (without limitation)
any and any subrecipient officials or other staff who are or will be
involved in the hiring process with respect to a position that is or will
be funded (in whole or in part) with award funds.

B. Employment eligibility confirmation with E-verify
For purpose of satisfying the requirement of this condition regarding
verification of employment eligibility, any subrecipient may choose to
participate in, and use, E-Veriiy (www.e-verify.gov), provided an
appropriate person authorized to act on behalf of the subrecipient uses
E-Verify (and follows the proper E-Verify procedures, including in the
event of a "Tentative Nonconfirmation" or a "Final Nonconfirmation")
to confirm employment eligibility for each hiring for a position in the
United States that is or will be, funded (in whole or in part) with award
funds.

!

C. "United States" specifically includes the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico,
Guam, the Virgin Islands of the United States, and the Commonwealth of the
Northem Mariana Islands.

D. Notlung in this condition shall be understood to authorize or require any
subrecipient at any tier, or any person or other entity, to violate any federal
law, including any applicable civil rights or nondiscrimination law.

E. Nothing in this condition, including in paragraph 4.B., shall be understood to

relieve any subrecipient at any tier, or any person or other entity, of any obligation
otherwise imposed by law, including 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(l) and (2).

Questions about E-Verify should be directed to DHS. For more information about

E-Verify visit the E-Verify website (hhps://www.e-verify.gov/) or email B-Verify

at E-Verify@dhs.gov. E-Verify employer agents can email E-Verify at
E-VerifvEmDloverAgent@dhs.gQv.

Questions about the meaning or scope of this condition should be directed to OJP,

before award acceptance.

25. Unreasonable restrictions on competition under the award; association with federal
government.

SCOPE. This condition applies with respect to any procurement of property or services
that is funded (in whole or in part) by this award, whether by any subrecipient at any tier,

and regardless of the dollar amount of the purchase or acquisition, the method of
Page 17 of 28
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/■

procurement, or the nature of any legal instrument used. The provisions of this condition
must be among those included in any subaward (at any tier).

1. No discrimination, in procurement tr^actions, against associates of the federal
government

Consistent with the (DOJ) Part 200 Uniform Requirements - including as set out at
2 C.F.R. 200.300 (requiring awards to be "manage[d] and administer[ed3 in a manner '
so as to ensure that Federal funding is expended and associated programs are
implemented in full accordance with U.S. statutory and public policy requirements")
and 200.319(a) (generally requiring "[a]II procurement transactions [to] be conducted
in a manner providing full and open competition" and forbidding practices "restrictive
of competition," such as "[p]lacing unreasonable requirements on fums in order for
them to qualify to do business" and taking "[a)ny arbitrary action in the procurement
process") — no subrecipient, at any tier may (in any procurement transaction)
discriminate against any person or entity on the basis of such person or entity's
status as an "associate of the federal government" (or on the basis of such person or
entity's status as a parent, affiliate, or subsidiary of such an associate), except as
expressly set out in 2 C.F.R. 200.319(a) or as specifically authorized by USDOJ.

2. Monitoring
The recipient's monitoring responsibilities include monitoring of subrecipient
compliance with this condition. i

3. Allowable costs

To the extent that such costs are not reimbursed under any other federal program,
award funds may be obligated for the reasonable, necessary, and allocable costs (if
any) of actions designed to ensure compliance with this condition.

4. Rules of construction
i

A. The term "associate of the federal government" means any person or entity
engaged or employed (in the past or at present) by or on behalf of the federal
government — as an employee, contractor or subcontractor (at any tier), grant
subrecipient (at any tier), agent, or otherwise - in undertaking any work, project,
or activity for or on behalf of (or in providing goods or services to or on behalf of)
the federal government, and includes any applicant for such employment or
engagement, and any person or entity committed by legal instrument to undertake
any such work, project, or activity (or to provide such goods or services) in future.
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B. Nothing in this condition shall be understood to authorize or require any
subrecipient at any tier, or any person or other entity, to violate any federal law,
including any applicable civil ri^ts or nondiscrimination law.

26. Requirements pertaining to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons (including
reporting requirements and OJP authority to terminate award)

Any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements
(including requirements to report allegations) pertaining to prohibited conduct related to
the trafficking of persons, whether on the part of subrecipients ("subgrantees"), or
individuals defined (for purposes of this condition) as "employees" of any subrecipient.
The details of the subrecipient's obligations related to prohibited conduct related to
trafficking in persons are posted on the OJP web site at

https;//ojp.gov/funding/Explore/ProhibitedConduct-Trafficking.htm (Award condition:
Prohibited conduct by subrecipients related to trafficking in persons (including reporting
requirements and OJP authority to terminate award)), and are incorporated by reference
here.

27. Determination of suitability to interact with participating minors

SCOPE. This condition applies to this award if it is indicated - in the application for the
award (as approved by DOJ)(or in the application for any subaward, at any tier), the DOJ
funding announcement (solicitation), or,an associated federal statute -- that a purpose of
some or all of the activities to be carried out under the award (whether by a subrecipient
at any tier) is to benefit a set of individuals under 18 years of age.

Any subrecipient at any tier, must make determinations of suitability before certain

individuals may interact with participating minors. This requirement applies regardless of
an individual's employment status. ;

^  '

The details of this requirement are posted on the OJP web site at

https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/Interact-Minors.htm (Award condition: Determination of
suitability required, in advance, for certain individuals who may interact with
participating minors), and are incorporated by reference here.

28. Discrimination Findings

The subrecipient assures that in the event that a Federal or State court or Federal or
State administrative agency makes a fmding of discrimination after a due process
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hearing on the ground of race, religion, national origin, sex, or disability against a
recipient of victim assistance formula funds under this award, the recipient will
forward a copy of the findings to the Office for Civil Rights of DIP.

29. The Subrecipient understands that grants are funded for the grant award period noted on
the grant award document. No guarantee is given or implied of subsequent funding in
future years.

■

30. Any publications (written, visual or sound), whether published through Federal grant
funds or matching funds, shall contain the following statements: "This project was
supported by (2019-V2-GX-0050) awarded by the Office for Victims of Crime, Office
of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view in this document are
those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of
the U.S. Department of Justice."

31. The Subrecipient agency agrees that, should they employ a former member of the NH
Department of Justice (NHDOJ), that employee or their relative shall not perform work
on or be billed to any federal or state subgrant or monetary award that the employee
directly managed or supervised while at the NHDOJ for the life of the subgrant without
the express approval of the NH DOJ.

32. The Subrecipient must utilize volunteers to assist in providing VQCA allowable victim
services unless extenuating circumstances justify the exclusion of volunteers, and a
volunteer waiver is obtained from the NHDOJ.

33. The Subrecipient agrees to assist victims in anplvinc for Victims Compensation benefits.
Such assistance includes: identifying eligible victims; making reasonable efforts to notify
eligible victims of the availability of compensation; making reasonable efforts to explain
the program to victims; offering to assist victims with the application process when it is
reasonable to do so.

34. The Subrecipient understands that VOCA non^allowable personnel activities include:
general administration, prevention, active investigation and prosecution of criminal
activities, research and studies, lobbying, capital expenses, compensation for victims of
crime and fundraising.

35. The Subrecipient agrees that all services will be provided at no charge to victims

unless a program income waiver is obtained fix)m the NHDOJ. If pennission to

Jmo
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generate program income is granted, the Subrecipient agrees that there must be a

sliding scale that starts at zero, and that all program income will be totally expended on
grant allowable activities by the end of the funding cycle.

36. Equipment purchased with VOCA flmds shall be listed by the Subrecipient on the

agency inventory. The inventory must include the item description, serial number, cost,
percentage of federal VOCA funds, and location. The Subrecipient agrees that the title
to any equipment purchased with VOCA funds will revert back to the NHDOJ, Grants

Management Unit, when it is no longer being used for the VOCA program purposes
for which it was acquired.

37. The Subrecipient agrees that if a financial audit of the agency is performed, whether it be
an audit under 2 CFR or not, the Subrecipient agrees to provide a copy of the audit and

any associated management letters to the NHDOJ, Grants Management Unit. The Single
Audit report must be submitted to the Grants Management Unit within 9 months after the

subrecipient's year-end or one month after the issuance of the audit.

38. Subrecipients of federal funding from the NHDOJ are required to comply with all
federal regulations that relate to non-discrimination. These requirements are specified
in United States Code of Federal Regulation Title 28, sections 35, 38, 42 and 54.

Individuals who believe they may have been discriminated against by the NHDOJ or

by an organization that receives federal funding from the NHDOJ based on their race,

color, national origin, religion, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation or gender identity

should print and complete a Discrimination Complaint Form found at

httDs://www.doi.nh.gov/grants-management/civil-rights.htm.

39. The Subrecipient, if a non-profit organization, agrees to make its fmancial statements
available online (either on the subrecipicnt's website, or the NHDOJ's, or another

publicly available website). Organizations that have Federal 501 (c) 3 tax status are

considered in compliance with this requirement, with no further action needed, to the

extent that such organization files IRS Form 990 or similar tax document (e.g., 990-

EZ), as several sources already provide searchable online databases of such financial

statements.

40. The Subrecipient, if a non-profit organization, must certify their non-profit status by
submitting a statement to NHDOJ: 1) affirmatively asserting that the recipient is a non
profit organization and 2) indicating that the subrecipient has on file and available

upon audit one of the following:
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EXHIBIT C

•  A copy of the organization's 501 (c) 3 designation letter, or:

•  A letter from the State of NH stating that the subrecipient is a non-profit
organization operating within the state, or:

•  A copy of the sub-grantee's state certificate of incorporation that substantiates

its non- profit status

Subrecipient that are local non-profit affiliates of state or national non-profits should

also have a statement by the parent organization that the Subrecipient is a local non
profit affiliate.

41. Certification Regarding EEOP Required:
If required, within 30 days from the date of the award, the Subrecipient will submit for
approval, an acceptable Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP) as required by 28
CFR 42.301 et seq. or a Certification Form to both the NH DOJ and the Office of Civil
Rights, Office of Justice Programs, US DOJ at 810 7th Street, NW, Washington, DC
20531. Failure to submit an approved EEOP or Certification is a violation of the Program
Guidelines and Conditions and may result in suspension or termination of funding, imtil
such time as the Subrecipient is in compliance. The EEOP reporting tool and
instructions can be found at: http://oip.gov/about/ocr/faq eeop.htm

42. Compensation for individual consultant services is to be reasonable and consistent with
that paid for similar services in the marketplace. The current consultant limit is $650 per
day or S81.25 per hour. When the rate exceeds the limit for an 8-hour day, or a
proportionate hourly rate (excluding travel and subsistence costs), a written prior
approval is required from OVC. Prior approval requests require additional justification.

I have read and understand all 42 special provisions contained in this document:

Name and Title of Authorized Representative

SieAalure Date

Name and Address of Agency

Page 22 of 28
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EEOP Reporting

6 i lUMy

pOj\i^^^^^r^vient\ has completed
certification »

[responsible official], certify that

the EEO reporting tool

form at: httDs;//oiD,gov/about/ocr/faQ eeop.htin on J_0(31 101^ [Date]

J I IJ {I/IAnd that M\ I HQ'AJJZ, [ [responsible official] has completed the
EEOP 1 ' ' I

i

training at httDs://oiD.gov/about/ocr/ocr-training-ividcos/video-ocr-training.htm on:

'23110 [date]
I fiirAer cet^ that: . /f) 1 •

[recipient] will comply
with applicable federal civil rights laws that prohibit discrimination in employment and in the
delivery of services.

Signa

Page U of 28
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EXHIBIT E

Non-supplanting Certification

Supplanting defined

Federal funds must be used to supplement existing funds for program activities and must not
replace those funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose. Supplanting shall be the
subject of application review, as well as pre-award review, post>award monitoring, and audit. If
there is a potential presence of supplanting, the applicant or grantee will be required to supply
documentation demonstrating that the reduction in non-Federal resources occurred for reasons
other than the receipt or expected receipt of Federal'funds. For certain programs, a written
certification may be requested by the awarding agency or recipient agency stating that Federal
funds will not be used to supplant State or local funds. See the OJP Financial Guide (Part 11,
Chapter 3)

htTD://www .oip.usdoi.gov/financialguide/Dart2/Dait2chaD3.htm.

Supplanting and iob retention

A grantee may use federal funds to retain jobs that, without the use of the federal money, would
be lost. If the grantee is planning on using federal funds to retain jobs, it must be able to
substantiate that, without the ftmds, the jobs would be lost. Substantiation can be, but is not
limited to, one of the following forms: an official memorandum, official minutes of a county or
municipal board meeting or any documentation, that is usual and customarily produced when
making determinations about employment. The documentation miist describe the terminated

positions and that the termination is because of lack of the availability of State or local funds.

The (Applicant) certifies that any funds awarded

through grant number 2019-V2-GX-0050 shall be used to supplement existing

funds for program activities and will not replace (supplant) nonfederal funds that have been

appropriated for the purposes and goals of the grant.

The ^l\UL (Applicant) understands that supplanting
violations may result in a range of penalties, including but not limited to suspension of future

funds under this program, suspension or debarment from federal grants, recoupment of monies

provided under this grant, and civil and/or criminal penalties.

Printed N tie

Signature: ( /// • /¥! -—

*  Subrecipimt IniUals

Signature.



EXHIBIT F

NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

CERTIFICATIONS REGARDING LOBBYING; DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION AND
OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS; AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE

REQUIREMENTS

Applicants should refer to the regulations cited below to determine the certification to which they
are required to attest. Applicants should also review the instructions for certification included in
the regulations before completing this form. The certifications shall be treated as a material
representation of fact upon which reliance will be placed when the U.S. Department of Justice
("Department") determines to award the covered transaction, grant, or cooperative agreement.

1. LOBBYING i
As required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as implemented by 28 C.F.R. Part 69, the Applicant certifies
and assures (to the extent applicable) the following:
(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
Applicant, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
Member of Congress in connection with the matog of any Federal grant, the entering into of
any cooperative agreement, or the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification
of any Federal grant or cooperative agreement;

(b) If the Applicant's request for Federal funds is in excess of $100,000, and any funds other
than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with this
Federal grant or cooperative agreement, the Applicant shall complete and submit Standard Form
- LLL, "Disclosure of Lpbbying Activities" in accordance with its (and any DOJ awarding
agency's) instructions; and

(c) The Applicant shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all subgrants and procurement contracts (and their subcontracts) funded with
Federal award funds and shall ensure that any certifications or lobbying disclosures required of
recipients of such subgrants and procurement contracts (or their subcontractors) are made and
filed in accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 1352.

2. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

Page 25 of 28
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EXHIBIT F

A. Pursuant to Department regulations on non-procurement debarment and suspension
implemented at 2 C.F.R. Part 2867, and to other related requirements, the Applicant certifies,
with respect to prospective participants in a primary tier "covered transaction," as defined at 2
C.F.R. § 2867.20(a), that neither it nor any of its principals—
(a) is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, sentenced to a
denial of Federal benefits by a State or Federal court, or voluntarily excluded from covered
transactions by any Federal department or agency;

(b) has within a three-year period preceding this application been convicted of a felony criminal
violation under any Federal law, or been convicted or had a civil judgment rendered against it for
commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or
performing a public (Federal, State, tribal, or local) transaction or private agreement or
transaction;

violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery,
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, tax evasion or receiving
stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction ofjustice, or commission of any offense
indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty that seriously and directly affects its
(or its principals') present responsibility;

(c) is presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph
(b) of this certification; and/or

(d) has within a three-year period preceding this application had one or more public transactions
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) terminated for cause or default.

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application. Where the Applicant or any of its principals was
convicted, within a three-year period preceding this application, of a felony criminal violation
under any Federal law, the Applicant also must disclose such felony criminal conviction in
writing to the Department (for OJP Applicants, to OTP at Ojpcomplianccreporting@usdoj.gov;
for OVW Applicants, to OVW at OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS
at AskCOPSRC@usdoj.gov), unless such disclosure has already been made.

3. FEDERAL TAXES

A. If the Applicant is a corporation, it certifies either that (1) the corporation has no unpaid
Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative
remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, that is not being paid in a timely manner
pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability, or
(2) the corporation has provided written notice of such an unpaid tax liability (or
liabilities) to the Department (for OJP
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EXHIBIT F

Applicants, to OJP at Ojpcompliancereporting@usdoj.gov; forOVW Applicants, to OVW at
OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS at AskCOPSRC@usdoj.gov).

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application.

4. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE (GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act ofT988, as implemented at 28 C.F.R Part 83,
Subpart F, for grantees, as defined at 28 C.F.R. §§ 83.620 and 83.650:
A. The Applicant certifies and assures that it will, or will continue to, provide a drug-firec
workplace by—

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in its workplace and
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition;

(b) Establishing an on-going drug-free awareness program to inform employees about—

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;'

(2) The Applicant's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the
workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the perfonnance of the award
be given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);

(d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of
employment under the award, the employee willi—

(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and

(2) Notify the employer in writing of the employee's conviction for a violation of a criminal drug
statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such conviction;

(e) Notifying the Department, in writing, within 10 calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph (d)(2) from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title of any such
convicted employee to the Department, as follows:

Subrecipien, initials

P.. ^



Primex"
Nl I Public RUV MonoficnxM tachcoQ* CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

The Now Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange (Primex'} Is organized under the New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated, Chapter 5-B.
Pooled Risk Management Programs, in accordance with those statutes, Its Trust Agreement and bylaws, Primex' Is authorized to provide pooled risk
management programs estat>llshed for the benefit of political subdivisions In the State of New Hampshire.

Each member of Primex' is entitled to the categories of coverage set forth below. In addition, Primex' may extend the same coverage to non-members.
However, any coverage extended to a non-member is subject to all of the terms, conditions, exclusions, amendments, rules. poBcies and procedures
^al are applicable to the members of Primex'. including but not limited to the final and binding resolution of all claims and coverage disputes before the
Primex Board of Trustees. The Additional Covered Party's per occurrence limit shall be deemed Included In the Member's per occurrence limit, and
therefore shall reduce the Member's limit of liability as set forth by the Coverage Documents and Declarations. The limit shown may have been reduced
^ claims paid on behalf of the member. General Uabllity coverage is limited to Coverage A (Personal Injurv Liability) and Coverage B (Property
Damage Liability) only. Coverage's C (Public Officlala Errors and Omissions), D (Unfair Employment Practlcos), E (Employee Benefll Liability) and F
(Educator s Legal Liability Claims-Made Coverage) are excluded from this provision of coverage.

The below named entity Is a member in good standing of the New Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange. The coverage provided may,
however, be revised at any time by the actions of Primex', As of the date this certificate is issued, the information set out below accurately reflects the
categories of coverage established for the current coverage year.

This Certincate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no tighu upon the certificate holder. This certificate does not emend extend or
alter the coverage afforded by the coverage categories listed below.

ParthlDtllng Mvmbw. htombaf Numbar.

City of Portsmouth 275
One Junkins Avenue

Portsmouth. NH 03801

Cony>»ny Affontng Covsrage;

NH Public Risk Management Exchange - Primex^
Bow Brook Place

46 Donovan Street

Concord. NH 03301-2624

hfrmm/ddAvwlA
'^fiip/radon Daffp-I't/m/UiNHiStStu&WLlmTis'Mr^^^

General Liability (Occurronco Form)
Professional Liability (dosciibe)

Each Occurrence

General Agg regale

O Made D Occurrence Fire Damage (Any one
fire)

: Med Exp (Any one person)

Automobile Liability
Deductible Comp and Coll:

Any auto

Combined Single Limit
(Eaen Accia«nt)

Aggregate

X Workers' Compensation & Employers' Liability
7/1/2019

7/1/2020

7/1/2020

7/1/2021

: X 1 Statutory

Each Accident S2.000,000

Disease - EacnCmployM S2,000,000

Disease - p«itcy Limii

Property (Special Risk Includes Fire and Thtft) ' Blanket UmK, Replscament
Cost (uryeti otherwise staled)

Description: Proof of Primex Memljer coverage only.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER; Additional Covered Party I 1 Loss Payee Primex' - NH Public Riak Managament Exchange

By; TfUf Soi XWaT

Date: 4/23/2020 mDurcelliAnhprimex.orgNew Hampshire Department of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord, NH 03301

Please direct irxtuires to;
Primex' Claims/Coverage Sorvicea

603-225-2841 phono
603-228-3833 fax
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GRANT AGREEMENT

The Slate of New Hampshire and the Subrccipicnl hereby
Mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Identification and Definitions.

I.l. Stale Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Justice

1.2. State Agency Address

33 Capitol Street, Concord, NH 03301

1.3. Subreeipienl Name

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

1.4. Subreeipienl Address

One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH, 03756

1.5 Subreeipienl Phone #

603-653-9012

1.6. Accounl Number

02-20-20-201510-5021-0

72-500575

1.7. Complelipn Date

09/30/2022

1.8. Grant Limitation

$

560,440

1.9. Grant Ofllcer for State Agency

Thomas Kaempfer

1.10. State Agency Telephone Number

(603) 271-3658

"By signing this form we certify that we have complied with any public meeting requirement for acceptance of this grant,
including if applicable RSA 31:95-b."

1 .11. Subreeipienl Signature
Dy:

{ju/jx. 1.
V_AB3n&a4S3aEF4d4..

Subrecipicnt Signature 2' If Applicable

1.12. Name &. Title of Subreeipienl Signor 1

Leigh A. Burgess
Vice President, Research Operations

Name & Title of Subreeipienl Signor 2 IfApplicable

1.13. Acknowledgment: State of New Hampshire, County of ,
on , before the undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identi fled in block 1.12., known to me (or
satisfactorily proven) to be the person whose name is signed in block 1.11., and acknowledged that he/she executed this
document in the capacity indicated in block 1.12.

1.13.1. Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

(Seal)

1 .13.2. Name & Title of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

1.14. State Agency Signaturc(s) 15. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

z'

1.16. Approval by Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (ifG & C approval required)

By; . ^ y. Assistant Attorney General, On: / /
/ 05/19/2020

1.17. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable)

By: On: /  /

2.SCOPE OF WORK: In exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting through the Agency
identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Subreeipienl identified in block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as
"the Subreeipienl"), shall perform that work identified and more particularly described in the scope of work attached hereto as
EXHIBIT A (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to as "the Project").

Rev. 9/2015 Page I of 25 Subrecipicnt Initial(s):
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4.

4.1.

4.2.

5.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

9.

9.1.

AREA COVERED. Except as olhcrwise specifically provided for herein, the 9.2.
Subrccipient shall perform the Project in, and with respect to. the State of New
Hampshire.
EFFECTIVE DATE: COMPLETION OF PROJECT.

This Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become 9.3.
effective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the Governor •
and Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block 1.17), or upon 9.4.
signature by the State Agency as shown in block 1.14 ("the effective date").
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Project, including all
reports required by this Agreement, shall be completed in ITS entirety prior to
the date in block 1.7 (hereinafter refcired to as "the Completion Date").
GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS: PAYMENT. 9.5.

The Grant Amount is identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT B.
attached hereto. . 10-
The manner of, and schedule of pa)'ment shall be as set forth in EXHIBIT B.
In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT B. and in consideration
of the satisfactory performance of the Project, as determined by the State, and as
limited by subparagraph 5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Subrecipient the Grant Amount. The Slate shall withhold from the amount
Olhcrwise payable to the Subrecipient under this subparagraph S.3 those sums
required, or permitted, to be withheld pursuant to N.H. RSA 80:7 through 7<.
The payment by the State of the Grant amount shall be the only, and the
complrte payment to the Subrccipient for all expenses, of whatever nature, II.
incurred by the Subrccipient in the performance hereof, and shall be the only, 1 1.1.
and the complete, compensation to the Subrecipient for the Project. The State
shall have no liabilities to the Subrccipient other than the Grant Amount.
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and ll.l.i
notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all 11.1.2
pajments authorized, or actually made, hereunder exceed the Grant limitation 11.1.3
set forth in block 1.8 of these general provisions. 11.1.4
COMPLIANCE BY SUBRECIPIENT WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS. 11.2.

In connection with the performance of the Project, the Subrecipient shall comply
with all statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, suite, county, or 11.2.1
municipal authorities which shall impose any obligations or duty upon the
Subrecipient. including the acquisition of any and all necessary permits.
RECORDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Completion
Date the Subrccipient shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred in 11.2.2
connection with the Project, including, but not limited to, costs of
administration, transportation, insurance, telephone calls, and clerical materials
and services. Such accounts shall be supported by receipts, invoices, bills and
other similar documents.

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Completion
Date, at any time during the Subrecipient's normal business hours, and as often 11.2.3
as the State shall demand, the Subrecipient shall make available to the State all
records pcruiining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Subrccipient shall 11.2.4
permit the Suite to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make
audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel, data 12.
(as that term is hereinafter defined), and other information relating to all matters 12.1.
covered by this Agreement. As used in this paragraph, "Subrccipient" includes
all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or under common
ownership with, the entity identified as the Subrccipient in block 1.3 of these
provisions

The Subrecipient shall, at its own expense, provide all personnel necessary to
perform the Project. The Subrecipient warrants that all personnel engaged in the
Project shall be qualified to perform such Project, and shall be properly licensed
and authorized to perform such Project under all applicable laws.
The Subrccipient shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor,
subgrantee, or other person, firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a
combined effort to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual!
relationship with the Suitc. or who is a State officer or employee, elected or
appointed.
The Grant OITicer shall be the rcprescnuilive of the State hereunder. In the event
of any dispute hereunder, the interpretation of this Agreement by the Grant
Officer, and his/her decision on any dispute, shall be final.
DATA: RETENTION OF DATA: ACCESS.

As used in this Agreement, the word."data" shall mean all information and
things developed or obtained during the performance of, or acquired or
developed by reason of, this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies,
reports, files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic representations,
computer programs, computer printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

12.2.

12.3.

12.4.

13.

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Subrecipient shall
grant to the State, or any person designated by it. unrestricted access to all data
for examination, duplication, publication, translation, sale, disposal, or for any
other purpose whatsoever.
No data shall be subject to cop>Tight in the United States or any other country by
anyone other than the State.
On and after the Effective Date all data, and any property which-has been
received from the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose under
this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and shall be returned to the
State upon demand or upon termination of this Agreement for any reason,
whichever shall first occur.

The State, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authority to
publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, all data.
CONDITIONAL NATURE OR AGREEMENT. Notwithstanding anything in
this Agreement to the contraiy, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder. are contingent upon
the availability or continiicd appropriation of funds, and in no event shall the
State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of such available or
appropriated funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of those funds, the
State shall have the right to withhold pa>mem until such funds become
available, if ever, and shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
immediately upon giving the Sulnecipient notice of such termination.
EVENT QF DEFAULT: REMEDIES.

Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the Subrecipient shall
constitute an event of default hereunder (hereinafter referred to as "Events of
Default"):
Failure to perform the Project satisfactorily or on schedule; or
Failure to submit any report required hereunder, or
Failure to maintain, or permit access to, the records required hereunder, or
Failure to perform any of the other covenants and conditions of this Agreement.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may lake any one, or
more, or all, of the following actions:
Give the Subrecipient a written notice specifying the Event of Default and
requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser
specification of time, thirty (30) days from the date of the notice; and if the
Event of Default is not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Subrecipient notice of termination; and
Give the Subrecipient a written notice specifying the Event of Default and
suspending all payments to be made under this Agreement and ordering that the
portion of the Grant Amount which would otherwise accrue to the Subrecipient
during the period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Subrecipient has cured the Event of Default shall never be
paid to the Subrecipient; and
Set off against any other obligation the State may owe to the Subrecipient any
damages the State suffers by reason of any Event of Default; and
Treat the agreement as breached and pursue any of its remedies at law or in
equity, or both.
TERMINATION.

In the event of any early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of the Project, the Subrccipient shall deliver to the Grant Officer,
not later than fifteen (15) days after the date of termination, a report (hereinafter
referred to as the "Termination Report") describing in detail all Project Work
performed, and the Grant Amount earned, to. and including the date of
termination.

In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the State shall entitle
the Subrecipient to receive that portion of the Grant amount earned to and
including the date of termination.
In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the State shall in no
event relieve the Subrecipient from any and all liability for damages sustained or
incurred by the Slate as a result of the Subrecipient's breach of its obligations
hereunder.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, either the State or,
except where notice default has been given to the Subrccipient hereunder, the
Subrecipient, may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days
written notice.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST No ofTtcer, member of employee of the
Subrecipient, and no representative, officer or employee of the State of New
-Hampshire or of the governing body of the locality or localities in which the
Project is to be performed, who exercises any functions or responsibilities in the
review or approval of the undertaking or carrying out of such Project, shall
participate in any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his or her

Rev. 9/2015 Page 2 of 25 Subrecipient Initial(s):

Date:
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14.

15.

16.

19.

20.

17.

17.1

17.1.1

17.1.2

personal inlcrcsi or the imercsl of any corporation, partnership, or association 17.2.
in vsliich he or she is directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have
any-personal or pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the
proceeds thereof.
■SURRECIPIl-NT'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the.performance of this
Agreement the Subrecipienl, its' employees, and any subcontractor or
subgrantee of the Subrecipient are in all respects independent contractors, and 18.
are neither agents nor employees of the State. Neither the Subrecipient nor any
of its onicers, employees, agents, members, subcontractors or subgrantees,
shall have authority to bind the State nor are they entitled to any of the benefits,
workmen's compensation or emoluments provided by the State to its
employees.
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTS. The Subrecipient shall not assign,
or otherwise transfer any interest in this Agreement without the prior uritten
consent of the Stale. None of- the Project Work shall be subcontracted or
subgranted by the Subrecipient other than as set forth in Exhibit A without the
prior written consent of the State.
INDEMNIFICATION. The Subrecipient shall defend, indemnify and hold
harmless the State, its ofTicers and employees, from and against any and ail
losses suffered by the State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers and employees, by
or on behalf of any person, on account of, based on, resulting from, arising out 21.
of (or which may be claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Subrecipient or subcontractor, or subgrantee or other agent of the Subrecipient.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to
constitute a Nsaiver of the sovereign immunity of the State, which immiinity is
hereby reserved to the Stale. This covenant shall survive the termination of
this agreement. 22.
INSURANCE AND BOND.
The Subrecipient shall, at its omu expense, obtain and maintain in force, or 23.
shall require any subcontractor, subgrantee or assignee performing Project
work to obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of the State, the
following insurance:
Statutory workmen's compensation and employees liability insurance for all 24.
employees engaged in the performance of the Project, and
Comprehensive public liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries,
death or property damage, in amounts not less than S1.000,(XX) per occurrence
and S2,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and
S500,(X)0 for property damage in any one incident; and

The policies described in subparagraph 17.1 of this paragraph shall be the
standard form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters
acceptable to the State, and authorized to do business in the State of New
Hampshire. Each policy shall contain a clause prohibiting cancellation or
modification of the policy earlier than ten (10) days after written notice thereof
has been received by the State.
WAIVER OF BREACH- No failure by the State to enforce any provisions
hereof after any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event, or any subsequent Event. No express waiver of any Evenl
of Default shall be deemed a waiver of any provisions hereof. No such failure of
waiver shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all
of the provisions hereof upon any further or other default on the part of the
Subrecipient.
NOTICE. Any notice by.a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to
have been duly deliver^ or given at the time of mailing by certified mail,
postage prepaid, in a United States Post OfEce addressed to the parties at the
addresses first above given.
AMENDMENT- This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto and only after approval
of such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the
State of New Hampshire, if required or by the signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS. This Agreement shall be
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assignees. The captions and contents of the "subject" blank arc
used only as a matter of convenience, and are not to be considered a part of this
Agreement or to be used in determining the intend of the parties hereto.
THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to benefit any third parties
and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be executed in a number
of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, constitutes the entire
agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The additional provisions set forth in Exhibit C
hereto are incorporated as part of this agreement.
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EXHIBIT A

-SCOPE OF SERVICES-

1. The Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital as Subrecipient, for itself and on behalf of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic shall receive a subgrant from the New Hampshire

Department of Justice (DOJ) for expenses incurred and services provided for forensic

child advocacy interviews and direct.victim services provided by the subrecipient under

the Victims of Crime Act Grant to include expenses for personnel, and benefits.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed by the DOJ based on budgeted expenditures

described in Exhibit B. The Subrecipient shall submit incurred expenses for

reimbursement on the state approved expenditure reporting form as provided.

Expenditure reports shall be submitted on a quarterly basis, within fifteen (15) days

following the end of the current quarterly activities. Expenditure reports submitted later

than thirty (30) days following the end of the quarter will be considered late and out of

compliance, for example, with an award that begins on January J, the first quarterly

report is due on April 15'^ or 15 days after the close of the first quarter ending on March
31.

3. Subrecipient is required to maintain supporting documentation for all grant expenses both

state funds and match if provided and to produce those documents upon request of this

office or any other state or federal audit authority. Grant project supporting

documentation shall be maintained for at least three (3) years after the close of the federal

award. Three years after the end of this federal award is October 1, 2024.

4. Subrecipient shall be required to submit an annual grant application to the DOJ for

review and compliance.

5. Subrecipient shall be subject to periodic desk audits and program reviews by DOJ. Such

desk audits and program reviews shall be scheduled with Subrecipient and every attempt

shall be made by Subrecipient to accommodate the schedule.

6. All correspondence and submittals shall be directed to:

NH Department of Justice

Grants Management Unit

33 Capitol Street

Concord, NH 03301

603-271-7820 orTanya.pitman@doj.nh.gov

Page 4 of 25 i
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EXHIBIT B

-METHOD OF PAYMENT-

1. The Subrecipient shall receive reimbursement in exchange for approved expenditure

reports as described in EXHIBIT A.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed within thirty (30) days following the DOJ's
approval of expenditures. Said payment shall be made to the Subrecipient's account

receivables address per the Financial System of the State of "New Hampshire.

3. The State's obligation to compensate the Subrecipient under this Agreement shall not

exceed the price limitation set forth in form P-37 section 1.8.

3a. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $280,220.00 of

the total Grant Limitation from Governor and Council approval or 07/01/20,

whichever is later, to 06/30/21, with approved expenditure reports. This shall be

contingent on continued federal funding and program performance.

3b. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $280,220.00 of
the total Grant Limitation from 07/01/21 to 06/30/22, with approved expenditure

reports. This shall be contingent on continued federal funding and program

performance.

i. With sufficient reason and under limited circumstances, the

Subrecipient may apply for an extension of the grant period for up to

three months. The Subrecipent must submit the request in writing. No

extension is granted until approval is received by DOJ in writing.

ii. Neither the Subrecipient nor DOJ will be responsible for any expenses

or costs incurred under this agreement prior to Governor and Council

approval, nor after 06/30/22 or 9/30/22 if an extension is approved.

Page 5 of25
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EXHIBIT C

-SPECIAL PROVISIONS-

1. Subrecipients shall also be compliant at all times with the terms, conditions and

specifications detailed in the Special Conditions, which are subject to annual review.

2. The terms outlined in the General Terms and Conditions of the Grant Agreement are

modified as set forth below:

a. Provision 5.3 is deleted and replaced with the following:

In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT B, and in consideration of

the satisfactory performance of the Project, with satisfactory having the meaning

of meeting the requirements of this Agreement, and as limited by subparagraph

5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the Subrecipient the Grant

Amount. The State shall withhold from the amount otherwise payable to the

Subrecipient under this subparagraph 5.3 those sums required, or permitted,

b. Provision 9.1 is deleted and replaced with the following:

As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all information and things

developed by Subrecipient in its performance of this Agreement, including, but

not limited to, all studies, reports, files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound

recordings, video recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic

representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes, letters,

memoranda, paper, and documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

c. Provision 9.2 is deleted and replaced with the following:

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Subrecipient shall grant

to the State, or any person designated by it, unrestricted access to all data for
examination, duplication, publication, translation, or disposal.

d. Provision 9.3 is deleted in its entirety as inapplicable

e. Provision 11.2.3 is deleted in its entirety as inapplicable

f. Provision 17.2 is deleted and replaced with the following:

The policies described in subparagraph 17.1 of this paragraph shall be the

standard form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters

acceptable to the State, and authorized to do business in the State of New

Hampshire. Each policy shall contain a clause prohibiting cancellation or

modification of the policy earlier than thirty (30) days after written notice thereof

has been received by the State.
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EXHIBIT C

2018-V2-GX-0036

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

1. Requirements of the award; remedies for non-compliance or for materially false
statements

The conditions of this award are material requirements of the award. Compliance
with any certifications or assurances submitted by or on behalf of the recipient that
relate to conduct during the period of performance also is a material requirement of
this award.

Failure to comply with any one or more of these award requirements — whether a
condition set out in full below, a condition incorporated by reference below, or a
certification or assurance related to conduct during the award period —may result in
the Office of Justice Programs ("OJP") taking appropriate action with respect to the
recipient and the award. Among other things, the OJP may withhold award funds,
disallow costs, or suspend or terminate the award. The Department of Justice
("DOJ"), including OJP, also may take other legal action as appropriate.

Any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement to the federal government
related to this award (or concealment or omission of a material fact) may be the
subject of criminal prosecution (including under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or 1621, and/or
34 U.S.C. 10271-10273), and also may lead to imposition of civil penalties and
administrative remedies for false claims or otherwise (including under 31 U.S.C.
3729-3730 and 3801-3812).

Should any provision of a requirement of this award be held to be invalid or
unenforceable by its terms, that provision shall first be applied with a limited
construction so as to give it the maximum effect permitted by law. Should it be held,
instead, that the provision Is utterly invalid or -unenforceable, such provision shall be
deemed severable from this award.

2. Applicability of Part 200 Uniform Requirements-

The Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, as adopted and supplemented by DOJ in 2 C.F.R. Part 2800
(together, the "Part 200 Uniform Requirements") apply to this FY 2018 award from
OJP.

The Part 200 Uniform Requirements were first adopted by DOJ on December 26,
2014. If this FY 2018 avyard supplements funds previously awarded by OJP under
the same award number (e.g., funds awarded during or before December 2014), the
Part 200 Uniform Requirements apply with respect to all funds under that award
number

(regardless of the award date, and regardless of whether derived from the initial
award or a supplemental award) that are obligated on or after the acceptance date of
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EXHIBIT C

this FY 2018 award.

For more information and resources on the Part 200 Uniform Requirements as they
relate to OJP awards and subawards ("subgrants"), see the OJP website at
httDS://oip.gov/funding/Part200UniformReQLiirements.htm.

Record retention and access: Records pertinent to the award that the recipient (and
any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier) must retain -- typically for a period of 3
years from the date of submission of the final expenditure report (SF 425), unless a
different retention period applies - and to which the recipient (and any subrecipient
("subgrantee") at any tier) must provide access, include performance measurement
information, in addition to the financial records, supporting documents, statistical
records, and other pertinent records indicated at 2 C.F.R. 200.333.

In the event that an award-related question arises from documents or other materials
prepared or distributed by OJP that may appear to conflict with, or differ in some
way from, the provisions of the Part 200 Uniform Requirements, the recipient is to
contact OJP promptly for clarification.

3. Compliance with DOJ Financial Guide
References to the DOJ Grants Financial Guide are to the DOJ Grants Financial Guide

as posted on the OJP website (currently, the "DOJ Grants Financial Guide" available

at https://ojp.gov/financialguide/DOJ/index.htm), including any updated version that

may be posted durjng the period of performance. The subrecipient agrees to comply

with the DOJ Grants Financial Guide.

4. Reclassification of various statutory provisions to a new Title 34 of the United States
Code

On September I, 2017, various statutory provisions previously codified elsewhere in
the U.S. Code were editorially reclassified to a new Title 34, entitled "Crime Control
and Law Enforcement." The reclassification encompassed a number of statutory
provisions pertinent to OJP awards (that is, OJP grarits and cooperative agreements),
including many provisions previpusly codified in Title 42 of the U.S. Code.

Effective as of September 1, 2017, any reference in this award document to a
statutory provision that has been reclassified to the new Title 34 of the U.S. Code is
to be read as a reference to that statutory provision as reclassified to Title 34. This
rule of construction specifically includes references set out in award conditions,
references set out in material incorporated by reference through award conditions,
and references set out in other award requirements.

5. Requirements related to "de minimis" indirect cost rate
A recipient that is eligible under the Part 200 Uniform Requirements and other
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EXHIBIT C

applicable law to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate described in 2 C.F.R.
200.414(f), and that elects to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate, must advise OJP
in writing of both its eligibility and its election, and must comply with all associated
requirements in the Part 200 Uniform Requirements. The "de minimis" rate may, be
applied only to modified total direct costs (MTDC) as defined
by the Part 200 Uniform Requirements.

6. Requirement to report actual or imminent breach of personally identifiable
information (PI 1)

The recipient (and any "subrecipient" at any tier) must have written procedures in
place to respond in the event of an actual or imminent "breach" (0MB M-17-12) if it
(or a subrecipient)" I) creates, collects, uses, processes, stores, maintains,
disseminates, discloses, or disposes of "personally identifiable information (Pll)" (2
CFR 200.79) within the scope of an OJP grant-funded program or activity, or 2) uses
or operates a "Federal information system" (0MB Circular A-130). The recipient's
breach procedures must include a requirement to report actual or imminent breach of
Pll to an OJP Program Manager no later than 24 hours after an occurrence of an
actual breach, or the detection of an imminent breach.

7. All subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization
The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements for authorization of any subaward. This condition applies to
agreements that -- for purposes of federal grants administrative requirements -- OJP
considers a "subaward" (and therefore does not consider a procurement
"contract").
The details of the requirement for authorization of any subaward are posted on the
OJP web site at

https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SubawardAuthorization.htm (Award condition: All
subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization), and are
incorporated by reference here.

8. Specific post-award approval required to use.a noncompetitive approach in any
procurement contract that would exceed $250,000. The Subrecipient at any tier, must
comply with all applicable requirements to obtain specific advance approval to use a
noncompetitive approach in any procurement contract that would exceed the
Simplified Acquisition Threshold (currently, $250,000). This condition applies to
agreements that -- for purposes of federal grants administrative requirements - OJP
considers a procurement "contract" (and therefore does not consider a subaward).
The details of the requirement for advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in
a procurement contract under an OJP award are posted on the OJP web site at
http://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/NoncompetitiveProcurement.htm (Award •
condition: Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in a
procurement contract (if contract would exceed $250,000)), and are incorporated by
reference here.
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EXHIBIT C

9. Requirements pertaining to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons
(including reporting requirements and OJP authority to terminate award). The
recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements (including requirements to report allegations) pertaining to
prohibited conduct related to the trafficking of persons, whether on the part of
recipients, subrecipients ("subgrantees"), or individuals defined (for purposes of this
condition) as "employees" of the recipient or of any subrecipient. The details' of the
recipient's obligations related to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons
are posted on the OJP web site at http://ojp.gov/flinding/Explore/ProhibitedConduct-
Trafficking.htm (Award condition: Prohibited conduct by recipients and
subrecipients related to trafficking in persons (including reporting requirements and
OJP authority to terminate award)), and are incorporated by reference here.

10. Compliance with applicable rules regarding approval, planning, and reporting of
conferences, meetings, trainings, and other events.
The subgrantee at any tier, must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, policies,
and official DOJ guidance (including specific cost limits, prior approval and reporting
requirements, where applicable) governing the use of federal funds for expenses
related to conferences (as that term is defined by DOJ), including the provision of food
and/or beverages at such conferences, and costs of attendance at such conferences.
Information on the pertinent DOJ definition of conferences and the rules applicable to
this award appears in the DOJ Grants Financial Guide (currently, as section 3.10 of
"Post-award Requirements" in the "2015 DOJ Grants Financial Guide").

11. Requirement for data on performance and effectiveness under the award
the recipient must collect and maintain data that measure the performance and
effectiveness of activities under this award. The data must be provided to OJP in the
manner (including within the timeframes) specified by OJP in the program solicitation
or other applicable written guidance. Data collection supports compliance with the
Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and the GPRA Modernization Act
of 2010, and other applicable laws.

12. OJP Training Guiding Principles

Any training or training materials that the recipient ~ or any subrecipient
("subgrantee") at any tier - develops or delivers with OJP award funds must adhere
to the OJP Training Guiding Principles for Grantees and Subgrantees, available at
httDS://oip.gov/fiinding/lmDlement/TrainingPrinciplesForGrantees-Subgrantees.htm

13. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28C.F.R. Part42

The recipient, and any subrecipient (subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 42, specifically including any applicable
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EXHIBIT C

requirements in subpart E of 29 C.F.R. Part 42 that relate to an equal employment
opportunity program.

14. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28 C.F.R. Part 54"

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R.,Part 54, which relates to nondiscrimination on
the basis of sex in certain "education programs."

15. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28 C.F.R. Part 38

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 38, specifically including any applicable
requirements regarding written notice to program beneficiaries and prospective
program beneficiaries. Part 38 of 28 C.F.R., a DOJ regulation, was amended

effective May 4, 2016.

Among other things, 28 C.F.R. Part 38 includes rules that prohibit specific forms of
discrimination on the basis of religion, a religious belief, a refusal to hold a religious

belief, or refusal to attend or participate in a religious practice. Part 38 also sets out

.rules and requirements that pertain to recipient and subrecipient ("subgrantee")

organizations that engage in or conduct explicitly religious activities, as well as rules
and requirements that pertain to recipients and subrecipients that are faith-based or
religious organizations.

The text of the regulation, now entitled "Partnerships with Faith-Based and Other

Neighborhood Organizations," is available via the Electronic Code of Federal
Regulations (currently accessible at https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-
bin/ECFR?page=browse), by browsing to Title 28-Judicial Administration, Chapter
1, Part 38, under e-CFR "current" data.

16. Restrictions on "lobbying"

In general, as a matter of federal law, federal funds awarded by OJP may not be used
by the subrecipient at any tier, either directly or indirectly, to support or oppose the
enactment, repeal, modification, or adoption of any law, regulation, or policy, at any
level of government. See 18U.S.C. 1913. (There may be exceptions if an applicable
federal statute specifically authorizes certain activities that otherwise would be barred
by law.)

Another federal law generally prohibits funds awarded by OJP from being used by the
recipient, or any subrecipient at any tier, to pay any person to influence (or attempt to
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EXHIBIT C

influence) a federal agency, a Member of Congress, or Congress (or an ofFicial or
employee of any of them) with respect to the awarding of federal grant or cooperative
agreement, subgrant, contract, subcontract, or loan with respect to actions such as
renewing, extending, or modifying any such award. See 31 U.S.C. 1352. Certain
exceptions to this law, including exception that applies to Indian Tribes and tribal
Organizations.

Should any questions arise to whether a particular use of funds by a recipient (or
subrecipient) would or might fall within the scope of these prohibitions, the recipient is
to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without the express prior written
approval of OJP.

The Subrecipient assures that no federal VOCA funds or match funds have been paid
or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Subrecipient, to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of congress in
connection with the making of any Federal grant, the entering into of any cooperative
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of
any Federal grant or cooperative agreement. If any funds other than Federal
appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with this Federal grant or cooperative agreement, the Subrecipient shall
complete and submit Standard Form - LLL, "Disclosure of Lpbbying Activities," in
accordance with its instructions.

17. Compliance with general appropriations-law restrictions on the use of federal, funds
(FY20I8)

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable restrictions on the use of federal funds set out in federal appropriations
statutes. Pertinent restrictions, including from various "general provisions" in the.

Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018, are set out at

https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/FY 18AppropriationsRestrictions.htm, and are
incorporated by reference here.

Should a question arise as to whether a particular use of federal funds by a recipient .
(or a subrecipient) would or might fall within the scope of an appropriations-law
restriction, the recipient is to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without
the express prior written approval of OJP.

18. Reporting potential fraud, waste and abuse and similar misconduct.
The recipienfand any subrecipients ("subgrantees") must promptly refer to the DOJ
Office of the Inspector General (010) any credible evidence that a principal,
employee, agent, subrecipient, contractor, subcontractor, or other person has, in
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EXHIBIT C

f

connection with funds under this award -- (1) submitted a claim that violates the

False Claims Act; or (2) committed a criminal or civil violation of laws pertaining to
fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct.

Potential fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct involving or relating to funds under this
award should be reported to the OIG by— (1) mail directed to: Office of the Inspector
General, U.S. Department of Justice, Investigations Division, 1425 New York
Avenue, N.W. Suite 7100, Washington, DC 20530; and/or (2) the DOJ OIG hotline:
(contact information in English and Spanish) at (800) 869-4499 (phone) or (202)
616-9881 (fax). .
Additional information is available from the DOJ OIG website at

https://oig.justice.gov/hotline.

19. Restrictions and certifications regarding non-disclosure agreements and related
matters.

no. Subrecipient under this award, or entity that receives a procurement contract or
subcontract with any funds under this award, may require any employee or contractor
to sign an internal confidentiality agreement or statement that prohibits or otherwise
restricts, or purports to prohibit or restrict, the reporting (in accordance with law) of
waste, fraud, or abuse to an investigative or law enforcement representative of a federal
department or agency authorized to receive such information. The foregoing is not
intended, and shall not be understood by the agency making this award, to contravene
requirements applicable to Standard Form 312 (which relates to classified
information). Form 4414 (which relates to sensitive compartmented information), or
any other form issued by a federal department or agency governing the nondisclosure
of classified information.

a. In accepting this award, the recipient—
i. represents that it neither requires nor has required internal

confidentiality agreements or statements from employees or
contractors that currently prohibit or otherwise currently restrict
(or purport to prohibit or restrict) employees or contractors from
reporting waste, fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. certifies that, if it learns or is notified that it is or has been
requiring its employees or contractors to execute agreements or
statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport to
prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as
described above, it will immediately stop any further obligations
of award funds, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit
resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to
do so by that agency.

b. If the recipient does or is authorized under this award to make subawards
("subgrants"), procurement contracts, or both—

i. it represents that— it has determined that no other entity
Page 13 of 25
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that the recipient's application proposes may or will
receive award funds (whether through a subaward
("subgrant"), procurement contract, or subcontract under
a procurement contract) either requires or has required
internal confidentiality agreements or statements from
employees or contractors that currently prohibit or
otherwise currently restrict (or purport to prohibit or
restrict) employees or contractors from reporting waste,
fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. it has made appropriate inquiry, or otherwise has an
adequate factual basis, to support this representation; and

c. it certifies that, if it learns or is notified that any subrecipient,
contractor, or subcontractor entity that receives funds under this award
is or has been requiring its employees or contractors to execute •
agreements or statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport
to prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as described
above, it will immediately stop any further obligations of award funds
to or by that entity, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit
resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to do so
by that agency.

20. Compliance with 41 U.S.C. 4712 (including prohibitions on reprisal; notice to
employees)
The subrecipient at any tier must comply with, and is subject to, all applicable
provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712, including all applicable provisions that prohibit, under
specified circumstances, discrimination against an employee as reprisal for the
employee's disclosure of information related to gross mismanagement of a federal
grant, a gross waste of federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a federal grant,
a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule,
or regulation related to a federal grant.

The subrecipient also must inform its employees, in writing (and in the
predominant native language of the workforce), of employee rights and remedies
under 41 U.S.C. 4712.

Should a question arise as to the applicability of the provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712 to
this award, the recipient is to contact the DOJ awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as
appropriate) for guidance.

21. Encouragement.of policies to ban text messaging while driving
Pursuant to Executive Order 13513, "Federal Leadership on Reducing Text
Messaging While Driving," 74 Fed. Reg. 51225 (October 1, 2009), DOJ encourages
recipients and subrecipients ("subgrantees") to adopt and enforce policies banning
employees from text messaging while driving any vehicle during the course of
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performing work funded by this award, and to establish workplace safety policies
and conduct education, awareness, and other outreach to decrease crashes caused by
distracted drivers.

22. The subrecipient authorizes Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) and/or the Office of
the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO), the New Hampshire Department of Justice
(NHDOJ) and its representatives, access to and the right to examine all records,
books, paper or documents related to the VOCA grant.

23. VOCA Requirements
The recipient assures that the State and its subrecipients will comply with the
conditions of the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) of 1984, sections 1404(a)(2),
and 1404(b)(1) and (2), 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2) and (b)(1) and (2) (and the
applicable program guidelines and regulations), as required. Specifically, the
State certifies that funds under this award will:

a) be awarded only to eligible victim assistance organizations, 34 U.S.C.
20103(a)(2);

b) not be used to supplant State and local public funds that would otherwise be
available for crime victim assistance, 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2); and

c) be allocated in accordance with program guidelines or regulations
implementing 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(A) and 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(B) to, at
a minimum, assist victims in the following categories: sexual assault, child
abuse, domestic violence, and underserved victims of violent crimes as

identified by the State.

24. Demographic Data
The recipient assures that its subrecipients will collect and maintain information on
race, sex, national origin, age, and disability of victims receiving assistance, where
such information is voluntarily furnished by the victim.

25. Discrimination Findings

The recipient assures that in the event that a Federal or State court or Federal or State,
administrative agency makes a finding of discrimination after a due process hearing
on the ground of race, religion, national origin, sex, or disability against a recipient of
victim assistance formula funds under this award, the recipient will forward a copy of
the findings to the Office for Civil Rights of OJP.

26. The recipient understands that all OJP awards are subject to the National

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA, 42 U.S.C. section 4321 et seq.) and other related
Federal laws (including the National Historic Preservation Act), if applicable. The
recipient agrees to assist OJP in carrying out its responsibilities under NEPA and
related laws, if the recipient plans to use VOCA funds (directly or through subaward
or contract) to undertake any activity that triggers these requirements, such as

Page 15 of 25
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renovation or construction. (See 28 C.F.R. Part 61, App. D.) The recipient also
agrees to comply with all Federal, State, and local environmental laws and
regulations applicable to the development and implementation of the activities to be
funded under this award.

27. The recipient agrees to submit (and, as necessary, require sub-recipients to submit)
quarterly performance reports on the performance metrics identified by OVC, and in
the manner required by OVC. This information on the activities supported by the
award funding will assist in assessing the effects that VOCA Victim Assistance funds
have had on services to crime victims within the jurisdiction.

28. If Primary Award Exceeds $500,000 - Recipient integrity and performance matters:
Requirement to report information on certain civil, criminal, and administrative
proceedings to SAM and FAPIIS
The subrecipient must comply with any and all applicable requirements regarding

reporting of information on civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings connected

with (or connected to the performance oO either this OJP award or any other grant,

cooperative agreement, or procurement contract from the federal government. Under

certain circumstances, recipients of OJP awards are required to report information

about such proceedings, through the federal System for Award Management (known

as "SAM"), to the designated federal integrity and performance system (currently,

•"FAPIIS").

The details of recipient obligations regarding the required reporting (and updating) of

information on certain civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings to the federal

designated integrity and performance system (currently, "FAPIIS") within SAM are

posted on the OJP web site at https://ojp.gov/funding/FAPllS.htm (Award condition:

Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters, including Recipient Reporting to

FAPIIS), and are incorporated by reference here.

29. The Subrecipient understands that grants are funded for the grant award period noted on
the grant award document. No guarantee is given or implied of subsequent funding in
future years.

30. Any publications (written, visual or sound), whether published through Federal grant

funds or matching funds, shall contain the following statements: "This project was

supported by (20I8-V2-GX-0036) awarded by the Office for Victims of Crime, Office

of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view in this document are

those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of

the U.S. Department of Justice."

Page 16 of 25
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31. The Subrecipient agency agrees that, should they employ a former member of the NH

Department of Justice (NHDOJ), that.employee or their relative shall not perform work

on or be billed to any federal or state subgrant or monetary award that the employee

directly managed or supervised while at the NHDOJ for the life of the subgrant without

the express approval of the NH DOJ.

32. The Subrecipient must utilize volunteers to assist in providing VOCA allowable victim

services unless extenuating circumstances justify the exclusion of volunteers, and a

volunteer waiver is obtained from the NHDOJ.

33. The Subrecipient agrees to assist victims in apolving for Victims Compensation benefits.

'  Such assistance includes: identifying eligible victims; making reasonable efforts to notify

eligible victims of the availability of compensation; making reasonable efforts to explain

the program to victims; offering to assist victims with the application process when it is

reasonable to do so.

34. The Subrecipient understands that VOCA non-allowahle personnel activities include:

general administration, prevention, active investigation and prosecution of criminal

activities, research and studies, lobbying, capital expenses, compensation for victims of

crime and fundraising.

35. The Subrecipient agrees that all services will be provided at no charge to victims

unless a program income waiver is obtained from the NHDOJ. If permission to

generate program income is granted, the Subrecipient agrees that there must be a

sliding scale that starts at zero, and that all program income will be totally expended on

grant allowable activities by the end of the funding cycle.

36. Equipment purchased with VOCA funds shall be listed by the Subrecipient on the

agency inventory. The inventory must include the item description, serial number, cost,

percentage of federal VOCA funds, and location. The Subrecipient agrees that the title

to any equipment purchased with VOCA funds will revert back to the NHDOJ, Grants

Management Unit, when it is no longer being used for the VOCA program purposes

for which it was acquired.

37. The Subrecipient agrees that if a financial audit of the agency is performed, whether it be

an audit under 2 CFR or not, the Subrecipient agrees to provide a copy of the audit and

any associated management letters to the NHDOJ, Grants Management Unit. The Single
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Audit report must be submitted to the Grants Management Unit within 9 months after the
subrecipient's year-end or one month after the issuance of the audit.

38. Sub-Recipients of federal funding from the NHDOJ are required to comply with all
federal regulations that relate to non-discrimination. These requirements are specified
in United States Code of Federal Regulation Title 28, sections 35, 38, 42 and 54.

Individuals who believe they may have been discriminated against by the NHDOJ or
by an organization that receives federal funding from the NHDOJ based on their race,

color, national origin, religion, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation or gender identity
should print and complete a Discrimination Complaint Form found at
https://www.doi.nh.gov/grants-iTianagement/civil-rights.htm.

39. The subgrantee, if a non-profit organization, agrees to make its financial statements
available online (either on the subgrantee's website, or the NHDOJ's, or another

publicly available website). Organizations that have Federal 501 (c) 3 tax status are

considered in compliance with this requirement, with no further action needed, to the

extent that such organization files IRS Form 990 or similar tax document (e.g., 990-

EZ), as several sources already provide searchable online databases of such financial
statements.

40. The subgrantee, if a non-profit organization, must certify their non-profit status by
submitting a statement to NHDOJ: 1) affirmatively asserting that the recipient is a non
profit organization and 2) indicating that the subgrantee has on file and available upon
audit one of the following:

•  A copy of the organization's 501 (c) 3 designation letter, or:

•• A letter from the State of NH stating that the subgrantee is'a non-profit

organization operating within the state, or:

•  A copy of the sub-grantee's state certificate of incorporation that substantiates
its non- profit status

Subgrantees that are local non-profit affiliates of state or national non-profits should

also have a statement by the parent organization.that the subgrantee is a local non

profit affiliate.

41. Certification Regarding EEOP Required:
If required, within 30 days from the date of the award, the Subrecipient will submit for
approval, an acceptable Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP) as required by .28
CFR 42.301 et seq. or a Certification Form to both the NH DOJ and the Office of Civil
Rights, Office of Justice Programs, US DOJ at 810 7th Street, NW, Washington, DC
20531. Failure to submit an approved EEOP or Certification is a violation of the Program
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Guidelines and Conditions and may result in suspension or termination of funding, until
such time as the Subrecipient is in compliance. The EEOP reporting tool and
instructions can be found at:: httD://oiD.gov/about/ocr/faa ceop.htm

42. Compensation for individual consultant services is to be reasonable and consistent with
that paid for similar services in the marketplace. The current consultant limit is $650 per
day or $81.25 per hour. When the rate exceeds the limit for an 8-hour day, or a
proportionate hourly rate (excluding travel and subsistence costs), a written prior
approval is required. Prior approval requests require additional justification.

/ have read and understand all 42 special provisions contained in this document:

Leigh Burgess, Vice President, Office of Research Operations

Name and Title of Authorized Representative
•OeeuSloeed By: 5/6/2020Dy:

H  i.
O P~>A6SMB4UUr4»«..

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Name and Address of Agency
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EEpP Reporting

Leigh A. Burgess ^responsible oJjTiciaf], certify that

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital \recipienl] has completed the EEO reporting too!
certificMion

form at: httDs://oin.gov/aboul/ocr/faq ccop.htm on 28,2019 [Date]

And that Cathy B. Bean [responsible official] has completed the
EEOP

training at https://oip.gov/about/ocr/ocr-lrainin&-videos/video-ocr-training.htm on:

April 20, 2020 idate]

1 further certify that:
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital [recipient] will comply
with applicable federal civil rights laws that prohibit discrimination in employment and in the
delivery of services.

Signature:

•Oe«uSlgiw4 ty:

J/k I.
EF4M_

Date:
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Non-supplanting Certification

Supplanting defined

Federal funds must be used to supplement existing funds for program activities and must not

replace those funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose. Supplanting shall be the

subject of application review, as well as pre-award review, post-award monitoring, and audit. If

there is a potential presence of supplanting, the applicant or grantee will be required to supply

documentation demonstrating that the reduction in non-Federal resources occurred for reasons
other than the receipt or expected receipt of Federal funds. For certain programs, a written

certification may be requested by the awarding agency or recipient agency stating that Federal

funds will not be used to supplant State or local

funds will not be used to supplant State or local funds. See the OJP Financial Guide (Part II,

Chapter 3)

httD://www.oip.usdoi.gov/financialguide/part2/part2chaD3.htm.

Supplanting and job retention

A grantee may use federal funds to retain jobs that, without the use of the federal money, would
be lost. If the grantee is planning on using federal funds to retain jobs, it must be able to

substantiate that, without the funds, the jobs would be lost. Substantiation can be, but is not

limited to, one of the following forms: an official memorandum, official minutes of a county or

municipal board meeting or any documentation, that is usual and customarily produced when

making determinations about employment. The documentation must describe the terminated
positions and that the termination is because of lack of the availability of State or local funds.

The Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (Applicant) certifies that any funds awarded

through grant number 2018-V2-GX-0036 shall be used to supplement existing

funds for program activities and will not replace (supplant) nonfederal funds that have been

appropriated for the purposes and goals of the grant.

The Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (Applicant) understands that supplanting
violations may result in a range of penalties, including but not limited to suspension of future

funds under this program, suspension or debarment from federal grants, recoupment of monies

provided under this grant, and civil and/or criminal penalties.

Printed Name and Title* Leigh Burgess, Vice President, Office of Research Operations
/■^■OeewSigiied by:

Signature: I ijjjL L
V  A«SD»auaCF4»<..
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

CERTIFICATIONS REGARDING LOBBYING; DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION AND

OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS; AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
REQUIREMENTS

Applicants should refer to the regulations cited below to determine the certification to which they
are required to attest. Applicants should also review the instructions for certification included in
the regulations before completing this form. The certifications shall be treated as a material
representation of fact upon which reliance will be placed when the U.S. Department of Justice
("Department") determines to award the covered transaction, grant, or cooperative agreement.

1. LOBBYING

As required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as implemented by 28 C.F.R. Part 69, the Applicant certifies
and assures (to the extent applicable) the following:
(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
Applicant, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
Member of Congress in connection with the making of any Federal grant, the entering into of
any cooperative agreement, or the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification
of any Federal grant or cooperative agreement;

(b) If the Applicant's request for Federal funds is in excess of $100,000, and any funds other
than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with this
Federal grant or cooperative agreement, the Applicant shall complete and submit Standard Form
- LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying Activities" in accordance with its (and any DOJ awarding
agency's) instructions; and

(c) The Applicant shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all subgrants and procurement contracts (and their subcontracts) funded with
Federal award funds and shall ensure that any certifications or lobbying disclosures required of
recipients of such subgrants and procurement contracts (or their subcontractors) are made and
filed in accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 1352.

2. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

Page 22 of 25
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A. Pursuant to Department regulations on nonprocurement debarment and suspension .
implemented at 2 C.F.R. Part 2867, and to other related requirements, the Applicant certifies,
with respect to prospective participants in a primary tier "covered transaction," as defined at 2
C.F.R. § 2867.20(a), that neither it nor any of its principals—
(a) is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, sentenced to a
denial of Federal benefits by a State or Federal court, or voluntarily excluded from covered
transactions by any Federal department or agency;

(b) has within a three-year period preceding this application been convicted of a felony criminal
violation under any Federal law, or been convicted or had a civil judgment rendered against it for
commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or
performing a public (Federal, State, tribal, or local) transaction or private agreement or
transaction;

violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery,
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, tax evasion or receiving
stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction ofjustice, or commission of any offense
indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty that seriously and directly affects its
(or its principals') present responsibility;

(c) Is presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph
(b) of this certification; and/or

(d) has within a three-year period preceding this application had one or more public transactions
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) terminated for cause or default.

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application. Where the Applicant or any of its principals was
convicted, within a three-year period preceding this application, of a felony criminal violation
under any Federal law, the Applicant also must disclose such felony criminal conviction in
writing to the Department (for OJP Applicants, to OJP at Ojpcompliancereporting@usdoj.gov;
for OVW Applicants, to OVW at OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS
at AskCOPSRC@usdoj.gov), unless such disclosure has already been made.

3. FEDERAL TAXES

A. If the Applicant is a corporation, it certifies either that (1) the corporation has rio unpaid
Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative
remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, that is not being paid in a timely manner
pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability, or
(2) the corporation has provided written notice of such an unpaid tax liability (or
liabilities) to the Department (for OJP
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Applicants, to OJP at Ojpcompliancereporting@usdoj.gov; for OVW Applicants, to OVW at
OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS at AskCOPSRC@usdoj.gov).

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application.

4. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE (GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, as implemented at 28 C.F.R. Part 83,
Subpart F, for grantees, as defined at 28 C.F.R. §§ 83.620 and 83.650:
A. The Applicant certifies and assures that it will, or will continue to, provide a drug-free
workplace by—

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in its workplace arid
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition;

(b) Establishing an on-going drug-free awareness program to inform employees about—

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;

(2) The Applicant's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the
workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the award
be given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);

(d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of
employment under the award, the employee will—

(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and

(2) Notify the employer in writing of the employee's conviction for a violation of a criminal drug
statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such conviction;

(e) Notifying the Department, in writing, within 10 calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph (d)(2) from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title of any such
convicted employee to the Department, as follows:
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For COPS award recipients - COPS Office, 145 N Street, NE, Washington, DC, 20530;
For OJP and OVW award recipients - U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs,
ATTN: Control Desk, 810 7th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20531.

Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected award;
(f) Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph (d)(2), with respect to any employee who is so convicted:

(1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including
termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or

(2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law
enforcement, or other appropriate agency; and

(g)Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation'of paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f).

If you are unable to sign this certification, you must attach an explanation to this
certification.

Leigh Burgess, Vice President, Office of Research Operations

Name and Title of Head of Agency
*Ooa*>l9«Ml by:^^^Ooa*>l9iMa by:

I  i. fjurjcss
"V .
Si

5/6/2020

gnature Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Name and Address of Agency
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state of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August

07, 1889. 1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is in good

standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0004905338

<5^

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 1st day of May A.D. 2020.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State



DortmoutK-Hilchcock

^  Darlmoulh-Hitchcock Madical Cenler

Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Dorlmoulh-HilchccxJc.ofg

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Charles G. Plimpton, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do hereby certify that:

1. I am the duly elected Treasurer and Secretary of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary

Hitchcock Memorial Hospital;

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the December-?"', 2012 Bylaws of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital:

ARTICLE I - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets

"In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board may, consistent with the Corporation's Articles of Agreement and

these'Bylaws, delegate authority to the Board of Governors, Board Committees and various officers the right to

give input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditui'es, enter into contracts and

agrecmentsand take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporation as may be necessary or desirable."

3. Article 1 - Section A, as referenced above, provides authority for the chief office>-s, including the Chief Executive

OfTiccr, the Chief Clinical Officer, and other officei-s, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial- Hospital to sign and deliver, either individually or eollectively, on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

"4. Edward J. Merrens, MD is the Chief Clinical Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital and therefore has the authority to enter into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

IH WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have hereunto set my hand as the Treasurer and Secretary of the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Marv MitchcocMC^Sn^ial Hosohakhis day^

Charles G. Plimpton, Board Treasurer and Secretary

STATE OF NH

COUNTY OF GRAFTON

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of: . by Charles G.

S  - COMMtSSlON - ^ I A(A-^
EXPWE8 : = Notary Public

_  Apfla. »9. ^ -
•<V W22 c#-'

_  . ^ _ [Notary fuDiic A , r
^  Apnn9. ^ My Commission Expires: n]pn\ 1^



Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Suson Reeves, EdD, RN, CENP

Chief Nursing Executive
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Executive Vice President, Research & Education

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmoutfi-Hitchcock Medical Center

One AiAedicol Center Drive

Lebonon, NH 03756<XX)1

Phone (6031 650-5706

Dorimouih-Hlichcock.org

May 13,2020

Thomas Kaempfer
New Hampshire Department of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord, NH 03301

Dear Mr. Kaempfer:

At the request of the State of New Hampshire, I am writing to notify you that, as noted
in the attached Delegation of Signing Authority from July 23, 2018, in her role as Vice
President of Research Operations, Leigh A. Burgess, MSA, MEd, MA, continues to
have authority to sign contracts on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock which have a funding
amount not to exceed $3,000,000 and which have a term of less than five (5) years.

Please do not hesitate to reach out should you require further documentation.

Sincerely,

Susan A. Reeves, EdD, RN, CENP

Chief Nursing Executive
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Executive Vice President, Research & Education
Dartmouth-Hitchcock





DATE: March 9, 2020

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

INSURED

DartriTouth-Hitchcock Clinic

One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756
(603)653-6850

COVERAGES., .. .. •' ^ , , ; •-

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUM BER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LEABILETV

002019-A 07/01/2019 07/01/2020 EACH

OCCURRENCE
$l;000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$100,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY
$1,000,000

OCCURRENCE GENERAL
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DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance for purpose of a grant.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Dept. of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord, NH 03301-6397

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration dale
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no

obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

ASTOBERT

DATE (MM/DO/YYYYJ

3/5/2020

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A PrtATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If tho corttflcato holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or bo endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement's).

PRODUCER License # 1780862
HUB International New England
100 Central Street Suite 201
HoliiSton, MA 01746

c<^|ACT Rita Durgin
PHONE PAX
(A/C. N«. Ext): IAA:. No):

rita.durgin@hubintemational.com

INSURFR/S) AFFORDmr. COVFRAGE . NAICF

INSURER A Safety National Casualty Corooration 16105

INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 037S6

INSURERR

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE 8EEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS. .
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.
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Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

' NH Department of Justice
33 Capital Street
Concord, NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORO 25 (2016/03) ® 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and
its subsidiaries (the "Health System'), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, .
2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Health
System's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not fpr the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of'
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

.and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2019
and 2018, and the results of their operations, changes in net assets and their cash flows for the years then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaporf Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02216
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, \n\'\v.p\vc.com/us
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to ttie consolidated financial statements, the Health System changed the manner
in which it accounts for revenue recognition from contracts with customers and the manner in which it
presents net assets and reports certain aspects of its financial statements as a not-for-profit entity in 2019.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matter

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management and was derived •
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves
and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is
presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to
present the financial position, results of its operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the
individual companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash
flows of the individual companies.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 26, 2019

PricewatcrhouscCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, \\^\'\v.p\\'C.com/us



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncdlectibles of

$132,228 at June 30. 2018 (Note 4)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7)
Other Investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6)
Otherassets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Cunant portion of liability for pension and other postre^irement
plan benefits (Note 11)

Accounts payat^e and accrued expenses (Note 13)
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4)

Total cun^t liabilities

Longrterm debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)
lnsurarx:e deposits and related liabilities (Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11)
Other li^lities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4,6,7,10, and 13)

Net assets

Net assets without dorior restrictions (Note 9)

Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2019

221,125

95,495

460,207

876.249

134,119

621,256

124,471

10,914 $

3,468

113.817

128,408

41,570

298,177

752,180

58,407

281,009

124,136

1,513,909

559,933

142,460

702,393

2018

$  143,587 $ 200,169

219,228

97,502

516,899

706,124

130,896

607,321

108,785

$  2,216,302 $ 2,070,025

3,464

3,311

95,753

125,576

41,141

269,245

752,975

55,516

242,227

88.127

1.408.090

524,102

137,833

661,935

$  2,216,302 $ 2,070,025

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $  1,999,323 $ 1,899,095

Provision for bad debts (Notes 2 and 4) - 47,367

Net patient service revenue 1,999,323 1,851,728

Contracted revenue (Note 2) 75,017 54,969

Other operating revenue (Notes 2 and 5) 210,698 148,946

Net assets released from restrictions 14,105 13,461

Total operating revenue and other support 2,299,143 2,069,104

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,062,551 989,263

Employee benefits 251,591 229,683

Medical supplies and medications 407,875 340,031

Purchased services and other 323,435 291,372

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 70,061 67,692

Depreciation and amortization 88,414 84,778

Interest (Note 10) 25,514 18,822

Total operating expenses 2,229,441 2,021,641

Operating income (loss) 69,702 47,463

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income, net (Note 5) 40,052 40,387

Other losses, net (Note 10) (3.562) (2,908)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt (87) (14,214)

Loss due to swap termination - (14,247)

Total non-operating gains, net 36,403 9,018

Excess of revenue over expenses $  106,105 $ 56,481

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net assets without donor restrictions

Excess of revenue over expenses $  106,105 $ 56,481

Net assets released from restrictions 1,769 16,313

Change in funded status of pension and other pcstretirement
benefits (Note 11) (72,043) 8,254

Other changes in net assets - (185)

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (Note 10) - 4,190

Change in interest rate swap effectiveness - 14,102

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions 35,831 99,155

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 17,436 14,171

Investment income, net 2,682 4,354

Net assets released from restrictions (15,874) (29,774)

Contribution of assets with donor restrictions from acquisition 383 -

Increase (decrease) in net assets with donor restrictions 4,627 (11.249)

Change in net assets 40,458 87,906

Net assets

Beginning of year 661,935 574,029

End of year $  702,393 $ . 661,935

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets s 40.458 $ 87,906

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Change in (air value of interest rate swaps -

(4.897)

Provision for bad debt -
47,367

Depreciation and amortization 88,770 84.947

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefrts 72,043 (8.254)

(Gain) on disposal of fixed assets (1.101) (125)

Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (31.397) . (45.701)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings (2.292) (5,460)

Proceeds from sales of securities 1.167 1,531

Loss from debt defeasance - 14,214

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net (1.803) (29,335)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2.149 (8,299)

Other assets, net (9,052) (11,665)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,898 19,693

Accrued compensation and related benefits 2,335 10,665

Estimated third-party settJements 429 13.708

Insurance deposits and related liabilities 2,378 4.i556
Liatxiity for pension and other postretirement benefits (33,104) (32,399)

Other liabilities 12.267 (2.421)

Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities 161.145 136,031 .

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (82,279) (77,598)

Proceeds from sate of property, plant, and equipment 2,188 -

Purchases of investments (361,407) (279,407)

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 219.996 273,409

Cash received through acquisition 4,863 -

Net cash used in investing activities (216,639) (83,596)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 30,000 50,000

Payments on line of credit (30.000) (50,C)00)

Repayment of long-term debt (29.490) (413,104)

Proceeds from issuance of debt 26.338 507,791

Repayment of interest rate swap (16,019)

Payment of debt issuance costs (228) (4,892)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings 2,292 5,460

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1.088) 79,236

(Deaease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (56,582) 131.671

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 200,169 68,496

End of year s 143,587 S 200,169

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid $ 23,977 s 18,029

Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired (4.863) -

Non^ash proceeds from issuance of debt -
137,281

Use of non-cash proceeds to refinance debt -
(137,281)

Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 1,546 1,569

Equipment acquired through issuance of capital lease obligations - 17,670

Donated securities 1,167 1,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30. 2019 and 2018

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHC). Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London
Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day. Memorial Hospital and, effective July 1, 2018, Subsidiary (APD), and
the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire and Subsidiaries (VNH). The
"Health System" consists of D-HH, Its members and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals In New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health
and hospice service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

D-HH, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, The New London Hospital
Association, Cheshire Medical Center, and Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital are NH not-for-profit
corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (IRC). Windsor Hospital Corporation and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice of VT and NH are
VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the
IRC.

Community Benefits
The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it sen/es
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community
Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Sen/ices include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
Residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized health sen/ices are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the

.  responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

•  Financial Contributions include financial contributions of cash, as well as in-kind contributions

such as time, supplies, and expertise to local organizations to address community health
.' needs.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Community Benent Operations includes costs associated with staff dedicated to administering
benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs, and other costs associated with
community benefit planning and operations.

•  Charity Care and Costs of Government Sponsored Health Care includes losses, at-cost,
incurred by providing health care services to persons qualifying for hospital financial
assistance programs, and uncompensated costs of providing health care services to patients
who are Medicaid Beneficiaries.

•  The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2018 was approximately $139,683,000. The 2019 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2020.

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2018;

(in thousands of dollars)

Govemment-sponsored healthcare services $ 246,064
Health professional education 33,067
Charity care 13,243
Subsidized health services 11,993

Community health services 6,570
Research 5,969

Community building activities 2,540
Financial contributions 2,360

Community benefit operations 1,153

Total community benefit value $ 322,959



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated finandal statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASS) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entities are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-Imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-Imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those \A4iose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the excess of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to tfie care of
patients, including contributions and investment income on investments of net assets without donor
restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including contribution of net assets without dorior restrictions from acquisitions, loss on
early extinguishment of debt, loss due to swap termination, realized gains/losses on sales of
investment securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses in investments are reported as non-
operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the excess of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), change In funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans, and the effective portion of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.



Diartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payers, and others for services

rendered, Induding estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payers and implicit pridng concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue primarily consists of
revenue from retail pharmacy, which the Health System records as customer revenues in the
amounts that reflect the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
prescription. Other revenue also includes joint operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria
sales and other support service revenue.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less when purchased, excluding amounts where use is limited by internal designation or other
arrangements under trust agreements or by donors.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds and
pooled/commingled funds, and all investments in debt securities are considered to be trading
securities reported at fair value with changes in fair value included in the excess of revenues over
expenses. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether held at fair
value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System believes to
be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance sheet
dates on a nondistressed basis.

10



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average uriits outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless the
income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amount of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.
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The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements Is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement Is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets wth explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond Issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for Impairment or
more frequently if certain events or,circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$10,524,000 and $2,462,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Health System applies the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to its derivative
instruments, which require that all derivative instruments be recorded at their respective fair values
in the consolidated balance sheets.

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Health System designates the derivative as a
cash-flow hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid
related to a recognized asset or liability. For all hedge relationships, the Health System formally
documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge, the hedging Instrument, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging instrument's effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description
of the method of measuring ineffectiveness. This process includes linking cash-flow hedges to
specific assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, specific firm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The Health System also formally assesses, both at the hedge's Inception,
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in variability of cash flows of hedged items. Changes in the fair
value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow
hedge are recorded in net assets without donor restrictions until eamings are affected by the
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variability in cash flows of the designated hedged Item. The ineffective portion of the change in fair
value of a cash flow hedge is reported in excess of revenue over expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and changes in net assets.

The Health System discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined: (a) the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item; (b) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (c) the derivative is undesignated as a
hedging instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (d) a hedged firm
commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment: and (e) management determines
that designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

In all situations in \Arhich hedge accounting is discontinued, the Health System continues to carry
the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and recognizes any subsequent
changes in its fair value in excess of revenue over expenses.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB Issued ASU 2014-09 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606)
and in August 2015, the FASB amended the guidance to defer the effective date of this standard by
one year. ASU 2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to
transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless
those contracts are within the scope of other standards. The core principle of the guidance in ASU
2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Health System adopted ASU 2014-09
effective July 1, 2018 under the modified retrospective method, and has provided the new
disclosures required post implementation. For example, patient accounts receivable are shown net
of the allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $132,228,000 as of June 30, 2018 on the
consolidated balance sheet. If an allowance for doubtful accounts had been presented as of June
30, 2019, it would have been approximately $121,544,000. While the adoption of ASU 2014-09 has
had a material effect on the presentation of revenues in the Health System's consolidated •
statements of operations and changes in net assets, and has had an impact on certain disclosures,
it has not materially impacted the financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Refer to
Note 4, Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable, for further details.
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in February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases (Topic 842), which requires a lessee to
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments, on its balance sheet. The standard also requires a lessee to'recognize a single,
lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally
straight-line basis. The guidance also expands the required quantitative and qualitative disclosures
surrounding leases. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15. 2018, or
fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The Health System is evaluating the impact of the new
guidance on the consolidated financial statements. .

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which address certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report ah equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such

• as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14 - Presentation of Financial Statements forNot-for-
Profit Entities. The new pronouncement amends certain financial reporting requirements for not-for-
profit entities. It reduces the number of classes of net assets from three to two: net assets with
donor restrictions includes amount previously disclosed as both temporarily and permanently
restricted net assets, net assets without donor restrictions includes amounts previously disclosed
as unrestricted net assets. It expands the disclosure of expenses by both natural and functional
classification. It adds quantitative and qualitative disclosures about liquidity and availability of
resources. The ASU is effective for the Health System for the year ending June 30, 2019. The
Health System has adopted this ASU on a retrospective basis, except for the presentation of
expenses based on natural and functional classification and the discussion of liquidity, as permitted
in the ASU. Please refer to Note 14, Functional Expenses, and Note 15, Liquidity.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958), Clarifying the
Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. The new
pronouncement was intended to assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be
accounted for as contributions or exchange transactions and whether a contribution is conditional.
This ASU was effective for the Health System on July 1, 2018 on a modified prospective basis and
did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Health System.

3. Acquisitions

Effective July 1, 2018, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital became the sole corporate member of
APD LifeCare Center Inc. (LifeCare). LifeCare owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living
facility, the Woodlands, a residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit,
which provides hospice care.
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In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on npt-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, Alice
Peck Day Memorial Hospital recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of LifeCare of
approximately $5,131,000. Restricted contribution income of $383,000 was recorded within net
assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statement of changes in net
assets. Included in the transaction was LifeCare's cash balance of $4,863,000. No consideration

was exchanged for the net assets assumed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.
LifeCare's financial position, results of operations and changes in net assets are included in the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019.

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred In relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable,
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on Inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
perforrnance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services.are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers.to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services It provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care

15



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system ("PPS") to determine rates-per-discharge. these rates vary
according to a patient classification system ("DRG"), based on diagnostic, clinical and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, Such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to New Hampshire ("NH") and Vermont ("VT")
Medicaid beneficiaries are based on PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a

■  retrospective cost basis or fee schedules for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries
are paid on a prospective basis per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by critical access hospitals ("CAH")
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101 % of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.

Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (Plans) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The Plans are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
Plans following their review and adjudication of each bill.
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The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect Its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and as such are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

During fiscal year 2016, Vermont state legislation passed changes to the tax base for home health
providers from 19.30% of core home health care services (primarily Medicaid services) with a cap
of 6% of net patient service revenue to 3.63% of net patient revenue for fiscal year 2017 and fiscal
year 2018. Home health provider tax paid, which Is included in other operating expenses, was
$628,000 and $737,000 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

On June 30, 2014, the NH Governor signed into law a bi-partisan legislation reflecting an
agreement between the State of NH and 25 NH hospitals on the Medicaid Enhancement Tax
(MET) Senate Bill 369. As part of the agreement, the parties have agreed to resolve all pending
litigation related to MET and Medicaid Rates, including the Catholic Medical Center Litigation, the
Northeast Rehabilitation Litigation, 2014 DRA Refund Requests, and the State Rate Litigation. As
part of the MET Agreement Effective July 1,2014, a "Trust / Lock Box" dedicated funding
mechanism will be established for receipt and distribution of all MET proceeds with all monies used
exclusively to support Medicaid services.

On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (NH Hospitals)
signed a new settlement agreement and multi-year plan for Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH)
payments, with provisions to create alternative payments should there be federal changes to the
DSH program by the United States Congress. The agreement may change or limit federal
matching funds for MET when used to support DSH payments to hospitals and the Medicaid
program, or change the definition of Uncompensated Care (UCC) for puiposes of calculating DSH
or other allowable uncompensated care payments. The term of the agreement is through state
fiscal year (SPY) 2024. Under the agreement, the NH Hospitals forgo approximately $28,000,000
of DSH payment for SPY 2018 and 2019, in consideration of the State agreeing to form a pool of
funds to make directed payments or othenArise increase rates to hospitals for SPY 2020 through
2024. The Pederal share of payments to NH Hospitals are contingent upon the receipt of matching
funds from Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Sen/ices (CMS) in the covered years. In the event that,
due to changes in federal law, the State is unable to make payments in a way that ensures the
federal matching funds are available, the Parties will meet and confer to negotiate in good faith an
appropriate amendment to this agreement consistent with the intent of this agreement. The State
is required to maintain the UCC Dedicated Pund pursuant to earlier agreements. The agreement
prioritizes payments of funds to critical access hospitals at 75% of allowable UCC. the remainder
thereafter is distributed to other NH Hospitals in proportion to their allowable uncompensated care
amounts. During the term of this agreement, the NH Hospitals are barred from bringing a new
claim in federal or state court or at Department of Revenue Administration (DRA) related to the
constitutionality of MET.

During the years ended June 30. 2019 and 2018, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately. $69,179,000 and $66,383,000 respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
pursuant to the agreement with the state and therefore, for the years ended June 30. 2019 and
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2018, the Health System recognized as revenue DSN receipts of approximately $64,864,000 and
approximately $54,469,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Health System recorded State of NH
Medicaid Enhancement Tax ("MET") and State of VT Provider tax of $70,061.000 and
$67,692,000, respectively. The taxes are calculated at 5.5% for NH and 6% for VT of certain net
patient service revenues in accordance with instructions received from the States. The Provider
taxes are included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets.. '

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co^pays, co-insurance, and deductibles and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible
accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based
on historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the
estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally
recorded as adjustments to net patient service revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays,' co-insurance and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement vrith the payer,
correspondence from the payer and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently .resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2019
and 2018, the Health System had $52,470,000 and $52,041,000, respectively, reserved for
estimated third-party settlements. ,

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, additional increases (decreases) in revenue of
$1,800,000 and ($5,604,000), respectively, was recognized due to changes in its prior years
related to estimated third-party settlements.
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Net operating revenues for the hospital operations of the PPS and CAH, and other business
segments consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as vyell as patients covered under the
Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.

The table below shows the Health System's sources of net operating revenues presented at the net
transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

2019

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 456,197 $ 72,193 $ 528,390

Medicaid 134,727 12,794 147,521

Commercial 746,647 64,981 811,628

Self Pay 8,811 2,313 11,124

Subtotal 1,346.382 152,281 1,498,663

Professional

Professional 454.425 23,707 478,132

VNH 22,528

Other Revenue 285,715

Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,800,807 $ 175,988 $ 2,285,038

2018

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 432,251 $ 76,522 $ 508,773

Medicaid 117,019 10,017 127,036

Commercial 677,162 65,916 743,078

Self Pay 10,687 2,127 12,814

Subtotal 1,237,119 154,582 1,391,701

Professional

Professional 412,605 24,703 437,308

VNH 22,719

Other Revenue 203,915

Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,649,724 $ 179,285 $ 2,055,643
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Accounts Receivable

The principal components of patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 are as
follows: *

2019 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

Patient accounts recivable $ 221,125 . $ 351,456

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts ' ^ (132,228)
Patient accounts receivable ' $ 221,125 S 219,228

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
gross patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018

Medicare 34% 34%

Medicaid 12% 14%

Commercial 41% 40%

Self Pay m 12%
Patient accounts receivable 100% 100%
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5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Assets limited as to use

Intemally designated by board
Cash and short-term Investments $ 21,890 $ 8,558

U.S. government securities 91,492 . 50,484

Domestic corporate debt securities 196,132 109,240

Global debt securities 83,580 110,944

Domestic equities 187.384 142,796

International equities 128,909 106,668

Emerging markets equities 23,086 23,562

Real Estate Investment Trust 213 816

Private equity funds 64,563 50,415

Hedge funds 32,287 32,831

809,536 636,314

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 23,241 30,581

Domestic corporate debt securities 11,378 16,764

Global debt securities 10,080 4,513

Domestic equities 14,617 8,109

Intemational equities ,  6,766 7,971

66,082 67,938

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 631 1,872

Total assets limited as to use 876,249 706,124

Other investmerits for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 6,113 4,952

U.S. government securities 32,479 28,220

Domestic corporate debt securities 29,089 29,031

Global debt securities 11,263 14,641

Domestic equities 20,981 20,509

Intemational equities 15,531 17,521

Emerging markets equities 2,578 2,155

Real Estate Investment Trust - 954

Private equity funds 7,638 4,878

Hedge funds 8,414 8,004

Other 33 31

TOta! other investments for restricted activities 134,119 130,896

Total investments $ 1,010,368 S 837,020
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments,
whether the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health
System believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30.
2019 and 2018. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2019

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 28,634 $ . $ 28,634

U.S. government securities 147,212 - 147,212

Domestic corporate debt securities 164.996 71.603 236,599

Global debt securities 55,520 49,403 104,923

Domestic equities 178.720 24,262 202,982

International equities 76.328 74,878 151,206

Emerging markets equities 1.295 24,369 25.664

Real Estate Investment Trust 213 - 213

Private equity funds - 72,201 72,201

Hedge funds - .  40.701 40,701

Other 33 - 33

$ 652,951 .$ 357,417 $ 1,010,368

-

2018

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 15,382 $ . $ 15,382

U.S. government securities 109,285 • 109,285

Domestic corporate debt securities 95,481 59,554 155.035

Global debt securities 49,104 80,994 130,098

Domestic equities 157,011 14,403 171,414

International equities 60,002 72,158 132,160

Emerging markets equities 1,296 24,421 25,717

Real Estate Investment Trust 222 1,548 1,770

Private equity funds - 55,293 55,293

Hedge funds - 40,835 40,835

Other 31 - 31

$ 487.814 $ 349,206 $ 837.020
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Investment income is comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net assets without donor restrictions

Interest and dividend income, net $  11,333 $ 12,324

Net realized gains on sales of securities 17,419 24,411

Change in net unrealized gains on investments 12,283 4,612

41,035 41,347

Net assets with donor restrictions

Interest and dividend income, net 987 1,526

Net realized gains on sales of securities 2,603 1,438

Change in net unrealized gains on investments (908) 1,390

2,682 4,354

$  43,717 $ 45,701

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 investment income is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as operating revenue of
approximately $983,000 and $960,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately $40,052,000
and $40,387,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2019 and
2018, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $164,319,000 and
$137,219,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$109,584,000 and $91,942,000 and has outstanding commitments of $54,735,000 and
$45,277,000, respectively.
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6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30. 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Land $  38,232 $  38,058

Land improvements 42,607 42,295

Buildings and improvements 898,050 876,537

Equipment 888,138 818,902

Equipment under capital leases 15,809 20,966

1,882,836 1,796,758

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,276,746 1,200,549

Total depreciable assets, net 606,090 596,209

Construction in progress 15,166 11,112

$  621,256 $  607,321

As of June 30, 2019, construction in progress primarily consists of an addition to the ambulatory
surgical center located in Manchester, NH as well as renovations taking place at the various
pharmacy locations to bring their facilities compliant with Regulation USP800. The estimated cost
to complete the ambulatory surgical center at June 30, 2019 is approximately $59,000,000 over the
next two fiscal years while the pharmacy renovation is estimated to cost approximately $6,300,000
over the next fiscal year.

The construction in progress reported as of June 30, 2018 for the building renovations taking place
at the birthing pavilion in Lebanon, NH was completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2019
and the information systems PebpleSoft project for Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and Cheshire
was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $88,496,000 and $84,729,000 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on vrhich the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).
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U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of cornparabie instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Health System
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2019 and 2018;

2019

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dotars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term Investments S  28,634 % -  $ -  S 26,634 Da9y

U.S. government securities t47,212 ■ 147,212 Daily

Domestic corporate debt securities 34.723 130,273 '  '164,996 Datfy-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 28,412 27,108 55,520 Oa^y-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities t7t.318 7.402 178,720 Da9y-Monthly 1-10

Iniemational equities 76,295 33 76,328 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging maritel equities 1,295 - 1,295 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Real estate investment trust 213 • 213 Oaily-Monlhly 1-7

Other -
33 33 Not applicable Not applicable

Total investments 488,102 164.849 652,951

Deferred compensation ptan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2,952 - - 2,952

U.S. government securities 45 - - 45

Domestic corporate debt securities 4,932 - - 4,932

Global debt securities 1,300 - • 1,300

Domestic equities 22,403 • - 22,403

International equities 3,570 - - 3,576

Emerging marXet equities 27 -  • - 27

Real estate 11 - • 11

Muld strategy fund 48.941 - -
48,941

Guaranteed contract -
89 89

Total defemed compensation
plan assets 84.187

-
89 84.276 Not applicable Not explicable

Benetldal interest in trusts - - 9,301 9,301 Not applicaUe Not applicable

Total assets $  572,289 S 164,649 $ 9,390 $ 746,526
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(in thousands ot dollars)

2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Redemption
or Liquidation

Days'
Notice

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments S 15,382. S •  S - $  15,382 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 109,285 • - 109,285 Daily 1

Domestic corporate debt securities 41,488 53,963 • 95,481 Daily-Monlhly 1-15

Glot>al debt securities 32,874 16,230 - 49,104 Oaly-Monlhly 1-15

Domestic equities 157,011 - • 157,011 Daly-Monlhly 1-10

International equities 59,924 78 - 60,002 Daily-Monlhly 1-11
Emergir>g marlcet equities 1,296 • - 1,296 DaHy-Monlhly 1-7

Real estate investment trust 222 - • 222 Daily-Monlhly 1-7

Other -
31

•
31 Nol appticaUe Not applicable

Total investments 417,482 70,332
•

487,814

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2,637 - 2,637

U.S. government securities 38 - 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 3,749 - 3,749

Global debt securities 1,089 • 1,089

Domestic equities 18,470 • 18,470

International equities 3,584 ' • 3,584

Emerging marlcel equities 28 • 28

Real estate 9 • 9

Multi strategy fund 46,880 • 46,680

Guaranteed contract •
86 86

Total deferred compensation

plan assets 76,284 86 76,370 Not apptcable Not applicable

Beneficial interest in trusts -
9.374 9.374 Nol appicaUe Not applicable

Total assets S 493,768 S 70,332 $ 9,460 $  573,558

The following table is a rollforward of financial instruments classified by the Health System within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

2019

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,374 $ 86 $  9,460

Net unrealized gains (losses) (73) 3 (70)

Balances at end of year $  9,301 $ 89 $  ■ 9,390

• 2018

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,244 $ 83 $  9,327

Net unrealized gains 130 3 133

Balances at end of year $  9,374 $ 86 $  . 9,460

-
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There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2019 and
2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Healthcare services $ 20,140 $ 19,570

Research 26,496 24,732

Purchase of equipment 3,273 . 3,068

Charity care 12,494 13,667

Health education 19,833 18,429

Other ■  3,841 2,973

investments held in perpetuity 56,383 55,394

$ 142,460 $ 137,833

Income eamed on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.

9. . Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated vrith endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions which
are to be held in perpetuity consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, If any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.
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Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments and the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any
accumulated investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on
trustee or management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in
nature, either restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to
endowment and Investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors,
and any retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are
restricted by the donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have
been met, the funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds; the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and.spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments iii domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift

instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2019 and 2018.

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2019 and
2018:

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of ddlars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  78,268 $ 78,268

Board-designated endowment funds 31,421 - 31,421

Total endowed net assets $  31,421 $  78,268 $ 109,689
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2018

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $  ■ ■ - $  78,197 $ 78,197

Board-designated endowment funds 29,506 - 29,506

Total endowed net assets $  29,506 $  ' 78,197 $ 107,703

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 are a:

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  29,506 $  78,197 $ 107,703

Net investment return 1,184 2,491 3,675

Contributions 804 1,222 2,026

Transfers (73) (1,287) (1.360)

Release of appropriated funds - (2,355) (2,355)

Balances at end of year $  31,421 $  78,268 $ 109,689

2018

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  26,389 $  75,457 $ 101,846

Net investment return 3,112 4,246 7,358

Contributions - 1,121 1,121

Transfers 5 (35) (30)

Release of appropriated funds - (2,592) (2,592)

Balances at end of year $  29,506 $  78,197 $ 107,703
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10. Long-term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Variable rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2037 (1) $  83,355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
^thority Revenue Bonds

Series 20188, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (2) 122,435 122,435

Series 20178, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (2) 109,800 109,800

Series 2014A principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (3) 26,960 26,960

Series 20180, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (4) ■  25,865 •

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (5) 25,145 25,955

Series 20148, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (3) 14,530 14,530

Series 20168, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (6) 10,970 10,970

Total variable and fixed rate debt $  722,162 $ 697,107

30



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows (continued):

(in thousands of d<^lars) 2019 2018

Other

Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (7)* $  - $ 15,498

Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through July 2015;
collateralized by associated equipment* 445 646

Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free* 323 380

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046* 2.629 2,697

Obligations under capital leases 17,526 18,965

Total other debt 20,923 38,186

Total variable and fixed rate debt 722,162 697,107

Total long-term debt 743,085 735,293

Less: Original issue discounts and premiums, net (25,542) (26,862)

Bond issuance costs, net 5,533 5,716

Current portion 10,914 ; 3,464

$• 752,180 $ 752,975

'Represents nonobligated group bonds

Aggregate annual principal payments required under revenue bond agreements and capital lease
. obligations for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follovt/s;

(in thousands of dollars) 2019

2020 $ 10,914

2021 10.693.

2022 10,843

2023 7,980

2024 3,016

Thereafter 699,639

$  743,085

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Bonds

MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and, effective August 15, 2018, APD. D-HH is designated as the
obligated group agent.
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Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
.ratably collateratized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox).

(1) Series 2018A and'Serles 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 2018B were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes in net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable

amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,
2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012A and

Series 2012B. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate

of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on the Series 2017B
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and matures in variable amounts through
2031.

(3) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B in August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A

Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through
2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds Is fixed with an interest rate of 4.00% and

matures at various dates through 2033.

(4) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C in August. 2018. The Series 2018C
Revenue Bonds were used primarily to refinance the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds. The interest
on the series 2018C Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 3.22% and matures in

variable amounts through 2030.
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(5) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds
of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement

cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed Interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net
Interest cost of 3.96%), and matures in variable amounts through 2039.

(6) Series 20168 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B in July 2016 through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B Revenue Bonds were used to finance
2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed vwth an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various
dates through 2045.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2019 and 2018 approximates
$722,162,000 and $697,107,000, respectively.

Non Obligated Group Bonds

(7) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds

The Business Finance Authority (BFA) of the State of NH issued Revenue Bonds, Series 2010.
Interest is based on an annual percentage rate equal to the sum of (a) 69% of the 1-Month
LIBOR rate plus (b) 1.8975/5. The Health System redeemed these bonds in August 2018.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $631,000 and
$1,872,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use In
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 5). .The debt service reserves are mainly
comprised of escrowed funds held for future principal and Interest payments.

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $25,514,000 and $18,822,000 and other non-
operating losses of $3,784,000 and $2,793;000, respectively.

Swap Agreements

The Health System is subject to market risks such as changes in interest rates that arise from
normal business operation. The Health System regularly assesses these risks and has established
business strategies to provide natural offsets, supplemented by the use of derivative financial
Instruments to protect against the adverse effect of these and other market risks. The Health
System has established clear policies, procedures, and internal controls governing the use of
derivatives and does not use them for trading, investment, or other speculative purposes.

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, there was no liability for interest rate swaps as all remaining swaps
were terminated in February 2018. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Health System
recognized a non-operating loss due to swap termination of $14,247,000 relating to the swap
termination. The change in fair value during the year ended June 30, 2018 was a decrease of
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$4,897,000. For the year ended June 30, 2018 the Health System recognized a non-operating
gain of $145,000 resulting from hedge ineffectiveness and amortization of frozen swaps.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The

postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans v^thin the Health System have been frozen and therefore there are
no remaining participants earning benefits In any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL). The Health System ^
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the cpnsolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018;

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Service cost for benefits eamed during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets

Net loss amortization

Total net periodic pension expense $

,150

47,814

(65,270)

10,357

(6,949) $

150

47,190

(64,561)

10,593

(6,628)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
20i9 and 2018:

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.90 % - 4.60% 4.00 % - 4.30 %

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A

Expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets 7.50% 7.50 % - 7.75 %
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial,statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars)

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year

2019 2018

$  1,087,940 $ 1,122,615

Service cost 150 150

Interest cost 47,814 47,190

Benefits paid (51,263) (47,550)

Expenses paid (170) .(172)

Actuarial (gain) loss 93,358 (34,293)

Settlements (42,306) -

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,135,523 1,087,940-

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 884,983 878,701

Actual return on plan assets 85,842 33,291

Benefits paid (51,263) (47,550)

Expenses paid (170) (172)

Employer contributions 20,631 20,713

Settlements (42,306) -

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 897,717 884,983

Funded status of the plans (237,806) (202,957)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension (46) (45)

Long term portion of liability for pension (237,760) (202.912)

Liability for pension $  (237,806) $ (202,957)

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018 the liability, for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include approximately $478,394,000 and $418,971,000 of net actuarial
loss as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2020 for net actuarial losses is $12,032,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,135,770,000 and $1,087,991,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2019 and 2018:

2019 2018

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
4.20% - 4.50%

N/A

4.20%-4.50%

N/A
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The primary investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI') strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
Interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of both June 30, 2019 and 2018, it Is

expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% of the interest rate risk associated
with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the Plans utilize a
diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance objectives measured
on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Range of

Target Target
Allocations Allocatior

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%'
U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 38

Global debt securities 6-26 . 8

Domestic equities 5-35 19

Intemational equities 5-15 11

Emerging market equities 3-13 5

Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 0

Private equity funds 0-5. 0

Hedge funds 5-18 11

To the extent an asset dass falls outside of Its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset dass targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the Investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are
generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underiying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.
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The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' Investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2019 and 2018:.

2019

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S  166 $ 18,232 $ - S  18,398 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 48,580 • - 48,580 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 122,178 273.424 - 395,602 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 426 75,146 - 75,574 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 159,259 18,316 177.575 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 17.232 77,146 - 94,378 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging marltet equities 321 39,902 - 40,223 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 357 2.883 - 3,240 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 21 21 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - -
44,126 44,126 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 348,521 $ 505,049 $ 44,147 $ 897,717

2018

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S  142 S 35,817 % - S  35,959 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 46,265 - - 46,265 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 144.131 220,202 - 364,333 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 470 74,676 - 75,146 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 158,634 17,594 - 176.228 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 18.656 80,803 - 99,459 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 382 39,881 - 40,263 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 371 2,686 - 3,057 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 23 23 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - • 44,250 44,250 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 369,051 S 471,659 $ 44,273 $ 884,983

The following table presents additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds

2019

Private

Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year
Net unrealized losses

Balances at end of year

,  44,250 $

(124) _

44,126 $

23 $

-

21 $

44,273

(126)

44,147
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2018

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $ 40,507 $ % $ 40,603

Sales " . - {51) (51)
Net realized losses - (51) (51)
Net unrealized gains 3,743 29__ 3,772

Balances at end of year $ 44,250 $ 23 $ 44,273

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $14,617,000 and $14,743,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2019 and 2018
by asset category is as follows:

2019 2018

Cash and short-term investments 2% 4%

U.S. government securities 5 5

Domestic debt securities 44 41

Global debt securities 9 9

Domestic equities 20 20

International equities 11 11

Emerging market equities 4 5

Hedge funds 5 5

100% 100%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of.
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $20,426,000 to the Plans in 2020
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

.2020 $ 50,743

2021 52,938

2022 55,199

2023 57,562
2024 59,843

2025 - 2028 326,737

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401(a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on
specified percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer
contributions to the plan of approximately $40,537,000 and $38,563,000 In 2019 and 2018,
respectively, are induded in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Postretirement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Service cost $ 384 $ 533

Interest cost 1.842 . 1,712

Net prior service income (5,974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization . 10 10_

$  (3,738) $ (3,719)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30. 2019
and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 42,581 $ 42,277

Service cost 384 533

Interest cost 1,842 1,712

Benefits paid (3,149) (3.174)

Actuarial loss 5,013 1,233

Benefit obligation at end of year 46,671 42,581

Funded status of the plans $ (46,671) $ (42,581)

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $ (3,422) $. (3,266)

Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (43,249) (39,315)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $ (46,671) $ (42,581)

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the liability for postretirement medical.and life benefits is included in
the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits In the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net prior sen/ice income $ (9,556) $ (15,530)
Net actuarial loss 8,386 3.336

$  , (1,170) $ (12,194)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net
periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2020 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2020 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2020 $ 3,468

2021 3,436

2022 3,394 ,

2023 3,802

2024 3,811

2025-2028 17.253
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In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 3.70% in 2019 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.50%, trending down to 5.00% in 2024 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 by $1,601,000 and $1,088,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $77,000 and $81,000,
respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage point in each
year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of June 30,
2019 and 2018 by $1,452,000 and $996,000 and the net periodic postretirement medical benefit
cost for the years then ended by $71,000 and $72,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, along with Dartmouth College,
Cheshire Medical Center, The New London Hospital Association, Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center, and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for and NH are provided professional and general
liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
(RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1, 2018 Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital is provided professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG
reinsures the majority of this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive
insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to'the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at

June 30, 2019 and 2018, are summarized as follows;

2019

HAC RRG Tout

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 75,867 $ 2,201 $ 78,068

Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670

2018

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 72,753 $ 2,068 $ 74,821

Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Operating Leases and Other Commitments
The Health System leases certain facilities and equipment under operating leases with varying
expiration dates. The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $12,707,000 and
$14,096,000 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 2019 were as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2020 $ 11,342

2021 10,469

2022 7,488

2023 6,303

2024 4,127

Thereafter 5,752

45,481

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $2,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 27, 2020. There vras no outstanding balance urider the lines of credit as of June 30,
2019 and 2018. Interest expense was approximately $95,000 and $232,000, respectively, and is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification In accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2019:

2019

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $  922.902 $  138,123 $ 1,526 $ 1,062,551

Employee benefits 178,983 72,289 319 251,591

Medical supplies and medications 406,782 1,093 - 407,875

Purchased services and other 212,209 108,783 2,443 323,435

Medicald enhancement tax 70,061 - - 70,061

Depreciation and amortization 37,528 50,785 101 88,414

Interest . 3,360 22,135 19 25,514

Total operating expenses $ 1,831,825 $  393,208 $ 4,408 $ 2,229,441

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional classification are as follows for the year
ended June 30, 2018;

(in thousands of dollars) 2018

Program services $ 1,715,760
Management and general 303,527
Fundraising 2,354

.$ 2,021,641

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.
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The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2019 to meet cash needs for general
expenditures within one year of June 30, 2019 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 '

Cash and cash equivalents $ 143,587
Patient accounts receivable 221,125

Assets limited as to use 876,249

Other investments for restricted activities 134,119

Total financial assets $ 1,375,080

Less: Thpse unavailable for general expenditure
wthin one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies 66,082
Investments for restricted activities . 134,119

Other investments v4th liquidity horizons .
greater than one year 97,063

Total financial assets available within one year _$ 1,077,816

For the years ending June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, the Health System generated positive cash
flow from operations of approximately $161,853,000 and $136,031,000, respectively. In addition,
the Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate
or long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 26. 2019,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

Effective September 30. 2019, the Boards of Trustees of D-HH, GraniteOne Health, Catholic
Medical Center Health Services, and their respective member organizations approved a
Combination Agreement to combine their healthcare systems. If regulatory approval of the
transaction is obtained, the name of the new system will be Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
GraniteOne.

The GraniteOne Health system is comprised of Catholic Medical Center (CMC), a community
hospital located in Manchester NH, Huggins Hospital located in Wolfeboro NH, and Monadnock
Community Hospital located in Peterborough NH. Both Huggins Hospital and Monadnock
Community Hospital are designated as Critical Access Hospitals. GraniteOne is a non-profit,
community based health care system.

On September 13, 2019, the Board ofTrustees of D-HH approved the issuance of up to
$100,000,000 par of new debt. On October 17, 2019, D-HH closed on the direct placement tax-
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exempt borrowing of $99,165,000 on behalf of the DHOG acting through the New Hampshire
Health and Education Facilities Authority and issued its DHOG Issue, Series 2019A Bonds.
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Dsrtmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney OH Obligated Al Other Non- HeaRh

Hlteheeck Dartmouth- Medkal Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System

fin thoustnds otdottn) Health Hitchcock Center MerrMrlal Association Health Center ESminatiotks Subtotal AmUates ENminatiorts Consolidated

/Usets

Currertf assets

Cash and cash equivatenis 5 42.456 i 47.465 S 9.411 S 7.066 $  10.462 S  6.372 S 5  125.232 5  18.355 S S  143,587

Patient accounts recetvable. net . 180.938 15.880 7.279 8.960 5.010 • 218.067 3.058 - 221.125

PrepM experues and other current assets 14.178 139.034 8.563 2.401 5.567 1.423 (74.083) 97.083 1.421 (3.0O9) 95.495

Total current assets 56.634 367.437 33.854 16.746 24.989 14.805 (74.083) 440.382 22.834 (3.009) 480,207

Assets limited as to use 92.602 668.485 18.759 12.684 12.427 11.619 . 836.576 39.673 676,249

Notes receivable, related party 553.484 752 1.406 - .  - (554.236) 1.406 (1.406) . •

Other investments lor restricted acthaties . 91.882 6.970 31 2.973 6.323 . 108.179 25.940 134.119

Property, plant, and equtpmerU. net 22 432.277 67.147 30.945 41.946 17.797
-

590.134 31.122 621.256

Other assets . 24.884 108.208 1.279 15.019 6.042 4.388 (10.970) -  148.830 (3.013) (21.346) 124.471

Total assets t 727.606 t 1.689.041 5 126.009 S 76.831 i  88.377 S  54.932 5 (639.289) %  2.125.507 $  115.150. S  (24.355) S  2.216.302

Liabilities at>d Net Assets

Current iabCties

• Curreni portion of long-term debt 5 • t 8.226 S 830 s 954 S  547 S  262 $ •
S  10.819 8  95 S 8  10.914

Currenl portion of bbOtir for peraion and

other postretiremeni pisn berwfits

Accounts psyetrie and accrued expenses
Accrued compenselion artd related bertefits

Estimated third-party settlements

55.490

3.468

99.864

110.639

26.405

15,620

5.851

103

6.299

3.694

1.290

3.878

2.313

10.851

2.776

4.270

2.921

(74.083)

3.468

109.873

126.767

41.570

6,953

1,641

(3.009)
3.468

113.817

128.408

41.570

Total current liabiities 55.499 248.622 22,404 12,237 17.589 10.229 (74.083) 292.497 6,689 (3.009) 298,177

Notes payable, related party . 526.202 . - 28.034 - (554.236) - . -

Lorrg-term debt, exdudng current portion 643.257 44.820 24.503 35.604 643 11.465 (10.970) 749.322 2.858 - 752,180

Insurance deposits and reiatad IabCties . 56.786 440 513 388 240 . 58.367 40 - 58,407

Li^Cty lor perrsion arrd other postretiremeni •

plan benefits, excluding current portion 266.427 10.262 - - 4.320 - 281.009 • 281.009

Other ieblities 98.201 1.104 26 1.565 . 100.918 23.218 124.136

Total Isbaities 698.756 1.241.058 58.713 48.382 48,239 26.254 (639.289) 1,482.113 34.805 (3.009) 1.513.909

Commitments and contingencies

Net asseb

Net assets without donor restrictions 26,832 356,880 63.051 27.653 35,518 21.242 533,176 48.063 (21.306) 559.933

Net assets with donor restrictions 18 91.103 6.245 796 4.620 7.436 110,218 32.282 (40) 142.460

Total net assets 28.850 447.983 69.296 28.449 40,138 28.678 . 643.394 80.345 (21.346) 702.393

Total labiiities and net assets 8 727.606 $ 1,689.041 8 128.009 S 76.631 8 88.377 8 54.932 . 8 (639,289) 8 2.125,507 8 115.150 8 (24,355) 8 2,216.302

•
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fm thousands ot doBars)

D-HH

and Other

Subsidiaries

D-H and

Subsidiaries
Cheshire and

Subsidiaries

NLHand

Subsidiaries

MAHHC and

Subsidiaries

APD and

Subsidiaries

VNHand

Subsidiaries Eliminations

Health

System
Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents i 42,456 S 48.052 $ 11.952 S 11.120 8 6.549 S 15.772 S 5.686 8 8 143.587

Patient accounts receivabie. net - 180.938 15.880 8,960 5.060 7.280 3.007 . 221.125

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14.178 139.832 9.460 5,567 1.401 1.678 471 f77.092) 95.495

Total current assets 56.634 368,822 37.292 25,647 15.010 24,730 9.164 (77.092) 460.207

Assets limited as to use 92.602 707.597 17.383 12.427 12.738 12.685 20.817 . 876.249

Notes receivable, related party 553,484 752 - . - - . (554.236) .

Other investments for restricted activities ■ 99,807 24.985 2.973 6,323 31 ■ • 134.119

Property, plant, and equipment, net 22 434,953 70.846 42.423 19,435 50.338 3.239
-

621.256

Other assets 24.864 108.366 7,388 5.476 1,931 8,688 74 (32.316) 124.471

Total assets i 727.606 S 1.720,297 8 157.894 $ 88.946 S 55,437 S 96.472 S 33,294 8 (663.644) 8 2.216.302

Uabllrties and Net Assets

Cunent liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt s • s 8.226 S 630 s 547 $ 288 $ 954 $ 69 8 -  8 10,914

Current portion of liaMity for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3.468 - - • . - • 3,468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 55.499 100,441 19,356 3.879 2.856 6,704 2.174 (77.092), 113,817

Accrued compensation and related benefits • 110,639 5,851 2.313 4.314 4,192 1.099 ■ 128,408

Estimtfed third-party settlements • 26,405 103 10.851 2.921 1,290 • - 41,570

Total current labilities 55,499 249.179 26,140 17.590 10,379. 13,140 3.342 (77.092) 298,177

Notes payable, related party . 526,202 . 28.034 . . .  • (554.236) .

Long-term debt, exducfing current portion 643.257 44.820 24.503 643 11.763 35.604 2.560 (10.970) 752.180

Insurance deposits and related labilities - 56,786 440 388 240 513 40 - 58,407

Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion '  • 266,427 10.262 - 4.320 • - • 281.009

Other liabilities - 98,201 1,115 1,585 • 23.235 - • 124.136

Total liabilities 698.756 1.241.615 62.460 48.240 26.702 72.492 5.942 (642.298) 1,513.909

Comnvtments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions 28.832 379.498 65,873 36,087 21.300 22.327 27.322 (21.306) 559.933

Net assets with donor restrictions 18 99.184 29.561 4,619 7.435 1.653 30 (40) 142,460

Total net assets 28.850 478,682 95.434 40,706 28.735 23.980 27.352 (21.346) 702.393

Total liabilties and net assets s 727,606 $ 1.720.297 s 157.894 i 88,946 S 55.437 $ 96.472 s 33.294 8 (663.644) 8 2.216.302
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Dartmouth- Cheshire New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Hospital Hospital and Group Obllg Group System
(in thousands of doltar^) Health Hitchcock Center Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affltiates Eliminations Consolidated

Aisets

Currenl assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 134.634 S 22,544 S 6.688 S 9.419 %  6.604 % - i 179.889 $  20,280 8 . 8 200,169

Patient accounts receivable, net - 176.981 17.183 8.302 5,055 - 207.521 11,707 . 219,228

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,964 143.693 , 6.551 5,253 2.313 (72,361) 97.613 4,766 (4.877) 97.502

Total currenl assets 146.598 343.418 30.422 22,974 13,972 (72,361) 485.023 36,753 (4.877) 516,899

Assets Kmited as to use 6 616.929 17.438 12.821 10,829 . 658.025 48,099 . 706,124

Notes receivable, related party 554.771 - •  - • - - (554.771) . . - .

Other investments for restricted activibes - 87,613 8.591 2,981 6,238 - 105.423 25,473 . 130,696

Property, plant, and equipment, net 36 443.154 66,759 42,438 17,356 . 569.743 37,578 607,321

Odrer assets 24,863 101,078 1.370 5,906 4.280 (10.970) 126.527 3.604 (21.346) 108,785

Total assets % 726,276 $ 1,592.192 $ 124.580 S 87.120 S  52.675 i (638,102) % 1.944.741 $  151,507 8 (26.223) 8 2.070,025

Llabllltlea and Net Assets

Current lablities

Current portion of lono^erm debt S ■ $ 1.031 S 810 $ 572 S  167 $ . s 2.600 8  864 8 - 8 3,464

Current portion of liabifity for pension and .

other postretirement plan benefits - 3.311 - - - - 3,311 - - 3,311
Accounts payable and accrued e:q>enses 54.995 82,061 20.107 6,705 3.029 (72.361) 94,536 6,094 (4,877) 95,753

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 106.485 5,730 2.487 3.796 - 118,498 7.078 - 125.576
Estimated third^arty settlements 3,002 24,411 - 9,655 1.625 . 38.693 2.448 . 41,141

Total current labilities 57.997 217.299 26.647 19.419 8.637 (72.361) 257,638 16.484 (4,877) 269.245

Notes payable, related party . 527,346 . 27,425. . (554.771) . . . .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 644,520 52,878 25.354 1,179 11.270 (10.970) 724.231 28,744 - 752.975
Insurance deposits and related labilities - 54,616 465 155 240 . 55.476 40 . 55,516

Liablity for pension and other postretirement - -

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 232,696 4.215 - 5.316 . 242.227 . - 242,227

Other liat>ilties . 85,577 1.107 1,405 . . 68.089 38 . 88,127

Total labilities 702,517 1.170,412 57.788 49,583 25.463 (638.102) 1,367,661 45,306 (4,877) 1,408,090

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions 23,759 334,882 61.828 32,897 19.812 - 473,178 72.230 (21,306) 524,102

Net assets with donor restrictions - 86,898 4.964 4,640 7.400 . 103.902 33,971 (40) 137,833

Total net assets 23,759 421,780 66.792 37,537 27.212 . 577.080 106,201 (21,346) 661,935

Total labilities and r>et assets $ 726,276 s 1,592.192 5 124.580 $ 87,120 S  52.675 $ (638.102) % 1,944.741 8- 151,507 8 (26,223) 8 2,070,025
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2018

D-HH Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNHand System
On thousands of (Mars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets -

Cash and cash equrv^ents S 134.634 8 23.094 S  6,621 5 9,982 $ 6,654 $ 12,144 S 5,040 S . t 200,169

Patient accounts receivable, net . 176,981 17,183 8,302 5,109 7,996 3,657 •  . 219,228

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11.964 144,755 5,520 5.276 2,294 4,443 488 (77.238) 97,502

Total current assets 146.598 344,630 31,324 23,560 14,057 24,583 9,185 (77,238) 516,899

Assets limited as lo use 8 635,028 17,438 12,821 11,862 9,612 19,355 . 706,124

Notes receivable, related party 554.771 - - - - - - (554,771) -

Other investments for restricted actKilies - 95.772 25,873 2,981 6,238 32 - - 130,896

Property, plant, and equipment, net 36 445.829 70,607 42,920 19,065 25,725 3,139 - 607,321

Other assets 24.863 101.235 7,526 5,333 1,886 130 128 (32,316) 108,785

Total assets s 726.276 S 1.622.694 S  152,766 i 87,615 S 53j08 S 60,082 s 31,807 S (664,325) i 2,070.025

UabllttJes and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt s - $ 1.031 S  810 i 572 s 245 s 739 s 67 s - $ 3,464

Current jwrtion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,311 - - - - - - 3,311

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 54.995 82.613 '20,052 6,714 3,092 3,596 1,929 (77,238) 95,753

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 106,485 5,730 2,487 3,831 5,814 1,229 . 125,576

• Estimated third-party settlements 3,002 24,411 - 9,655 1,625 2,448 - . 41,141

Total current liabilities 57,997 217.851 26,592 19,428 8,793 12,597 3,225 (77,238) 269,245

Notes payable, retated party - 527,346 - 27,425 . . . (554,771) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 644.520 52,876 25,354 1,179 11,593 25,792 2,629 (10,970) 752,975

Insurance deposits and related liat^ities - .  54,616 465 155 241 - 39 - 55,516

Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 232,696 4,215 - 5,316 - - • 242,227

Other liabilities - 85,577 1.117 1,405 - 28 - - 88,127

Total liabilities 702,517 1.170.964 57.743 49,592 25,943 38,417 5,893 (642,979) 1,408,090

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions 23,759 356,518 65,069 33,383 19,764 21,031 25,884 (21.3(«) 524,102

- Net assets with donor restrictions . 95,212 29,956 4.640 7,401 634 30 (40) 137,833

Total net assets 23.759 451,730 95,025 38,023 27,165 21,665 25,914 (21,346) 661,935

Total liabilities and net assets s 726,276 S 1,622,694 S  152,768 s 87,615 $ 53,108 i 60,082 s 31,807 s (664,325) s 2,070,025
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Other chenges in net eeiets
Change In iair value on htereat rate tweps
Change In funded status of hleresi rale t\mps

Increase in net assets wttfwut donor restrictions

Dartmouth- Cheshlra AJIee Peck New London ML Aseutrwy OH Obligatad Al Other Nen- Health

Kiteheock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Oroup ObBg Oroup System
(h (fm/sands otOotan) Health Httehcoek Center Memorial Association Health Center ' EUmlnaUons Subtotal Amitates Dlmlnatlons Consolldatid '

Operating revenue and ottrer support
Pattern service revenue i i  t.580.552 i  220.255 5  69.794 5  60.166 S  46.029 5 5  1.976.796 I  22.527 5 5  1.999.323

Contrecied revenue 5.011 109.051 355 . 5.902 (46.100) 74.219 790 8 75.017
Other operating revenue 2t.128 186.852 3.407 1.748 4.261 2.289 (22.076) 197.609 13.386 (297) 210.698

Net assets released from restrictions 369 11.556 732 137 177 24 12.995 1.110 14.105

Total operatrg rewnue and other support 26.508 1.688.011 224.749 71.679 . 64.604 54.244 (68.176) 2.261.619 37.813 (289) 2.299.143

Operating espenaes
Salaries 868.311 107.67) 37.297 30.549 26.514 (24.682) 1.045.660 15.785 1.106 1.062.551

Emptdyee benefits 208.346 24.225 6.454 5.434 6.966 (3.763) 247.662 3.842 287 251.591

Medcal suppOes and medications 354.201 34.331 -8.634 6.298 ' 3.032 406.496 1.379 407.875
Purchesed services and other 11.366 242.106 35.088 15.308, 13.528 13.950 (21.176) 310.170 14.887 (1.622) 323.435

Medcaid enhancement lax 54.954 8.005 3.062 2.264 i.776 . 70.061 70.061
Depredation and amortiution 14 69.343 7.977 2.305 3.915 2.360 . '85.914 2.500 88.414

Interest 20.677 21.585 1.053 1.169 1.119 228 (20.850) 24.981 533 25.514

Total operating expenses 32.057 1.818.846 218.350 74.229 63.107 54.826 (70.471) 2.190.944 38.726 (229) 2.229.441

Operating (loss) trtergin (5.549) 69.165 6.399 (2.550) 1.497 (582) 2.295 70.875 (913) (60) 69.702

NerMperetIng gain* (losses)
Investment iKome (tosses), net 3.929 32.193 227 489 834 623 (198) 38.077 1.975 40.052

Other (tosses) Income, net (3.784) 1.566 (187) . 30 (240) 279 (2.097) (4.413) 791 60 (3.562)
Loss on earV extinguishment of debt - (87) • - (87) - (87)
Loss on sMp termination - - • • •

Total non-operating gains (tosses), net 145 33.779 40 412 594 902 (2.295) 33.577 2.766 60 36.403

(Deficiency) excess ol revenue over expenses (5.404) 102.944 6.439 (2.138) 2.09) 320 104.252 1.853 106.105

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions . 419 565 . 402 318 . 1.704 •  65 . 1.769
Changs in funded status of pension and ottier
postretirement benefits • (65.005) (7.720) - 682 (72.043) • (72.043)
Net assets transferred to (from) affSates 10.477 (16.360) 1.939 8.760 128 110 5.054 (5.054) . .

Additional paid in capital
- - • • • • • - -

5.073 2t.998 1.223 6.622 2.621 1.430 38.967 6 (3.136) 35.63t
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Q-HH Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APDand VNH and System
(in thoutands ofdotars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Optrating revtnut and othar aupport
Patient service revenue S S  1,580,552 $  220,254 8  60,166 S  46,029 8  69,794 8  22,528 8 8  1.999.323

Contracted revenue S,010 109,842 355 - 5,902 . . (46.092) 75.017
Other operating revenue 21,128 188,775 3,549 4,260 3.866 10,951 540 (22.373) 210.698

Net assets released from restrictions - 371 12,637 732 177 26 162 - . 14.105

Total operating revenue and other support 26.509' 1,891,806 224,890 64,603 55,825 80,907 23.068 (68.465) 2,299.143

Operating expenses
Salaries • 868,311 107,706 30,549 27,319 40,731 11.511 (23.576) 1,062.551

Employee benefits - 208.346 24,235 5,434 7,133 7.218 2,701 (3.476) 251.591

Medical supples and medications • 354.201 34,331 6,298 3,035 8.639 1,371 . 407.875

Purchased services and other 11.366 246,101 35,396 13,390 14,371 18,172 7.437 (22.798) 323.435

Medicaid erthancemeni tax - 54.954 8,005 2,264 1,776 3,062 - . 70.061
Depredation and amortization 14 69.343 8,125 3,920 2,478 4,194 340 . 88.414

Interest 20.678 21.585 1,054 1,119 228 1,637 63 (20.650) 25,514

Total operating expenses 32.058 1,822.841 218,852 62,974 56,340 83.653 23.423 (70.700) 2,229,441

Operating (loss) margin (5.549) 68.965 6,038 1,629 (515) (2.746) (355) 2.235 69,702

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), rwt 3,929 33.310 129 785 645 469 983 (198) 40,052
Other (losses) income, net (3,784) 1,586 (171) (240) 288 31 765 (2,037) (3,562)

Loss on earty extinguishment of debt - - - • - (87) - . (87)

Loss on swap termination - • . - - ' . .

Total non-operating gains (tosses), rwt 145 34.896 (42) 545 933 413 1.748 (2.235) 36.403

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (5,404) 103.861 5,996 2.174 418 (2,333) 1.393 • 106,105

Net assets without donor rettrfctlons

Nel assets released from restricttons . 484 565 402 318 - - . 1,769

Change in funded status of pension ar>d other

postretirement benefits - (65.005) (7,720) • 682 - - (72.043)

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 10.477 (16.360) 1,963 128 118 3.629 45 -

Additional paid in capital • - - - . . -

Other changes in nel assets - - • • - - .

Change in fair value on interest rate swaps • - - . . .

Clwnge in funded status of interest rate swaps - - - . . . . .

IrKrease in net assets without donor restricttons S  5,073 S  22,980 S  804 $  2.704 8  1,5^ 8  1,296 8  1.438 8 8  35.831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended. June 30, 2018

Oartmouth- Chtthira Naw London ML Aseutnoy OH CbMgatod All Othor Non-

Increase in net assets wiffwut donor restiictioru 7,337 75.095 S 3.578 303 4.565

HItehcock Oartrrtouth- Medical Hospital HospHal and Group Obllg Group / System

(In thousands o/doBars) Hsatth Hhehcock Center Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Ainilstes Eliminations Consolidated

Oponrtlng rovonuo and ether support

Patierft service reverxie S S  1.475.314 S  216.736 S  60,488 S  52,014 S  • S 1.804.550 t  94,545 S S  1,899,095

Provision lor bad debts . 31.358 10.967 1,554 1,440 45,319 2,048 . 47.367

Net patient service reverxie
-

1.443,956 205.769 58,932 50,574 1.759.231 92,497
-

1,851,728

Contracted revenue (2.305) 97.291 . . 2.169 (42.870) 54.285 716 (32) 54,969

Other operating revenue 9.709 134.461 3.365 4,169 1,814 (10,554) 143.054 6.978 (1.086) 148,946

Net assets released from restricteru 658 11.605 620 52 .  44 -  . 12.979 482 13,461

Total operating reverxre arxl other support 8.152 1.687.313 209.754 63,153 54.601 (53,424) ' 1,969.549 100.673 (1,118) 2,069,104

Operatir>g'ixponses
Salaries - 806.344 105.607 30.360 24.854 (21,542) .  945.623 42.035 1.605 989.263

Employee beoefib - 181,833 '  28,343 7.252 7.000 (5,385) 219,043 10.221 419 229.683

Mecfical suppfies arxi medications • 289,327 31,293 6.161 3.055 . 329,836 10,195 - 340.031

Purchased services and other 8,509 215,073 33,065 13.587 13,960 (19,394) 264,800 29.390 (2.818) 291,372

Medcaid enharKemenl lax . . 53,044 8,070 2.659 1,744 - 65,517 2.175 - 67,692

Depredation and amortization 23 66.073 10,217 3.934 2.030 •  - 82.277 2.501 - 84,778

Interest 8,634 15.772 1,004 981 224 (8.8821 17,783 1,039 • 18,822

T olal operating expertses 17,216 1,627,466 217,599 64.934 52.867 (55.2031 1.924,879 97,556 (794) 2.021,641

Operating margin (loss) (9,064) 59,847 (7,845) (1.7811 1,734 1.779 44,670 3,117 (M4) 47,463

Norv«pertting gains (losses)

Investment income (losses), net (26) 33,628 1,408 1,151 858 (198) 36,821 3,566 - 40,387

Other (losses) income, net (1,384) (2.599) - 1,276 266 (1.581) (4,002) 733 361 (2.908)

Loss on early extirrguishment of debt - (13,909) - (305) (14,214) • • • (14,214)

Loss on swap termination • (14,2471 • • • •• (14.247) - - (14.247)

Total norvoperating gains (losses), net (1.390) 2,873 1.408 2,122 1,124 (1.779) 4.358 4,299 361 9.018

(Defidency) excess o( revenue over expenses (10.454) 62,720 (6.437) 341 2,858 .49.028 7.416 37 56.481

Net assets without donor restrictioru

Nel assets released from restrictions . 16,036 - 4 252 16.294 19 . 16.313

Change in funded stabis of pension and ottier

postretirement benefits • 4.300 2.827 • 1,127 8.254 - - 8.254

Net assets transferred to (from) afTiHates 17.791 (25,355) 7.188 48 328 - - - -

Addiliortal paid in capital . •  . - - - 58 (58) -

tattler cftar>ges in net assets - . . - - (185) - (185)

Change in fair value on interest rate swaps 4.190 - - - 4.190 - 4.190

Cftange in furtded status of interest rate swaps 14.102
- - -

14.102
•

14.102

01,868 7,308 S (21) J 99.155
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2018

O-HH Htalth

and Other O-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAKHC and VNHand System

(in thousands of dota/s) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APO Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Oparatlng rtvtnue and other support
Patieni ser>^ reveruie $ $  1,475.314 $  216.736 S  60.486 S  52.014 S 71.458 5  23.087 S S  1,899.095

Provision (or bad debts . 31.358 10.967 1.554 1,440 1.680 368 - 47.367

Net patient service revenue
■

1.443.956 205.769 58.932 50,574 69.778 22.719
-

1,851,728

Contracted revenue (2,305) 98.007 . . 2.169 . . (42.902) 54.969

Other operatmg revenue 9.799 137.242 4.061 4.166 3.158 1.697 453 (11.640) 148.946

Net assets released from restrictions 65S 11.984 620 52 44 103 - • 13,461

Total operatng reverHre and other support 8.152 1.691.189 210.450 63.150 55.955 71,578 23.172 (54.542) 2.069,104

Operating expenses

Salaries - 806.344 105,607 30.360 25.592 29,215 12.082 (19.937) 989.263

Employee benefits - 181.833 28,343 7,252 7.162 7,406 2.653 (4.966) 229,683

Medicel supplies and medications • 289.327 31,293 6,161 3.057 8,484 1.709 - 340.031

Purchased services and other 8.512 218.690 33,431 13,432 14.354 19,220 5.945 (22.212) 291.372

Medicaid erthancement tax - 53,044 8,070 2,659 1,743 2.176 . 67.692

Depredation and amortization 23 66,073 10,357 3.939 2.145 1.831 410 - 84.778

Interest 8.684 15,772 1.004 981 223 975 65 (8.882) 18.822

Total operating expenses 17.219 1.631,083 218,105 64,784 54,276 69.307 22,864 (55.997) 2,021,641

Operating (loss) margin (9.067) 60,108 (7.655) (1.634) 1,679 2.271 308 1.455 47,463

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net (26) 35,177 1.954 1.097 787 203 1,393 (198) 40,387

Other (losses) income, net (1.364) (2,599) (3) 1.276 273 (223) 952 (1.220) (2,908)

Loss on earty extinguishment of debt - (13.909) • (305) • • - -
(14.214)

Loss on swap termination • (14,247) . - - - • • (14.247)

Total non-operating gains (losses); net (1.390) 4.422 1.951 2.068 1.050 (20) 2.345 (1,418) 9.018

(Deficiency excess of revenue over expenses (10.457) 64.528 (5.704) 434 2.739 2,251 2.653 37 56.481

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictioru - 16.058 - J 251 - - 16.313

Change in funded status of pension and other

postretiremen! benefits - 4.300 2.827 • 1.127
- - 8.254

Net assets transferred to (from) affiSates 17.791 (25.355) 7.188 48 328 - - -

Additional paid in capital 58 - - - • - (58) ■

Other changes in net assets • - • • ■
(185) - - (185)

Change in fair value on interest rats swaps • 4.190 • • • • - - 4.190

Change in funded status of interest rate swaps • 14.102 • - - - - 14.102

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor

restrictions S  7.392 %  77.823 6  4.311 S  486 i  4.445 S 2.066 $  2.653 J  (21) S  99.155
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2019 and 2018

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-
HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H) | DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: April 1,2019

Jocelyn D. Chertoff, MD, MS, FACR
MHMH/DHC {Ciinical Chair/Center Director)
Trustee

CImr, Dept. ofRadiolog}/

Robert A. Oden, Jr., PhD

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Retired President, Carleton College

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Treasurer & Secretary ,
Retired Investment Banker

William J. Conaty
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Presidetit, Conaty Consulting, LLC

Kurt K. Rhynhart, MD, FACS
MHlvlH/DHC (D-H Lebanon Physician Trustee
Representative) Trustee

DHfAC Trauma Medical Director and Divisional Chief of
Trauma and Acute Care Surgery

Joaime M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

Kari M. Rosenkranz, MD

MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trusty
Associate Projessor ofSurgery; Medical Director,
Comprehensive Breast Program; and Vice Oiair for
Education, Department of Surgery

Vincent 5. Conti, MHA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards'.Chair
Retired President & CEO, Maine Medical Center

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Vice Chair .
Senior VP, Resident Director for the Hanover, NH Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch Ofjice

Paul P. Danes, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Dean Emeritus; Laurence F. Whittemore Professor of
Business Administration, Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Qiief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization ofNurse Executives (AONE)

Senator Judd A. Gregg
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Senior Advisor to SIFMA

Jon W. Wahrenberger, MD, FAHA, FACC
MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Clinical Cardiologist, Cardiovascular Medicine

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Nicholas ,M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesidlogy, Yale School of Medicine

Marc B. Wolpow, JD, MBA
MHMH/ DHC/ D-HH Trustee
Co-Oiief Executive Officer ofAudax Group

Cherie A. Holmes, MD, MSc

MHMH/DHC/(Community Group Practice) Trustee
Medical Director, Acute Care Services, D-H

Keene/Cheshire Medical Center

Steven "Steve" A. Paris, MD

D-HH Trustee (NOT a D-H Trustee)
Regional Medical Director, Community Group Practices
(CGPs)

Laura K. Landy, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
President and CEO of the Fannie E. Rippel Foundation



DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H) | DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)
BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: lanuarv 1, 2020

Mark W. Begor, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Exeattive Officer, Equifax

Jennifer L. Meyer, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Managing Director Sr CAO, While Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd

)oce!yn D. Chertoff, MD, MS, FACR
MHMH/DHC {Clinical Chair/Center Director)
Trustee

Chair, Dept. of Radiology

Robert A. Oden, Jr., PhD

MHMH/DHC/ D-HH Trustee
Retired President, Carleton College

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/ DHC/ D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: Dean, CeiscI School of Medicine at Dartmouth

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & COO, JBG SMITH

William J. Conaty
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
President, Conaty Consulting, LLC

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-OJficio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

Richard J. Powell, MD (Roshini Pinto-Powell, MD)
D-HH Trustee

Section Qiief Vasadar Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Paul P. Danes, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Dean. Emeritjts; Laurence F. Whittemore Professor of
B//siness Administration, Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI
MHMH/DHC Trustee

President 6* CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and
Chief Medical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies, LLC

Kurt K. Rhynhart, MD, FACS
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Key Employees

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital - CAC at CHaD

Name/position Salary

Cathy Bnttis / Director S91,395

Andrea Kegelman/M
1

S59,113

Jocelyn Ihompson/M S56,493

iiamantha l ownsend/ Intake Coordinator 3142,120



Cathy Brittis, MSW

Summary Master's level social worker with strong work experience in the area
children protection and family support. Strength based approach in
working with children, adolescents and families. Strengths Include;
assessment, crisis intervention, case management, support, advocacy,
mediation skills, collaborative teamwork, and forensic interviewing skills

Education 1993 -1995 University of Vermont.

Masters of Social Woric

1987 -1991 SL Michael's College

Bachelor of Aits in Psychology

Burlington. Vermont

Colchester, Vermont

Professional

experience
Child Advocacy Center Program Director, Child Advocacy
Center of Grafton and Sullivan Counties at Dartmouth Hitchcock

Medical Center, Lebanon, NH (9/05-present)

■ Oversee all aspects of the development and functioning of the Child
Advocacy Center (CAC) to include financial management, sustainability
needs, agency and community outreach, needs assessments and
fadlitation of CAC related meetings.

■ Coordinate center services with participating agencies including child
protection, law enforcement; prosecution, crisis services, medical and
mental health professionals.

■ Oversee and conduct forensic interviews of children who have t)een
referred to the CAC for evaluation of child abuse.

• Coordinate referrals to needed services for families who have come to the
CAC.

• Supervise staff of forensic interviewers and intake coordinators
Interim investigative Supervisor, Department for Children and
Families, State of Vermont, White River JcL, VT (7/05-9/05)

• Responsible for screening all intakes of child abuse and neglect
■ Assign reports to investigators and provide ongoing guidance and

supervision through the investigation process to the investigator.
■ Oversee that investigative policy and procedures are being followed by all

employees.

■  Provide training on mandated reporting and child abuse and neglect to
community agendes.

Social Work investigator, Department for Children and Families,
StateofVermont, White River Jet, VT (8/95-7/05)

■ Responsible for investigating reports of child abuse and neglect
• Conduct interviews with children and families around allegations of child

abuse and neglect Assessing the strengths, risk factors, and safety
concems for the families. Providing crisis intervention, mediation and
support services to these families.



■ Facilitate/Support meetings with family members and community service
providers.

- Member of the Orange East Family Support Tearh and the Child Advocacy
Center at the Family Place, working collaboratively with community
providers and families to ensure the safety of children.

• Support and Empower families in accessing necessary services to ensure
the safety of their children and maintain family unity.

• Serve as Statewide Trainer of forensic interviewing and investigative skills,
workshop.

■ Provide ongoing education and support to area school staff and other
community providers.in regards, to reporting and investigating child abuse.

Spectrum Outreach Worker/Intern, Spectrum Youth and
Family Services, Burlington, VT (9/94 - 5/95)
• Provided screenings, intakes, assessments and referrals to adolescents

who were homeless or runaway. Promoted family reunification when
appropriate.

■ Case managed and supported homeless youth through independent living
programs.

■ Co-facilitated an independent living skills group for youth, enhancing skills
for youth to live on own.

■ Provided supervision to Peer Outreach Workers (youth who provided
outreach services to kids "at risk" on the streets of Burlington)

■ Assisted in the development of a shelter for mn-away and homeless youth.
Created rules, intake forms, consents, waivers, and other forms pertinent
to procedural development.

■ Provided crisis inten/ention via drop-in center and twenty-four hour hotline.
Assessed crisis calls and provided appropriate interventions and safety
plans.

Social Woilc Investigator Intern, SRS, Burlington, Vermont
(9/93-5/94)

• Conduct interviews with children and families around allegations of child
abuse and neglect. Assessing the strengths, risk factors, and safety
concerns for the families. Providing crisis intervention, mediation and
support services to these families.

Crime Victim Advocate, Family Services of the Mid-Hudson
and Hariem Valleys, Poughkeepsle, NY (5/92-8/93)
■ Provided 24 hour emergency rape/domestic violence crisis counseling via

walk-ins, hotline, and police/hospital assistance
■ Established and supervised an emergency financial assistance program for

victims of crime.

■ Prepared victims for the court process and advocated on behalf of the
victim.

■ Provided group treatment to victims of crime. Co-facilitated a support group
for victims of domestic violence. Facilitated a sexual harassment group for
female adolescents.

■ Created, and presented outreach programs and crime prevention
workshops for the schools of Dutchess County.



■ Gathered pertinent data and responsible for submitting quarterly and
annual reports to funding sources. Assisted in the writing of grant proposals
to promote services, v\rtiich were needed in the community.

Placement Prevention Worker/intern, Balrd Center for Children

and Families, Burlington, VT (1/91-5/91)

• Worked with children and families "at risk" to promote safety and family
unity.

■ Provided intensive therapeutic services in the home.

• Provided counseling, education, and support to parents to improve their
child management skills, prevent family dissolution, maximize the utilization
of family resources towards improving parents ability to adequately meet
the social, emotional, educaBonal, and physical needs of their children.

Awards received Susan P. LaGasse Award for Excellence in Casework Practice for the
Sate of Vermont. Department of Social and Rehabilitation Services.

(2000)

Lebanon Police Department. Citizen of the Year Award - 2009

. References will be fumished upon request
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EDUCATION

BA, Social Work, University of New Hampshire 2001

CURRENT POSITION

Forensic Interview Specialist/Team Coordinator and Case Manager ■
' Child Advocacy Center of Grafton & SuUivan Counties at DHMC

Lebanon NH February 2007-present

Coordinate forensic interviews with muitidisciplinary team (MDT) including law
enforcement, child protective services workers, prosecutors, mental health, medical and
crisis and victims services providers.
Conduct child forensic interviews and extended forensic interviews, including specialized
training in children/adults with special needs
Participate and facilitate pre and post interview MDT meetings
Arrange referrals for clients to outside agencies, such as mental health, specialized
medical care, and crisis services
Triage and coordinate resolution to obstacles families encounter during the investigative
process

Case Manage resources for families involved in the justice system
Created Statewide Peer Review for Forensic Interviewers
Certified National Facilitator of Darkness to Light Stewards of Children Sexual Abuse
Training

Direct knowledge of local and New Hampshire resources relevant to support victims in
the criminal justice system, including Victims Compensation
Lead monthly case reviews with team members to discuss techniques and skills used to
investigate the cases.

PAST RELEVENT EMPLOYMENT

Intake and Development Director - Child Advocacy Center ofRockingham County. Portsmouth,
NH March 2002-September 2005



Joined the CACRC when it was in its infancy and, with the Executive Director, turned the Center
into a successful pilot program for each county in NH to model.

•  Coordinated all investigative forensic interviews (approximately 400 per year) with
multidisciplinary teams consisting of law enforcement officers, child protective services
workers, county and state prosecutors,'mental health, medical and crisis services
providers.

•  First point of contact with family members of children in need of services. Often had to.
diffuse and mediate hostile or adversarial situations and reassure reluctant clients.

•  Conducted child abuse forensic interviews.
•  Led montlfty case reviews with.team members to discuss techniques and skills used to

investigate the cases.

• Updated documentation/filing system and was responsible for maintaining secure
records for approximately 1200 case files.

•  Set- up a satellite office in Derry, NH with the Executive Director. ■
•  HIPAA Privacy Officer for agency.
•  Responsible for coordinating all aspects of agency ftindraising (approximately $50^ 000

per year) working closely with volunteers. Solicited donations of goods, services and
cash for large gala and golf tournament, the two largest fundraisers.

' • Wrote the quarterly newsletter.

OTHER PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCES

Social Worker-ner diem. New London Hospital New London NH
November 2006-January 2008 - i ah
Discharge planning and resource referrals for patients in acute care community hospital. All
aspects of patient crisis management.
First Assistant Manatrer. Hanna Andersson KItterv ME November
2001-March 2002

Second in charge of large children's clothing store. Responsibilities include open and close store,
balance cash registers and end of night deposits, delegate tasks and supervise staff of seven
employees, provide exceptional customer service, conduct all recruiting, interviewing and hinng
of new associates.

Direct Services Intern - Sexual Assault Support Services. Portsmouth, NH
May 2000-July 2002

• After internship ended, stayed on as a volunteer
•  Provided direct services to clients by 24 hour crisis hotline and police, hospital and court

accompaniments.
• Worked closely with county prosecutors, police and victimwitness advocates.
•  Guest speaker to teen groups at local schools and teen centers.
•  Developed "Daytime Procedure Manual for Providing Direct Ser\'ices" for the agency.
•  Co-developed with two police officers a day long school resource officer training

program dealing with dating violence.



Coordinated all support group tasks while the Coordinator of Support Groups was on vacation
for one month. Spoke with potential clients to assess tlieir group needs

Reference Available Upon Request



Andrea Kegelman

Education:

Bachelor of Science, Criminal Justice, September 2004
College for Lifelong Learning, University System of New Hampshire
Concord, New Hampshire

Professional Experience;

Lebanon Police Department (October 2004 - present)
Lebanon, New Hampshire •
Police Officer, Corporal

•  Enforce Criminal and Motor Vehicle Codes as well as City Ordinances.
•  Respond to and investigate incidents of Domestic Violence (DV), child abuse and elder

abuse/exploitation.

•  Coordinate services and referrals to the Division of Children, Youth and Families (DCVF), the
Child Advocacy Center (GAG) and/or the Bureau of Elderly and Adult Ser\'iccs .(BEAS).

•  Conduct Forensic Interviews of children and adults of suspected physical abuse, sexual abuse,
and witness to violent crimes.

•  Successfully worked with multidlsciplinary team members including the Child Advocacy Centers
of Grafton and Sullivan Counties, WISE and the Upper Valley Sexual Assault Response Team to
provide crisis support, advocacy, prevention and community outreach.

•  Primary law enforcement representative on the Grafton County Child Advocacy Center
Multidisciplinary team to include active participation in pre and post MDT meetings and case
review process.

•  Primary law enforcement representative and active participant of the Upper Valley Sexual
Assault Response Team.

•  Successfully implemented and supervised training requirements, programs and opportunities for
Lebanon Police Department personnel; consisting of a staff of 38 sworn officers.

•  Successfully assisted In the prosecution of sexual assaults, physical assaults, elder abuse and
exploitation and theft cases.

•  Provided support and assistance to the Lebanon Police Department Prosecutor by preparing cases
for arraignment and trial as well as handling court proceedings in his absence.

•  Provided ongoing supervision of officers and civilian employees.

Lebanon School District (January 2003 - September 2004, part time)
Lebanon, New Hampshire
Substitute Teacher

•  Assisted school district when a substitute teacher was needed.
• ' Successfully handled children from ages 5-18 in the classroom.
•  Successfully implemented age appropriate class curriculum. '

Carroll Police Department (April 2000 - October 2004)
Carroll, New Hampshire

Police Officer



•  Enforced Criminal and Motor Vehicle Codes as well as Town Ordinances.
•  Successfully facilitated safcty.lraining for elementary school students.
•  Effectively assisted with ail juvenile proceedings within the Family Court system.

Coos County Shcrifrs Dcparlmenf(April 2000 - December 2003, part lime)
Lancaster, New Hampshire
Sheriffs Deputy

•  Transported female prisoners to/from police departments, courts and correctional facilities.
•  Successfully executed undercover investigations involving the care and treatment of juveniles.

Lincoln Police Department (November 1999 - April 2000)
Lincoln, New Hampshire

Dispatcher
•  Triaged phone and radio communications for Police, Fire and EMS including crisis situations.
• Worked within the community to foster positive relationships with Law Enforcement.
•  Successfully organized and documented calls for .service.

Sneclalized Trainings:

Motion Drafting & Legal Research Training (2016)
Police Prosecutor Training (2015)
Child Death & Homicide Investigation Training (2013)
FBI Crisis Negotiation Training (2011)
Advanced Forensic Interview Training (2010)
NH Attorney General's Task Force on Child Abuse & Neglect (2008, 2009)
Shield Our Children from Harm Professional Conference (annually, 2007 - 2013)
Child Abuse and Exploitation Investigative Techniques Training (2006)
Forensic Interview Training (2005)

Awards & Achievements;

Assistant to the Prosecutor (2016)

Training & Recruitment / Operations Support Bureau, Lebanon Police Department (2016)
Corporal, Lebanon Police Department (2014)
Letter of Recognition from Governor John Lynch, Lebanon Police Department (2012)
CHaD Unsung Hero Award, Child Advocacy Center of Grafton County (2010)
Officer of the Year, Lebanon Police Department (20! 0)
Detective, Lebanon Police Department (2008 - 2016)
School Resource Officer (SRC), Lebanon Police Department (2007 - 2008)



Samantha Townsend
(603)H^HH sainatha.in.townsend@hitchcock.oriz Lebanon, NH

Education

Southern New Mampshire University in Manchester, NH ^
Bachelors of Arts in Psychology and Community Sociology
Concentration: Child & Adolescent Development
Cumulative CPA of 3.7, Psi Chi International Honor Society, National Honor Society for Collegiate Scholars
Won first place at SNHU's Undergraduate Research Day for Community Based Research
Relevant Experience

Intake Coordinator/ Resource Specialist September 2019-Presenf
Child Advocacy Center alCIiaD

Responsible for receiving, managing and coordinating all referrals
Triages cases based on case dynamics and safety needs
Coordinates/schedules CAC forensic interviews with necessary members of the MDT
RcsDonsible for case tracking, data collection, and maintenance of database directory for the two county region served

Paraprofessional August 2017-August 2019
Mount Lebanon School.

Support and assist learning in pre-kindergartcn classrooms
Model appropriate behavior and open-mindedness and reward student who do the same

Substitute May 2016-June 2017
Lebanon School District

Work in the absence of regular teacher to assist children understand subject matter
Provide skills required for programmed lessons

Intern February 2017-April 2017
Easterseals Child Development Center

Interact and provide necessary support for child ages 2-3ycars old
Support teachers in promoting an Inclusive environment for children with development disabilities

Volunteer October 2016 to January 2017
Elliot Hospital Child Life Department in Manchester. NH.

Normalized the hospital environment
Developed and modified activities based on developmental age and physical abilities
Communicate effectively with Child Life Specialist, child, and child's guardian ,
.  August2016

Volunteer ®

Barretstown SeriousFun Camp, Ireland
Supervised children ages 11-14
Provided emotional and mental support for the children attending
Assisted the children and activity leaders in various challenging activities ^
.  .xvw Summer 2013-2016

Landscape Maintenance
IJess Property and Services in Lebanon, New Hampshire

Communicated effectively with the boss, worked individually, and on a team
Completed time sensitive task of getting everyone's time sheets into the boss each week January to May 2015

Southern New Hampshire University in Manchester, New Hampshire
Articulated statistics in a clear way.
Communicated with non-native English speakers . . .
Managed time between my classes and workload, tutor training, being present in the statistics class, and nidi\ idual
tutoring

Campus Involvement

Signature Leadership Program
Exposed to various leadership theories and approaches - •
Participate in experiential-based learning, such as retreats, workshops and teambuildmg exercises m the
following areas: Leadership Training, Career Exploration, Service Activities, and Campus Involvement
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartrnouth-Mitchcock Health and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and

Subsidiaries (the "Health System'), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2017

and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash

flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management's Responsibility forthe Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;

this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We did not audit the fiscal year 2017 financial statements of Alice Peck Day Hospital, a subsidiary vvhose

sole member is Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health, which statements reflect total assets of 2.8% of consolidated

total assets as of June 30, 2017, and total revenues of 3.3% of consolidated total revenues for the year

then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to

us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Alice Peck Day Hospital, is based

solely on the report of the other auditors.

We did not audit the fiscal year 2016 consolidated financial statements of The Cheshire Medical Center, a

subsidiary whose sole member is Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health, which statements reflect total assets of

8.8% of consolidated total assets at June 30, 2016, and total revenues of 9.2% of consolidated total

revenues for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon

has been furnished to us, and our opinion on the fiscal year 2016, insofar as it relates to the amounts

included for The Cheshire Medical Center, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, JOi Seaport Boulevard, Boston, MA 022I0
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, wiuw.pwc.com/us
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We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement. The financial statements of the Alice Peck Day Hospital were not

audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 2017. The financial statements of the

Cheshire Medical Center were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 2016.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Health

System's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such

opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, the consolidated financial

statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position.of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations,

changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements

taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management and was derived

from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated

financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures

applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used

to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves

and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in

relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is

presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to
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present the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the individual

companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do nof

express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of

the individual companies.

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30,2017 is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part

200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards

{Uniform Guidance) and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is

the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting

and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain

additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying

accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated

financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards

generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a

\whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 17,

2017 on our consideration of the Health System's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests

of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other

matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of intemal control over financial

reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on Internal control

over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Health System's internal control over

financial reporting and compliance.

Boston, Massachusetts

November 17, 2017 '



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands of dollars) ' 2017 2016

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 68,498 $ 40,592
Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectibles of

$121,340 and $118,403 at June 30, 2017 and 2016 {Note 4) 237,260 260,988
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 89,203 95,820

Total current assets 394,961 397,400

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 662,323 592,468
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 124,529 142,036.
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 609,975 612,564
Other assets 97,120 87,266

Total assets $ 1,888,908 $ 1,831,734

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  18,357 $  18,307

Line of credit (Note 13) - 36,550

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,220 3,176

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 13) 89,160 107,544

Accrued compensation and related benefits 114,911 103,554

Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4) 27,433 19,650

Total current liabilities 253,081 288,781

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 616,403 625,341

Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 50,960 56,887

Interest rate swaps (Notes 7 and 10) 20,916 28,917

Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits.
excluding current portion (Note 11) 282,971 272,493

Other liabilities 90,548 69,811

Total liabilities 1,314,879 1.342,230

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4; 6, 7, 10, and 13)

Net assets

Unrestricted (Note 9) 424,947 360,183

Temporarily restricted (Notes 8 and 9) 94,917 75,731

Permanently restricted (Notes 8 and 9) 54,165 53,590

Total net assets 574,029 i»89,504

Total liabilities and net assets $  1.888,908 $  1,831,734

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Unrestricted revenue and other support

Net patient service revenue, net of contractual allowances and discounts $  1,859,192 $  1,689,275

Provision for bad debts 63,645 55,121

Net patient service revenue less provision for bad debts 1,795,547. 1,634,154

Contracted revenue (Note 2) 43,671 65,982

Other operating revenue (Note 2 and 5) 119,177 82,352

Net assets released from restrictions 11,122 9,219

Total unrestricted revenue and other support 1,969,517 1,791,707

Operating expenses

Salaries ,  966,352 872,465

Employee benefits 244,855 234,407

Medical supplies and medications 306,080 309,814

Purchased services and other 289,805 255,141

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 65,069 58,565

Depreciation and amortization 84,562 80,994

Interest (Note 10) 19,838 19,301

Total operating expenses 1,976,561 1,830,687

Operating loss (7.044) (38,980)

Nonoperating gains (losses)
Investment gains (losses) (Notes 5 and 10) 51,056 (20,103)

Other losses (4,153) (3.845)

Contribution revenue from acquisition (Note 3) 20,215 18,083

Total nonoperating gains (losses), net 67,118 (5,865)

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $  60,074 $  (44,845)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

- 5



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Unrestricted net assets

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $  60,074 $ (44.845)

Net assets released from restrictions 1.839 3,248

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11) (1,587) (66,541)

Other changes in net assets (3,364) -

Change in fair value of iriterest rate swaps (Note 10) 7,802 (5,873)

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets 64,764 (114,011)

Temporarily restricted net assets

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 26,592 12,227

Investment gains 1,677 518

Change in net unrealized gains on investments 3,775 (1.674)

Net assets released from restrictions (12.961) . (12,467)

Contribution of temporarily restricted net assets from acquisition 103 670

Increase (decrease) in temporarily restricted net assets 19,186 (726)

Permanently restricted net assets
Gifts and bequests 300 699

Investment gains (losses) in beneficial interest in trust 245 (219)

Contribution of permanently restricted net assets from acquisition 30 29

Increase in permanently restricted net assets 575 509

Change in net assets 84,525 (114,228)

Net assets

Beginning of year 489,504 603,732

End of year $  574,029 $ 489,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

. . . 6



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash (used) provided by
operating and nonoperating activities

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps
Provision for bad debt

Depreciation and amortization
Contribution revenue from acquisition
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Net realized (gain) losses and change in net unrealized (gain) losses on Investment:

Restricted contributions and investment eamings
Proceeds from sales of securities

Loss from debt defeasance

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets, net

Accounts payable and accrued e)q>enses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements
Insurance deposits and related liabilities

Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits
Other liabilities

Net cash provided (used) by operating and nonoperating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (77,361) (73,021)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment • 1,087 612
Purchases of investments (259,201) (67,117)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 276,934 66,105

Cash received through acquisition 3.564 12.619

Net cash used by investing activities (54,977) (60,802)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit . 65,000 140,600
Payments on line of credit (101,550) (105,250)
Repayment of long-term debt (48,506) (104,343)

Proceeds from issuance of debt 39,064 140,031

Payment of debt issuance costs (274) (14)
Restricted contributions and investment eamings 4.374 4,301

2017 2016

S  84,525 $ (114,228)

(8,001) 4,177

63,645 55,121

84,711 81,138

(20,348) (18,782)
1,587 66,541

1,703 2,895
(57,255) 27,573

(4,374) (4,301)
809 496

381 -

■  (35,811) (101,567)

7,386 4,767
(8,934) 2,188

(17,820) (23,668)
10,349 5,343
7,783 (3,652)
(5,927) (14,589)

8,935 15,599

11,431 2.109

124.775 (12.840)

Net cash (used) provided by financing activities (41.892) 75,325

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,906 1,683

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 40.592 38,909

End of year $ 68,498 .$ 40,592

Supplemental cash flow Information

interest paid $ 23,407 $ 22,298

Asset depredation due to affiliations - (960)

Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired 16,784 6,163
Building construction in process financed by a third party 8,426 -

Construction in.progress induded in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 14,669 16,427

Equipment acquired through issuance of capital lease obligations - 2,001

Donated securities 809 688

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital (MHMH) and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) (collectively referred to as
"Dartmouth-Hitchcock" (D-H)), New London Hospital Association (NLH), Mt. Ascutney Hospital and
Health Center (MAHHC), The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire). Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital (APD) and Visiting Nurse & Hospice for VT and NH (VNH).

The "Health System" consists of D-HH, its affiliates and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home and a home health and hospice service. The Health System
operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the principal teaching affiliate of
the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth College.

D-HH, MHMH, DHC, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Intemal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of
the IRC.

Fiscal year 2017 includes a full year of operations of D-HH. D-H, NLH, MAHHC. Cheshire, APD and
VNH. Fiscal year 2016 includes a full year of operations of D-HH. D-H, NLH, MAHHC and
Cheshire, four months of operations of APD and no activity for VNH.

Community Benefits
The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

The Health System files annual Community Benefits Reports with the State of NH which outlines
the community and charitable benefits it provides. VT hospitals are not required by law to file a
state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community Benefit Reports to
summarize these benefits are as follows;

•  Community health sen/ices include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as lectures, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care. etc.).



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Subsidized health sen/ices are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available to
participate unless the responsibility was assumed by the government.

Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

Community health-related initiatives occur outside of the organization(s) through various
financial contributions of cash, in-kind, and grants to local organizations.

Community-building activities include cash. In-kind donations, and budgeted expenditures for
the development of programs and partnerships intended to address social and economic
determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing, economic
development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements, leadership
development and training for community, members, community health improvement advocacy,
and workforce enhancement. Community benefit operations includes costs associated with
staff dedicated to administering benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs,
and other costs associated with community benefit planning and operations.

Charity care (financial assistance) represents services provided to patients who cannot afford
healthcare services due to inadequate financial resources which result from being uninsured
or underinsured. For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Health System provided
financial assistance to patients in the amount of approximately $29,934,000 and $30,637,000,
respectively, as measured by gross charges. The estimated cost of providing this care for the
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was approximately $12,173,000 and $12,257,000,
respectively. The estimated costs of providing charity care services are determined applying a
ratio of costs to charges to the gross uncompensated charges associated with providing care
to charity patients. The ratio of costs to charges is calculated using total expenses, less bad
debt, divided by gross revenue.

Government-sponsored healthcare services are provided to Medicaid and Medicare patients
at reimbursement levels that are significantly below the cost of the care provided.

The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2016 was approximately $124,371,000. The 2017 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2018.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2016:

(Unaudited, in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $  281,014

Health professional education 32,561

Subsidized health services 25,846

Charity care 10,769

Community health services 5,701

Research 3,417

Financial contributions 1,792

Community building activities 1,789

Community benefit operations 1,107

Total community benefit value $  363,996

The Health System also provides a significant amount of uncompensated care to its patients that
are reported as provision for bad debts, which is not included in the amounts reported above.
During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Health System reported a provision for bad
debt expense of approximately $63,645,000 and $55,121,000, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting, principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent v\/ith the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954 Healthcare Entities (ASC 954), which addresses the accounting
for healthcare entities. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 954, net assets, revenue,
expenses, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed
restrictions. Accordingly, unrestricted net assets are amounts not subject to donor-imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Temporarily restricted net assets are those whose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose. Permanently restricted net
assets have been restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements In conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include the allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts and
contractual allowances, valuation of certain Investments, estimated third-party settlements,
insurance reserves, and pension obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the excess
(deficiency) of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those, items attributable to
the care of patients, including contributions and investment income on unrestricted investments,
which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral activities, including
unrestricted contribution income from acquisitions, realized gains/losses on sales of investment
securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses in investments are reported as nonoperating
gains (losses).

Changes in unrestricted net assets which are excluded from the excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans, and the effective portion of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps.

Charity Care and Provision for Bad Debts
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party, arrangements. Additions to the allowance for uncollectible accounts are
made by means of the provision for bad debts. Accounts written off as uncollectible are deducted
from the allowance and subsequent recoveries are added. The amount of the provision for bad
debts is based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections,
business and economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage,
and other collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third
party payers, and others for services rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under
reimbursement agreements with third-party payers and bad debt expense! Retroactive
adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and
adjusted in future periods as estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to \which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. This revenue includes retail pharmacy,
joint operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales, meaningful use incentive payments and
other support service revenue.
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Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less when purchased, excluding amounts where use is limited by internal designation or other
arrangements under trust agreements or by donors.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds and
pooled/comingled funds, and all investments in debt securities are considered to be trading
securities reported at fair value with changes in fair value included in the excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
(Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether
held at fair value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at v/hat the Health System
believes to be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance
sheet dates on a nondistressed basis.

Certain affiliates of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and restricted assets were invested in these pooled
funds by purchasing uriits based on the market value of the pooled funds at the end of the month
prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized
gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated monthly based on the weighted average
units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
unrestricted investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends)
are included in the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses and classified as nonoperating
gains and losses, unless the Income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement,

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.
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The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) 2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amount of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets oyer their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capita! assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated v/ith asset retirements is recognized in
.the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted'
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss In the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as unrestricted support,
and excluded from the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor
stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets wth explicit
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must
be used to acquire capital assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor
stipulations about how long those capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor
restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within depreciation and
amortization in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the
straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method.
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Trade Names

The Health System records trade names as intangible assets within other assets on the
consolidated statements of financial position. The Health System considers trade names to be
indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or more frequently if certain
events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for amounts by which the
carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded $2,700,000 as
intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30, 2017 and 2016. There were no
impairment charges recorded for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Health System applies the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to its derivative
instruments, which require that all derivative instruments be recorded at their respective fair values
in the consolidated balance sheets.

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Health System designates the derivative as a
cash-flow hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid
related to a recognized asset or liability. For all hedge relationships, the Health System formally
documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge, the hedging Instrument, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging instrument's effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description
of the method of measuring ineffectiveness. This process includes linking cash-flow hedges to
specific assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, specific firm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The Health System also formally assesses, both at the hedge's Inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the.derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in variability of cash flows of hedged items. Changes in the fair
value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow
hedge are recorded in unrestricted net assets until earnings are affected by the variability in cash
flows of the designated hedged item. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of a cash
flow hedge is reported in excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and changes in net assets.

The Health System discontinues hedge accounting prospectlvely when it is determined: (a) the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged Item; (b) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (c) the derivative is undesignated as a
hedging instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (d) a hedged firm
commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; and (e) management determines
that designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued, the Health System continues to carry
the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and recognizes any subsequent
changes in its fair value in excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses.

Gifts and Bequests

Unrestricted gifts and bequests are recorded net of related expenses as nonoperating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported as either temporarily or permanently
restricted if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets.. When
a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and
reported in'the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net asset's
released from restrictions.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2014-09 - Revenue
from Contracts with Customers at the conclusion of a joint effort with the International Accounting
Standards Board to create common revenue recognition guidance in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and international accounting
standards. This framework ensures that entities appropriately reflect the consideration to which
they expect to be entitled in exchange for goods and services, by allocating transaction price to
identified performance obligations, and recognizing that revenue as performance obligations are
satisfied. Qualitative and quantitative disclosures will be required to enable users of financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers. The original standard was effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016; however, in July 2015, the FASB approved a one-year deferral
of this standard, with a new effective date for fiscal years beginning after December 15. 2017 or
fiscal year 2019 for the Health System. The Health System is evaluating the impact this will have
on the consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03 - Imputation of Interest: Simplifying the Presentation
of Debt Issuance Costs, which requires all costs incurred to issue debt to be presented in the
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the associated debt liability. The
Health System implemented the new standard during the year ended June 30, 2017 and
reclassified $3,933,000 as of June 30, 2016, to conform to the 2017 presentation.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases, which requires a lessee to recognize a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments, on its balance sheet. The standard also requires a lessee to recognize a single lease
cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally
straight-line basis. The guidance also expands the required quantitative and qualitative disclosures
surrounding leases. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, or
fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. Early adoption is permitted once ASU 2014-09 has been
adopted. The Health System is evaluating the impact of the new guidance on the consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and f^easurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which address certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU Is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) may be early adopted. The Health System implemented this aspect of the
new standard during the year ended June 30, 2017.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14 - Presentation of Financial Statements for Not-for-
profit Entities, which makes targeted changes to the not-for-profit financial reporting model. Under
the new ASU, net asset reporting will be streamlined and clarified. The existing three-category
classification of net assets will be replaced with a simplified model that combines temporarily
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restricted and permanently restricted into a single category called "net assets with donor
restrictions." The guidance for classifying deficiencies in endowment funds and on accounting for
the lapsing of restrictions on gifts to acquire property, plant, and equipment have also been
simplified and clarified. New disclosures will highlight restrictions on the use of resources that
make otherwise liquid assets unavailable for meeting near-term financial requirements. Not-for-
profits will continue to have flexibility to decide whether to report an operating subtotal and if so, to
self-define what is included or excluded. However, transparent disclosure must be provided if the
operating subtotal includes internal transfers made by the governing board. The ASU also imposes
several new requirements related to reporting expenses, including providing information-about
expenses by their natural classification. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017 or fiscal year 2019 for the Health System and early adoption is permitted. The
Health System is evaluating the impact of the new guidance on the consolidated financial
statements.

Reclasslfications

Certain amounts in the 2016 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to

the 2017 presentation.

3. Acquisitions

Effective July 1, 2016, D-HH became the sole corporate member of VNH through an affiliation
agreement. VNH is a not-for-profit corporation organized in VT providing home health, hospice and
community based services to residents of NH and VT.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, The
l^lealth System recorded contribution income of approximately $20,348,000, reflecting the fair value
of the contributed net assets of VNH, on the transaction date. Of this amount $20,215,000
represents unrestricted net assets and is included as a nonoperating gain in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations. Restricted contribution income of $103,000 and $30,000
was recorded within temporarily and permanently restricted net assets, respectively in the
accompanying consolidated statement .of changes in net assets. No consideration was exchanged
for the net assets contributed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.
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The fair value of assets, liabilities, and net assets contributed by VNH at July 1, 2016 were as
follows;

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 3,564

Patient accounts receivable, net 4,107

Property, plant, and equipment, net 436

Other assets 15,323

Total assets acquired $ . 23,430

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,194

Accrued compensation and related benefits 1,008

Other liabilities 880

Total liabilities assumed 3,082

Net Assets

Unrestricted 20,215

Temporarily restricted 103

Permanently restricted 30

Total net assets 20,348

Total liabilities and net assets $ 23,430

A summary of the financial results of VNH included in the consolidated statement of operations and
changes in net assets for the period from the date of acquisition (July 1. 2016) through June 30,
2017 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Total operating revenues $ 22,964

Total operating expenses 22,707

Operating gain 257

Nondperating gains 2,604

Excess of revenue over expenses 2,861

Net assets transferred to affiliate 20,348

Changes in temporarily and permanently restricted net assets (103)

Increase in net assets $ 23,106

17



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

A summary of the consolidated financial results of the Health System for the year ended June 30,
2016 as if the transaction had occurred on July 1, 2015 are as follows (unaudited);

(in thousands of dollars)

Total operating revenues
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Nonoperating gains

(Deficiency) of revenue over expenses

Net assets released from restriction used for capital purchases
Change in funded status of pension and other

post retirement benefits
Other changes in net assets
Change in fair value on interest rate swaps

(Decrease) increase in unrestricted net assets

$  1,813,935

1.852.896

(38,961)

(5,953)

(44,914)

3.248

(66,541)

(5,873)

$  (114.080)

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

Patient service revenue is reported net of contractual allowances and the provision for bad debts
as follows for the years ended June 30. 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars)

Gross patient service revenue

Less: Contractual allowances

Provision for bad debt

Net patient service revenue

2017

4,865,332

3,006,140

63,645

2016

4,426,305

2,737,030

55,121

$  1,795,547 $ 1,634,154

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for estimated uncollectibies. -In evaluating the
coilectability of accounts receivable, the Health System analyzes past collection history and
identifies trends for several categories of self-pay accounts (uninsured, residual balances, pre--
collection accounts and charity) to estimate the appropriate allowance percentages in establishing
the allowance for bad debt expense. Management performs collection rate look-back analyses on
a quarterly basis to evaluate the sufficiency of the allowance for estimated uncollectibies.
Throughout the year, after all reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted, the difference
between the standard rates and the amounts actually collected, including contractual adjustments
and uninsured discounts, will be written off against the allowance for estimated uncollectibies. In
addition to the review of the categories of revenue, management monitors the write offs against
established allowances as of a point in time to determine the appropriateness of the underlying
assumptions used in estimating the allowance for estimated uncollectibies.
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Accounts receivable, prior to adjustment for estimated uncollectibles, are summarized as follows at
June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Receivables

Patients $ 90.786 $ 126,320'

Third-party payors 263,240 244,716
Nonpatient , 4,574 .8,355

$  358,600 $ 379,391

The allowance for estimated uncollectibles is $121,340,000 and $118,403,000 as of June 30, 2017
and 2016.

The following table categorizes payors into five groups and their respective percentages of gross
patient service revenue for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016

Medicare 43 % 42 %

Anthem/blue cross 18 19

Commercial insurance 20 22

Medicaid 13 14

Self-pay/other 6 3

100% 100%

The Health System has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments at amounts
different from their established rates. A summary of the acute care payment arrangements in effect
during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 with major third-party payors follows: .

Medicare

The Health System's inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are
paid at prospectively determined rates-per-discharge. These rates vary according to a patient
classification system that is based on diagnostic, clinical and other factors. In addition, inpatient^
capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by Medicare on the basis of a prospectively
determined rate per discharge. Medicare outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment
system. Under the system, outpatient services are reimbursed based on a pre-determined amount
for each outpatient procedure, subject to various mandated modifications. The Health System is
reimbursed during the year for services to Medicare beneficiaries based on varying interim
payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined after the submission of an annual cost
report and subsequent audit of this report by the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

Certain of the Health System's affiliates qualify as Critical Access Hospitals (CAH). which are
reimbursed by Medicare at 101 % (subject to sequestration of 2%) of reasonable costs for its
inpatient acute, swing bed, and outpatient services, excluding ambulance services and inpatient
hospice care. They are reimbursed at an interim rate for cost based services.'with a final settlement
determined by the Medicare Cost Report filing. Medicare reimburses nursing home and
rehabilitation services based on an acuity driven prospective payment system with no retrpspective
settlement.
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Medicaid

The Health System's payments for inpatient services rendered to NH Medicaid beneficiaries are
based on a prospective payment system, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules. NH Medicaid Outpatient Direct Medical Education costs
are reimbursed, as a pass-through, based on the filing of the Medicare cost report. Payment for
inpatient and outpatient services rendered to VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on prospective .
payment systems and the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed on a prospectively determined per
diem rate.

During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Health System recorded State of NH
Medicaid Enhancement Tax (M^ and State of VT Provider Tax of $65,069,000 and $58,565,000,
respectively. The taxes are calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain net patient
revenues In accordance with Instructions received from the States. The provider taxes are
included In operating expenses In the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

During fiscal year 2016, Vermont state legislation passed changes to the tax base for home health
providers from 19.30% of core home health care services (primarily Medicaid services) with a cap
of 6% of net patient service revenue to 3.63% of net patient revenue for fiscal year 2017 and fiscal
year 2018. Home health provider tax paid, which Is included in other operating expenses, was
$645,000 and $528,000 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

On June 30, 2014, the NH Governor signed into law a bi-partisan legislation reflecting an
agreement between the State of NH and 25 NH hospitals on the Medicaid Enhancement Tax "SB
369". As part of the agreement the parties have agreed to resolve all pending litigation related to
MET and Medicaid Rates, including the Catholic Medical Center Litigation, the Northeast
Rehabilitation Litigation, 2014 D^ Refund Requests, and the State Rate Litigation. As part of the
Medicaid Enhancement Tax Agreement effective July 1, 2014, a "Trust / Lock Box" dedicated fund
mechanism will be established for receipt and distribution of all MET proceeds with all monies used
exclusively to support Medicaid services. During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the
Health System received disproportionate share hospital (DSH) payments of approximately
$59,473,000 and $56,718,000, respectively which is included in net patient service revenue in the
consolidated statement of operations and changes In net assets.

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act included in the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) provides incentives for the adoption and use of
health information technology by Medicare and Medicaid providers. The Health System has
recognized other revenue of $1,156,000 and $2,330,000 in meaningful use incentives for both the
Medicare and VT Medicaid programs during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Laws and'regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to
Interpretation. Compliance with laws and regulations can be subject to future government review
and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action; failure to comply with such laws and
regulations cari result in fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Other

For services provided to patients with commercial insurance, the Health System receives payment
for inpatient services at prospectively determined rates-per-discharge, prospectively determined
per diem rates or a percentage of established charges. Outpatient services are reimbursed on a
fee schedule or at a discount from established charges.

20



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2017 and 2016

.  Nonacute and physician services are paid at various rates under different arrangements with
governmental payors, commercial insurance carriers and health maintenance organizations. The
basis for payments under these arrangements includes prospectively determined per visit rates,
discounts from established charges, fee schedules, and reasonable cost subject to limitations.

The Health System has provided for its estimated final settlements with all payors based upon
applicable contracts and reimbursement legislation and timing in effect for all open years
(2011 - 2015). The differences between the amounts provided and the actual final settlement, if
any, is recorded as an adjustment to net patient service revenue as amounts become known or as
years are no longer subject to audits, reviews and investigations. During 2017 and 2016, changes
in prior estimates related to the Health System's settlements with third-party payors resulted in
increases (decreases) in net patient service revenue of $2,000,000 and $(859,000) respectively, in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-temi investments $  9,923 $ 12,915

U.S. government securities 44.835 . 33,578

Domestic corporate debt securities 100,953 65,610

Global debt securities 105,920 119,385

Domestic equities 129,548 100,009

International equities 95,167 61768

Emerging markets equities 33,893 34,282

Real Estate Investment Trust 791 432

Private equity funds 39,699 33,209

Hedge funds 30,448 52,337

591,177 513,525

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 18,814 22,484

Domestic corporate debt securities 21,681 29,123

Global debt securities 5,707 5,655

Domestic equities 9,048 7,830

International equities 13,888 11,901

69,138 76,993

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 2,008 ■ 1,950

Total assets limited as to use $  662,323 $ 592,468
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(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments $  5,467 $ 12,219

U.S. government securities 28,096 21,351

Domestic corporate debt securities 27,762 33,203.

Global debt securities 14,560 20,808

Domestic equities 18,451 19,215

International equities 15,499 13,986

Emerging markets equities 3,249 4,887
Real Estate Investment Trust 790 470

Private equity funds 3,949 4,780

Hedge funds 6,676 11,087

Other 30 30

Total other investments for restricted activities .  $ 124,529 $ 142,036

Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by Case basis. The fair value method is used when debt securities or
equity securities are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily available in
those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in pooled/commingled
Investment funds that represent investments v/here shares or units are ov/ned of pooled funds
rather than the underlying securities In that fund. These pooled/commingled funds make
underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments, whether
the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health System
believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a nondistressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2017 and 2016. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

(in thousands of dollars) 2017

Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $  17,398 $  - $ 17,398

U.S. govemment securities 91,745 - 91,745

Domestic corporate debt securities 121,631 28,765 150,396

Global debt securities 45,660 80,527 126,187

Domestic equities 144,618 12,429 157,047

International equities 29,910 94,644 124,554

Emerging markets equities 1,226 35,916 37,142

Real Estate Investment Trust 128 1,453 1,581

Private equity funds - 43,648 43,648

Hedge funds - 37,124 37,124

Other 30 - 30

$  452,346 $  334,506 $ 786,852
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2016

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $  27,084 $  - $ 27,084

U.S. government securities 77,413 - 77,413

Domestic corporate debt securities 101,271 26,665 127,936

Global debt securities 40,356 105,492 145,848

Domestic equities 115,082 11,972 127,054

International equities 23,271 64,384 87,655

Emerging markets equities 331 38,838 39,169

Real estate investment trust 20 882 902

Private equity funds - .37,989 37,989

Hedge funds - 63,424 63,424

Other 30 - 30

$  . 384,858 $  349,646 $ 734,504

Investment income (losses) is comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2017 and
2016:

(in thousands of dollars)

Unrestricted

Interest and dividend income, net

Net realized gains (losses) on sales of securities
Change in net unrealized gains on investments

Temporarily restricted
Interest and dividend income, net

Net realized gains (losses) on sales of securities
Change in net unrealized gains on investments

Permanently restricted
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on beneficial interest in trust

2017 2016

$ 4,418 $ 5,088

16,868 (1.223)

30,809 (22,980)

52,095 (19,115)

1,394 536

283 (18)

3,775 (1.674)

5,452 (1.156)

245 (219)

245 ,  (219)

$ 57,792 $ (20,490)

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 unrestricted investment income (losses) is reflected
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as
operating revenue of approximately $1,039,000 and $988,000 and as nonoperating gains (losses)
of approximately $51,056,000 and ($20.103,000), respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2017 and
2016, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $119,719,000 and
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$116,851,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$81,982,000 and $80,019,000 and has outstanding commitments of $37,737,000 and $36,832,000,
respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Land $  38,058 $  33,004

Land improvements 37,579 36,899

Buildings and improvements 818,831 801,840

Equipment 766,667 744,443

Equipment under capital leases 20,495 20,823

1,681,630 1,637,009

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,101,058. 1,046,617

Total depreciable assets, net 580,572 590,392

Construction in progress 29,403 22,172

$  609,975 $  612,564

As of June 30, 2017 construction in progress primarily consists of the construction of the Hospice &
Palliative Care Center and APD's medical office building, both in Lebanon, NH. The estimated cost
to complete these projects at June 30, 2017 is $7,335,000 and $9,381,000, respectively.

The construction In progress for the Borwell building reported as of June 30, 2016 was completed
during the first quarter of fiscal year 2017 and the building addition for New London at the Newport
Health Center was completed in the second quarter of fiscal year 2017.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and nonoperating activities was
approximately $84,711,000 and $81,138,000 for 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis;

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business In the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

Interest Rate Swaps

The fair value of interest rate swaps, are determined using the present value of the fixed and
floating legs of the swaps. Each series of cash flows are discounted by observable market interest
rate curves and credit risk.

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, alfliough management believes its
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value "of certain financial instruments
could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated ̂ nancial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2017 and 2016:

2017

(in thousands ofdollars)

Assets

Investments

l.eve11 Level 2 Level) Total

Redemption

or Liquidation

Days'
Notice

Cash and short term investments S  . 17,398 S -  t •  $ 17,398 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 91,745 • 91.745 Dally 1

Domestic corporate debt securities 66,238 55,393 121,631 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Qobal debt securities 28,142 17,518 45,660 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic eqt^es 144,618 • 144,618 Dally-Monthly 1-10

International equities 29,870 40 29,910 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emer^ng marlcel equities 1,226 - 1,226 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Real estate investment trust 128 • 128 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Other - 30 30 Not applicable Not applicable

Total investments 379.365 72.981 452,346

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2.633 ' - 2.633

U.S. government securities 37 - 37.

Domestic corporate debt securities 8.602 - 8,802

Global debt securities 1,095 - 1.095

Domestic equities 28,609 - 28,609

International equities 9,595 • 9,595

Emerging marlcel equities 2.706 • 2,706

Real estate 2,112 - 2.112

Mutti strategy fund 13,083 . 13,083

Guaranteed contract - 83 83

Total deferred compensation plari assets 68,672 83 68,755

Beneficiaj interest in injsts . 9,244 9,244

Total assets $ 448,037 S 72,981 $ 9,327 $ 530:345

Liabilities

hterest rate swaps

Total liabilities

20.916 $

20.916 t 20,916

Not appllcabie Not applicable

Not applicable Not applicable

20,916 Not apt^cable Not applicable
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2oie

Redemption Days'

(7n thousands ofdotarz) Level 1 Level 2 Levels ToUl Of Liquidation Notice

AMttS

Investments

Cash and short term Investments % 27,(»4 S - S S 27,084 Daly 1

U.S. oovemment securities 77,S13 • 77,413 Dally 1

Domestic corporate debt securities 27,626 73.645 101.271 Daly-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities . 23,103 17.253 40.356 Dally-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 115,082 - 115,082 Daly-Monthly 1-10

International equities 23,271 - 23.271 Daly-Monthly 1-11

Emerging maritet equities 331 - 331 Dally-Monthly 1-7

Real estate investment trust 20 • 20 Dally-Monthly 1-7

Other -
30 30 Not applicable Not appNcable

Total Investments 293,930 90.026 384.858

Deterred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term Investments 2,478 2.478

U.S. government securities 30 30

Domestic corporate detrt securities 6,710 6.710

Global debt securities 794 764

Domestic equities 23,502 23.502

Intematiorral equities - 8,619 8.619

Emerging market equities 2,113 2.113

Real estate 2,057 2.057

MuRi strategy fund 9,188 9.188

Guaranteed contract •
80 80

Total deferred compensation plan assets 55,491 80 55.571 Not appicable Not applicable

Beneficial interest in trusts •
9.087 9.087 Not applicable Not applicable

Total assets $ 349,421 % 90.928 s 9.167 s 440.516

LIsbllttles

Interest rate swaps S . s 28.917 s . s 28.617 Not applicable Not applicsble

Total Nabllilies s
•
$ 28,917 s • % 28.917

The following table is a rollforward of the statements of financial instruments classified by the
Health System within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above. .

2017

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Purchases

Sales

Net unrealized gains (losses)

Net asset transfer from affiliate

Balances at end of year

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual

Trust

Guaranteed

Contract.

9,087 $

157

80 $

Total

9,167

160

9,244 $ 83 $ 9,327
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2016

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Purchases

Sales

Net unrealized gains (losses)
Net asset transfer from affiliate

Balances at end of year

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual
Trust

Guaranteed

Contract

9,345 $

(258)

9,087 $

78 $

80 $

Total

9,423

(256)

9,167

There were no transfers into and put of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.

8. Temporarily and Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2017 and
2016;

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Healthcare services $ 32,583 $ 44,561

Research 25,385 16,680

Purchase of equipment 3,080 2,826

Charity care 13,814 1,543

Health education 17,489 8,518

Other 2,566 1,603

$ 94,917 $ 75,731

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Healthcare services $ 22,916 $ 32,105

Research 7,795 7,767

Purchase of equipment 6,274 5,266

Charity care 6,895 2,991

Health education 10,228 5,408

Other 57 53

$ 54,165 $ 53,590

Income eamed on permanently restricted net assets is available for these purposes.
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9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gih Instrument at the

time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any. Collectively these amounts are referred to as
the historic dollar value of the fund.

Unrestricted net assets include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments and the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Temporarily restricted net assets include funds appropriated for
expenditure pursuant to endowment and investment spending policies, certain expendable
endowment gifts from donors, and any retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted
endowment funds, Nwhich are restricted by the donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the
temporary restrictions on these funds have been met, the funds are reclassified to unrestricted net
assets.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2017 and 2016.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2017 and
2016;

2017

Temporarily Permanently

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 75,457

Board-designated endowment funds 26,389 - - 26,389

Total endowed net assets $ 26,389 $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 101^846

2016

Temporarily Permanently

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ _ $  25,780 $  45,402 $ 71,182

Board-designated endowment funds 26,205 - - 26,205

Total endowed net assets $ 26,205 , $ 25,780 $  45,402 $ 97,387

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2017:

2017

Temporarily Permanently

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Balances at beginning of year $ 26,205 $  25,780 $  45,402 $ 97,387

Net investment return 283 5,285 2 5,570

Contributions - 210 300 510

•Transfers - (26) 22 (4)

Release of appropriated funds (99) (1.548) - (1.647)

Net asset trarisfer from affiliates - - 30 30

Balances at end of year S 26,389 $  29,701 45,756 S 101,846

Balances at end of year 45,756

Beneficial interest in perpetual trust 8,409

Permanently restricted net assets $  54,165
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Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2016:

2016

Temporarily Permanently

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Balances at beginning of year $  26,405 $  28,296 $  44.491 $ 99,192

Net Investment return (54) (1.477) 3 (1.528)

Contributions - 271 699. 970

Transfers - (216) 180 (36)

Release of appropriated funds (146) (1.094) - (1.240)

Net asset transfer from affiliates - • 29 29

Balances at end of year $  26,205 $  25,780 45,402 $ 97,387

Balances at end of year 45,402

Beneficial interest in perpetual trust 8,188

Permanently restricted net assets $  53,590
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Variable rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2015A, principal maturing in varying
annual amounts, through August 2031 (2) $  82,975 $ ■  86,710

Series 2013, principal maturing in varying
annual amounts, through August 2043 (10) - 19,230

Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing
Agency (VEHFBA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2010A, principal maturing in varying
annual amounts, through August 2030 (11) - 7,881

Fixed rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2016A, prindpal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2046 (1), 24,608 -

Series 201 SB, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2046 (1) 10,970 -

Series 201.4A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (4) 26,960 26,960

Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (4) 14,530 14.530

Series 2012A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (5) 71,700 72,720

Series 2012B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (5) 39,340 39,900

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (9) 26,735 27,490

Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual.
amounts, through August 2040 (7) 75,000 75,000

Series 2009, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2038 (8) 57,540 63,370

Total variable and fixed rate debt 430,358 433,791
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2017 and 2016 is as follows (continued);

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 ^2016

. other

Revolving Line of Credit, principal maturing
through March 2019 (3) 49,750 49,750

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2025 (6) 136,000 140,000
Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2040 (12)* 15,900 16,287
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through July 2015;
collateralized by associated equipment* 811 313
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments from October 2011 through September 2012, and
monthly installments from October 2012 through 2016,
including principal and interest at 3.25%; collateralized by
savings account* - 2,952
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free* 437 494

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;

monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046* 2,763

Obligations under capital leases 3,435 4,875
Total other debt 209,096 214,671

Total variable and fixed rate debt 430,358 433,791
Total long-term debt 639.454 648,462

Less

Original issue discount, net 862 881
Bond issuance costs, net 3,832 3,933

Current portion 18,357 18,307
$  616.403 $ 625,341

Aggregate annual principal payments required under revenue bond agreements and capital lease
obligations for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017

2018 • $ 18,357

2019 68,279

2020 19,401

2021 19,448

2022 19,833

Thereafter 494,136

$  639,454
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Bonds.

MHMH established the DHOG In 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH and MAHHC. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.

Revenue Bonds Issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture.

The Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or
consolidation of members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint

and several obligation of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the
DHOG) and are equally and ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts.
The DHOG is also subject to certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the
most restrictive of which are the Annual Debt Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox) and the Days
Cash on Hand Ratio (> 75 days).

(1) Series 2016A and 20168 Revenue Bonds

Through the DHOG, issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A and 2016B in July 2016
through a private placement w/ith a financial institution. The Series 2016A Revenue Bonds were
primarily used to refund Series 2013A and Series 2013B and the Series 2016B Revenue Bonds
were used to finance 2016 projects. The Series 2016A Revenue Bonds mature In variable
amounts through 2046. Interest is equal to the sum of .70 times one month LIBOR plus .70 times
the spread. The variable rate as of June 30 2017 was 1.48% The Series 2016B Is fixed with an
interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various dates through 2046.

(2) Series 2015A Revenue Bonds

through the DHOG, issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A in September 2015
through a private placement with a financial institution. The Series 2015A Revenue Bonds were
primarily used to refinance a portion of the Series 2011 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of
Issuance. The Series 2015A Revenue Bonds accrue interest variably and mature at various
dates through 2031 based on the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). The
variable rate as of June 30 2017 was 1.51%

(3) Revolving Line of Credit

Through the DHOG, entered into Revolving Line of Credit TD Bank, N.A. (TD Bank). Interest on
the TD Bank loan accrues variably and matures at various dates through March 2019. The
variable rate as of June 30 2017 was 1.63%

(4) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

. Through the DHOG, issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 20148 in
August 2014. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to
partially refund the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the
2014A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates

through 2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of
4.00% and matures at various dates through 2033.
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(5) Series 2012A and 2012B Revenue Bonds

Through the DHOG, Issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A and Series 20128 in
November 2012. The proceeds from the Series 2012A and 20128 were used to advance refund
the Series 2002 Revenue Bonds and to. cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2012A Revenue
Bonds is fixed w/ith an interest rate of 2.29% and matures at various dates through 2031.
Interest on the Series 20128 Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.33% and matures

at various dates through 2031.

(6) Series 2012 Bank Loan

Through the DHOG, issued the Bank of America, N.A. Series 2012 note, in July 2012. The
proceeds from the Series 2012 note were used to prefund the D-H defined benefit pension plan.
Interest on the Series 2012 note accrues at a fixed rate of 2.47% and matures at various dates
through 2025.

(7) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds

Through the DHOG, issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2010, in June 2010, The
proceeds from the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds were primarily used to construct a 140,000
square foot ambulatory care facility in Nashua. NH as well as various equipment. Interest on the
bonds accrue at a fixed rate of 5.00% and mature at various dates through August 2040.

(8) Series 2009 Revenue Bonds

Through the DHOG, issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, in August 2009. The
proceeds from the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds were primarily used to advance refund the
Series 2008 Revenue Bonds. Interest on the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds accrue at varying
fixed rates between 5.00% and 6.00% and mature at various dates through August 2038.

(9) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

Issued through the NHHEFA $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds Series 2012. The
proceeds of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the
settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds are collateralized by an interest in its gross receipts under the terms of
the bond agreement. The bonds have fixed interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0%
(a net interest cost of 3.96%). Principal is payable in annual installments ranging from $780,000
to $1,750,000 through July 2039.

(10) Series 2013 Revenue Bonds

Issued through the NHHEFA $15,520,000 tax exempt Revenue Bonds Series 2013A. The Series
2013A funds were used to refund Series 2007 Revenue Bonds. Additional borrowings were
obtained (up to $9,480,000 Revenue Bonds, Series 2013B) for the construction of a new health
center building in Newport, NH. The bonds are collateralized by the gross receipts and property.
The bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043, the maturity date of the bonds, but are
subject to mandatory tender in ten years. Interest is payable monthly and is equal to the sum of
.72 times the Adjusted LIBOR Rate plus .72 times the credit spread rate. As part of the bond
refinancing, the swap arrangement.was effectively terminated for federal tax purposes with
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respect to the Series 2007 Revenue Bonds but remains in effect. These bonds were paid with
the proceeds of the Series 2016A Revenue Bonds.

(11) Series 201 OA Revenue Bonds

Issued through the VEHBFA $9,244,000 of Revenue Bonds Series 201 OA. The funds were
used to refund 2004 and 2005 Series A Bonds. The bonds are collateralized by gross receipts.
The bonds shall bear interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 3.50%, multiplied by 6%
adjusting monthly. The bonds were purchased by TD Bank on March 1, 2010. Principal
payments began on April 1, 2010 for a period of 20 years ranging in amounts from $228,000 in
2014 to $207,000 in 2030. These bonds were refunded in July 2016.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the OHOG at June 30, 2017 and 2016 approximates
$616,108,000 and $568,940,000, respectively.

Non Obligated Group Bonds

(12) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds

Issued through the Business Finance Authority (BFA) of the State of NH. Interest is based on an
annual percentage rate equal to the sum of (a) 69% of the 1-Month LIBOR rate plus (b)
1.8975/5. APD may prepay certain of these bonds according to the terms of the loan and trust
agreement. The bonds are redeemable at any time by APD at par value plus any accrued
interest. The bonds are also subject to optional tender for purchase (as a whole) in November
2020 at par plus accrued interest.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $2,008,000 and
$1,950,000 at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $19,838,000 and $19,301,000 and is included in
other nonoperating losses of $3,135,000 and $3,201,000, respectively.

Swap Agreements

The Health System is subject to market risks such as changes in interest rates that arise from
normal business operation. The Health System regularly assesses these risks and has established
business strategies to provide natural offsets, supplemented by the use of derivative financial
instruments to protect against the adverse effect of these and other market risks. The Health
System has established clear policies, procedures, and internal controls governing the use of
derivatives and does not use them for trading, investment, or other speculative purposes.

A summary of the Health System's derivative financial instruments is as follows;

•  A Fixed Payor Swap designed as a cash flow hedge of the NHHEFA Series 2011 Revenue
Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $91,040,000. The Swap Agreement
requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 4.56% in exchange for the
counterparty's payment of 67% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The Swap's term matches that of the
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associated bonds. The 2011 interest rate swap was not integrated with the 2011 bonds. When
the 2011 bonds were refinanced, the swap became associated with the 2015 bond.

•  An Interest Rate Swap to hedge the interest rate risk associated with the NHHEFA Series
2013 Revenue Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $15,000,000. The Swap
Agreement requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 3.94% in
exchange for the counterparty's payment at 67% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The Swap term
matches that of the associated bonds.

•  An Interest Rate Swap to hedge the interest rate risk associated with the VEHFBA Series
201 OA Revenue Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $7,244,000. The Swap
Agreement requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 2.41 % in
exchange for the counterparty's payment of 69% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The swap was
terminated in September 2016, while the bonds will remain outstanding until 2030. >

The obligation of the Health System to make payments on its bonds with respect to interest is in no
way conditional upon the Health System's receipt of payments from the interest rate swap
agreement counterparty.

At June 30, 2017 and 2016 the fair value of the Health System's interest rate swaps was a liability
of $20,915,000 and $28,917,000, respectively. The change in fair value during the years ended
June 30, 2017 arid 2016 was a (decrease) and an increase of ($8,002,000) and $4,177,000,
respectively. For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the Health System recognized a
nonoperating gain of $124,000 and $1,696,000 resulting from hedge Ineffectiveness and
amortization of frozen swaps.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible erhployees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain affiliates provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen or had been approved
by the applicable Board of Trustees to be frozen by December 31, 2017.

In December of 2016 the Board of Trustees approved to accelerate the freeze date on the
remaining pension plan from December 31, 2017 to January 31, 2017. Effective with that date, the

■ last of the participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans will no
longer earn benefits under the plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump surri offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DDL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.
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Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars)

Service cost for benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net prior service cost
Net loss amortization'

Special/contractural termination benefits
One-time benefit upon plan freeze acceleration

2017 2016

$ 5,736 $ 11,084

47,316 48,036
(64,169) (63,479)

109 848

20,267 26,098

119 300

9,519 -

$ 18,897 $ 22,887

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2017 and 2016:

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

2017

4.20%-4.90%

Age Graded - N/A
7.50 % - 7.75 %

2016

4.30 % - 4.90%

Age Graded/0.00 % • 2.50 %
7.50% -7.75%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  1,096,619 $ 988,143

Service cost 5,736 11,084

Interest cost 47,316 48,108

Benefits paid (43,276) (39,001)

Expenses paid (183) .  (180)
Actuarial (gain) loss 6,884 99,040

, Settlements - (13,520)

Plan change - 2,645

Special/contractual termination benefits - 300

One-time benefit upon plan freeze acceleration 9,519 -

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,122,615 1,096,619

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 872,320 845,052

Actual return on plan assets 44,763 81,210

Benefits paid (43,276) (42,494)

Expenses paid (183) (180)

Employer contributions 5,077 2,252

Settlements - (13,520)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 878,701 872,320

Funded status of the plans (243,914) (224,299)

Less current portion of liability for pension (46) (46)

Long term portion of liability for pension (243,868) (224,253)

Liability for pension $  (243,914) $ ,  (224,299)

For the years ended June 30. 2017 and 2016 the liability for pension is included in the liability for
pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in
unrestricted net assets as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Net actuarial loss

Prior service cost

2017 2016

429,782 $ 423,640
228

$  429,782 $ 423,868

The estimated amounts to be amortized from unrestricted net assets into net periodic pension
expense in 2018 for net actuarial losses is $10,966,000.
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The accumulated benefit obllgatioh for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,123,010,000 and $1,082,818,000 at June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively!

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30.
2017 and 2016:

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation

2017

4.00%-4.30%

N/A - 0,00 %

2016

4.20 % - 4.30 %

Age Graded/0.00 % - 2.50 %

The primary investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of
the Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation
and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the impact
fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, it
is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately. 55% and 65%, respectively, of the
interest rate risk associated with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging
objectives, the Plans utilize a diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated
performance objectives measured on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging market equities
Real estate investment trust funds

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Range of
Target

Allocations

0-5%

. 0-5

20-58

6-26

5-35

5-15

3-13

0-5

0-5

5-18

Target
Allocations

3%

5

38

.  8

19

11

5

0

. 0

11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities ahd authorities and more specifically the
follov/ing:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures.
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•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are
generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2017 and 2016:

2017

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dc^lars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments
\

Cash and short-lerm investments $  23 S 29,792 $ -  $ 29,815. Daily 1

U.S. government securities 7,875 - - 7.875 Daily^onthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 140,498 243,427 - 383,925 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 426 90,389 - 90,815 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 154,597 16,938 - 171,535 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 9,837 93,950 - 103,787 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 2,141 45,351 - 47,492 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 362 2,492 - 2,854 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - • 96 96 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - •  - 40,507 40,507 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $  315,759 $ 522,339 $ 40,603 $ 878,701

2016

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments. $  5,463 % 10,879 $ -  $ 16,342 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 4,177 - - 4,177 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Dorhestic debt securities 95,130 296,362 - 391,492 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 409 88,589 - 88,998 • DailyrWonthly 1-15

Domestic equities 148,998 15,896 ■ 164,894 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 12,849 77,299 - 90,148 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 352 37,848 - 38,200 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 356 1,465 - 1,821 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 255 255 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - 37,005 38,988 75,993 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $  267,734 $ 565,343 S 39,243 $ 872,320
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The following table presents additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30. 2017 and 2016:

2017

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  38,988 $  255 $ 39,243

Transfers - - -

Purchases - - -

Sales (880) (132) (1,012)

Net realized (losses) gains 33 36 69

Net unrealized gains 2,366 (63) 2,303

Balances at end of year $  40,507 $  96 $ 40,603

2016

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  42,076 $  437 $ 42,513

Transfers - - -

Purchases - - -

Sales (468) (142) (610)

Net realized (losses) gains (55) 155 100

Net unrealized gains (2,565) (195) (2.760)

Balances at end of year $  38,988 $  255 $ 39,243

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 were approximately $7,965,000 and $8,808,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.
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The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2017 and 2016
by asset category is as follows;

2017 2016

Cash and short-term investments . 3% 2 %

U.S. government securities 1 1

Domestic debt securities 44 45

Global debt securities 10 10

Domestic equities 20 19

Intemational equities 12 10

Emerging market equities, 5 4

Hedge funds 5 9

100 % ^100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, It is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $5,047,000 to the Plans in 2018
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 $ 46,313

2019 48,689

2020 51,465

2021 54,375

2022 57,085

2023-2027 323,288

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401 (a) plan for certain of its affiliates, under which
the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on specified
percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to
the plan of approximately $33,375,000 and $29,416,6oo in 2017 and 2016, respectively, are
included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by affiliate and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of these

.  plans in 2017 and 2016 respectively.
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Postretirement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Service cost $  448 $ 544

Interest cost 2,041 2,295

Net prior service income (5.974) (5,974)

Net loss amortization 689 610

$  (2.796) $. (2,525)

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2017
and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ^ $ 51,370 $ 50,438

Service cost 448 544

Interest cost 2,041 2,295

Benefits paid (3,211) (3,277)

Actuarial (gain) loss (8,337) 1,404

Employer contributions (iM) (34)

Benefit obligation at end of year 42,277 51,370

Funded status of the plans (42,277) (51,370)

Current portion of liability for postretirement

medical and life benefits (3,174) (3,130)

Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (39,103) (48,240)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $  (42,277) $ (51,370)

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the liability for postretirement medical and life
benefits is included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in unrestricted net assets are as follows:
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(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Net prior service income $ (21,504) $ (27,478)
Net actuarial loss 2,054 11,080

$  (19,450) $ (16,398)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from unrestricted net assets into net periodic
postretirement income in 2018 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2017 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 $ 3,174

2019 3,149

, 2020 3,142

2021' 3,117

2022 3,113

2023-2027 14,623

In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 4.20% in 2017 and ah assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.75%, trending down to 4.75% in 2021 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 by $1,067,000 and $4,685,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $110,000 and
$284,000, respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage
point in each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of
June 30, 2017 and 2016 by $974,000 and $3,884,000 and the net periodic postretirement medical
benefit cost for the years then ended by $96,000 and $234,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH and MAHHC are provided professional and
general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention
Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG reinsures the majority of this risk to
Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in Bermuda
and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H and Dartmouth College have ownership interests in
both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered institutions and
named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is triggered when claims
are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially determined based on asserted
liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded
on an undiscounted basis.

APD is covered for malpractice claims under a modified claims-made policy purchased through
New England Alliance for Health (NEAH). While APD remains in the current insurance program
under this policy, the coverage year is based on the date the claim is filed; subject to a medical
incident arising after the retroactive date (includes prior acts). The policy provides modified claims-
made coverage for former insured providers for claims that relate to the employee's period of
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employment at APD and for services that were provided within the scope of the employee's duties.
Therefore, when the employee leaves the corporation, tail coverage is not required.

Selected financial data of HAG and RRG, taken from the latest available audited and unaudited

financial statements, respectively at June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows;

2017

MAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars) (audited) (unaudited)

Assets $ 76,185. $ 2,055 $ 78,240

Shareholders'equity 13,620 801 14,421
Net income - (5) (5)

2016

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars) (audited) (unaudited)

Assets $ 86,101 $ 2,237 $ 88,338

Shareholders'equity 13,620 806 14,426
Net Income - 50 .50

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered nomial to.its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Operating Leases and Other Commitments
The Health System leases certain facilities and equipment under operating leases with varying
expiration dates. The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $15,802,000 and
$10,571,000 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Minimum future lease
payments under noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 2017 were as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 $ 8,370

2019 6,226

2020 3,928

2021 3,105

2022 1,518

Thereafter 367

$  23,514
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Lilies of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $2,000,000 up to $85,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 1. 2018. There was no outstanding balance under the lines of credit at June 30. 2017.
The Health System had outstanding balances under the lines of credits in the amount of
$36,550,000 at June 30, 2016. Interest expense was approximately $915,000 and $551,000,
respectively, and is included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses of the Health System by function are as follows for the years ended June 30,

2017 and 2016:

(in thousands of dollars) 2017 2016

Program services $ 1,662,413 $ 1,553,377
Management and general 311,820 271,409

Fundraising 2,328 5,901

$  1,976,561 $ 1,830,687

15. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2017,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.
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Cheshire New London ML Ascutney OH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Dartmouth- Medical Hospital Hospital and Group Obllg Group System'
(in thousands of dollars) Hitchcock Center . Association Health Center' Eliminations Subtotal ' Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27.328 S 10.645 S 7.797 S 6,662 $ . $ 52,432 S 16,066 S . 8 68.498
Patient accounts receivable, net 193.733 17,723 8.539 4,659 ; 224.654 12,606 . 237,260
Prepaid expenses ar>d other current assets 93.816 6,945 3.650 1,351 (16.5851 89.177 8.034 (6.008) 69,203

Total current assets 314.877 35,313 19.986 12.672 (16.585) 366.263 36.706 (6.008) 394,961

Assets limited as to use S60.254 19,104 11.784 9.058 . 620.200 42.123 . 662,323

Other investments for restricted activities . 86.398 4.764 2.833 6.079 . 100,074 24.455 . 124,529
Property, plant, and equipment, net 448.743 64.933 43.264 17.167 . 574.107 35.868 - 609,975
Other assets 89.650 2,543 5.965 4.095 (11.520) 90.733 27.674 (21.287) 97.120

Total assets S 1.519.922 S 126,657 S 83.832 S 49.071 S (28,105) S 1.751.377 s 166,626 S (29.295) S 1.888,908

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of lortg-term debt S 16.034 $ 780 $ 737 $ 80 $ . % 17,631 s 726 $ . $ 18.357

Line of credit • - - 550 (550) - - - .

Current portion ol liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits 3.220 - - • • 3,220 - 3.220

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 72.362 19.715 5,356 2,854 (16,585) 83,702 13,466 (8.008) 89.160

Accrued compensation and related benefits 99.638 5.428 2,335 3.448 •  - 110,849 4.062 . 114.911

Estimated third-party settlements 11.322 . 7,265 1.915 . 20.502 6.931 . 27.433

Total current liabilities 202.576 25.923 15.693 8.847 (17,135) 235,904 25.185 (8.008) 253.081

Long-term debt, excludirtg curent portion 545.100 26.185 26.402 10.976 (10,970) 597.693 18.710 •  . 616.403

Insurance deposits artd related liabilities 50.960 . . . . 50.960 . . 50.960

Interest rate swraps 17.606 . 3,310 - - 20.916 - . 20.916

Liability for pension artd other postretirement

plan twnefits. excluding current portion 267.409 8.761 • 6.801 • 282.971 • • 282.971

Other liatHlities 77.622 2.636 1.426 . . 81.664 8.864 . 90.548

Total liabilities 1.161.273 63.505 46.831 26.624 (28.105) 1.270.128 52.759 (8.008) 1.314.879

Commitments artd contlngertcies

Net assets

Unrestricted 258.887 58.250 32.504 15.247 . 364.868 81.344 . (21.285) 424.947

Temporarily restricted 68.473 4.902 345 1.363 . 75.083 19.836 (2) 94.917

Permanently restricted 31.289 . 4.152 5.837 41.278 12.887 . 54.165

Total net assets 358.649 63.152 37.001 22.447 . 481.249 114.067 (21,287) 574,029

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,519.922 s .126,657 s 83.832 s 49,071 S (28.105) s 1,751,377 $ 166.826 s (29,295) $ 1,888,908
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Health

D-HH 0-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and. System
(in thousands of doOars)

-

(Parent) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APO Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash arxj cash equivalents S 1,166 8 27,760 S 11,601 8 8.260 8 6,968 8 8,129 8 4.594 8 . 8 68,498
Patient accounts receivabie. rtet - 193.733 17,723 8,539 4,681 8,878 .3,706 . 237,260
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3.884 94,305 5,899 3,671 1,340 4,179 518 (24.593) 89,203

Total current assets 5,050 315,798 35,223 20,490 12,989 21,186 8.818 (24,593) 394,961

Assets United as to use . 596,004 19,104 11,782 9,889 8,166 16,476 . 662,323
Other investments for restricted activities 6 94,210 21,204 2,833 6,079 197 . . 124,529
Property, plant, artd equipment, net SO 451,418 68,921 43,751 18,935 23,447 3,453 . 609,975
Other assets 23,866 89,819 8,566 5,378 1,812 283 183 (32,807) 97,120

Total assets S 28,972 S 1,548,149 s 153,038 8 84,234 8 49,704 8 53,281 8 28,930 8 (57,400) 8 1,888,908

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt s - s 16,034 $ 780 8 737 8 137 8 603 8 66 8 . 8 18.357

Line of credit . - . . 550 . . (550) .

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,220 - - - . - - 3,220
Accounts payable artd accrued expenses 5,996 72,806 19,716 5,365 2,946 5,048 1,874 (24,593) 89,160
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 99,638 5,428 2.335 3,480 2,998 1,032 . 114,911
Estimated third-party settlements 6,165 11,322 - 7,265 1,915. 766 . . 27,433

Total current liabilities 12,161 203,020 25,926 15,702 9,028 9,415 2,972 (25.143) 253,081

Long-term debt, exdutfing current portion . 545,100 26,165 26,402 11,356 15,633 2,697 (10,970) 616,403
Insurance deposits artd related liabilities . 50,060 . . . . - . 50,960
Interest rate swaps - 17,606 - 3,310 . . . . 20.916
LiabiSty for pension and other postretirement
plan tMrrefits, exdudirrg current portion - 267,409 6,761 - 6,801 - . . 282,971
Other liabilities - 77,622 2,531 1,426 - 8,969 - . 90,548

Total liabilities 12,161 1,161,717 63,403 46,840 27,185 34,017 5,669 (36,113) 1,314,879

Commitrrrents and contingerrdes

Net assets

Unrestricted 16,367 278,695 60,758 32,897 15,319 18,965 23,231 (21,285) 424,947

Temporarily restrided 444 74,304 18,198 •  345 1,363 265 . (2) 94,917

Permanently restricted - 33.433 10,679 4,152 5.837 34 30 54,165

Total net assets 16,811 386,432 89,635 37,394 22,519 19.264 23,261 (21,287) 574,029

Total liabilities and net assets $ 28,972 s 1,548,149 $ 153,038 8 84.234 8 49,704 8 53,281 8 28,930 8 (57.400) 8 1,888,908
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(In thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Line of Credit

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Lor>g-term debt, excluding current portion
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Interest rate swaps

Liability for pension artd other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contirtgencies

Net assets

Unrestricted

Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities artd net assets

Dartmouth-

HItchcocK

1.535

220.173

95.158

316.866

551.724

61.879

454.894

65.613

DH Obligated

Group

Subtotal

1.535

220.173

95,158

316.866

551.724

91.879

454.894

65.613

All Other Non-

Obllg Group
Afnilstes

39.057

40.815

23.595

103.467

40.744

50.157

157.670

36.582

Eliminations

(22.933)

(22.933)

(14.929)

Health

System

Consolidated

40.592

260.988

95.820

397.400

592.468

142.036

612.564

87,266

1.480.976 $ 1.480.976 S 388.620 S (37.862) $ 1.831.734

$ 15.638 $ 15,638 S 2.669 $ $ 18,307

35.000 35,000 1.550 - 36,550

3.176 3,176 . . 3.176

87.373 87,373 43.104 (22.933) 107.544

86.997 86,997 16.557 - 103.554

21.434 21,434 (1.784) - 19.650

249.618 249,618 62.096 (22i933) 288.781

550.090 550,090 75.251 . 625.341

56.887 56,887 - - 56.887

24.148 24,148 4.769
-

28.917

246.816 246.616 25.677 . 272.493

54.218 54.218 15.593 - 69.811

1.181.777 1.181.777 183.386 (22.933) 1.342.230

217,033 217.033 158,079 (14,929) 360.183

51.173 51.173 24,558 - 75,731

30.993 30.993 22.597 - 53.590

299,199 299.199 205,234 (14,929) 489,504

s 1.480,976 $ 1.480,976 S 388.620 S (37,862) $ 1,831,734
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Health

D-HH D-H and Cheshire and NLHand MAHHC and System
(in thousands of dollars) (Parent) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Sut>sldlarles APD Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 607 8 2.066 S 16.640 8 6,699 8 5.388 8 9.192 8 . 8 40.592
Patient accounts receivable, net - 220.173 17.836 7.377 5.347 10,255 - 260,988
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,463 95.736 5.458 3.209 2.022 4.863 (22.933) 95,820

Total current assets 8,070 317.977 39.934 17.285 12.757 24,310 (22.933) 397.400

Assets limited as to use . 551.724 17.525 10.345 8.260' 4,614 - 592.468
Other investments for restricted activities 217 114,719 18.486 2.843 5.742 29 . 142,036
Property, plant, and equipment, net 76 457.570 75.591 43.204 19.659 16,464 . 612.564
Other assets 17,950 65.782 9.496 5.026 3.929 10 (14,929) 67.266

Total assets % 26,313 $ 1.507,772 8 161,032 8 78,705 8 50.347 8 45.427 8 (37,862) 8 1.831.734

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt S . $ 15.638 8 755 8 941 8 466 8 507 8 . 8 18.307
Line of credit . 35.000 . . 1,550 . . 36.550

Current portion of liability for pension and

other postretirement plan t>eneflts - 3.176 - - - - - 3.176
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9.857 88.557 15.866 6.791 4.589 4.817 (22,933) 107,544

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 86.997 7,728 2.052 3,128 3.649 - 103,554
Estimated third-party settlements - 10.534 1,569 5.206 917 1.424 - 19,650

Total current liabilities 9.857 . 239,902 25.918 14,990 10,650 10.397 (22,933) 288.781

Long-term debt, excluding current portion - 550,090 26,965 20,767 11.145 16.354 . 625.341

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 56,687 . . . . 56.887

Interest rale swaps - 24.148 - 4.646 123 . 28.917

Liability for pension and other postretirement

plan benefits, excluding current portion - - 246,816 16,662 - 7.015 - - 272.493
Other liabilities - 65.118 3.522 1,135 - 36 . 69.811

Total liabilities 9,857 1.182,961 75,087 41,538 28.933 . 26.787 (22.933) 1.342.230

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Unrestricted 16.456 234,609 56.978 32,706 14.099 18.264 (14.929) 360.183
Temporarily restricted - 57,091 16,454 345 1,496 345 - 75.731
Permanently restricted - 33,111 10.513 4.116 5,819 31 . 53.590

Total net assets 16.456 324.811 85,945 37.167 21.414 18.640 (14.929) 489.504

Total liabilities and net assets $ 26.313 S 1,507,772 8 161,032 8 78,705 8 50.347 8 45.427 8 (37.862) 8 1.831.734
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Cheshire. New London MLAscutney DK Obligated All Other Non- Health

Dartmouth- Medical Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
(in thousands ot Mars) Hitchcock Center Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Unrestricted revenue and other support

Net patient service revenue, net of contrsctual allowances and discounts S 1,447,961 8  214,265 S  59,928 S  48,072 S  (19) S  1,770,207 S  88,985 S - 8  1,859,192

Provisions for bad debts -  42,963 14,125 2,010 1,705 . 60,803 2,842 - 63,645

Net patient service revenue less provisions for bad debts 1,404,998 200,140 57,918 46,367 (19) 1,709,404 86,143 - 1,795,547

Contracted revenue 88,620 .. • 1,661 .  (41.771) 48,710 (4,695) (44) 43,671

Other operating revenue 104,611 3,045 3,839 1,592 (1.148) 111,939 6,418 820 119,177

Net assets released from restrictions 9,550 639 116 61 - 10,366 756 - 11,122

Total unrestricled revenue and other support 1,607,779 203,824 61,873 49,881 (42,638) 1,880,419 88,322 776 1,969,517

Operating expenses
Salaries 787,644 102,769 30,311 23,549 (21,784) 022,489 42,327 1,536 066,352

Employee benefits 202,178 26,632 7,071 5,523 (5,322) 236,082 8,392 381 244,855

Medical supplies and medications 257,100 30,692 6,143 2,905 (273) 296,567 9,513 • 306,080

Purchased services and other . 208,671 28,068 12,795 13,224 (17,325) 245,433 45,331 (959) 289,805

Medicaid enhancement tax 50,118 7,800 2,923 1,620 - 62,461 2,608 - 65,069

Depreciation arxl amortization 66,067 10,238 3,681 2,138 - 82.324 2,238 - 84,562

Interest 17,352 1,127 819 249 (209) 19,338 500 - 19,838

Total operating expenses 1,589,130 207,326 63,943 49,208 (44,913) 1,864,694 110,909 658 1,976,561

Operating margin (loss) -  18.649 (3,502) (Z.070) 673 1,975 15,725 (22,587) (182) (7.044)

Nonoperating gains (losses)
Investment gains (tosses) 42,484 1,378 1,570 .  984 (209) 46,207 4,849 - 51,056

Other, net (3,003) - (879) 570 (1.767) (5,079) 740 186 (4,153)

Contribution revenue from acqutsibon - - - - - 20,215 - 20,215

Total nonoperating gains, net 39,481 1,378 691 1,554 (1.976) 41,128 25,804 186 67,118

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 58,130 (2,124) (1.379) 2,227 (1) 56,853 3,217 4 60,074

Unrestricted net assets

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 8) 983 - 9 442 - .1,434 405 • 1,839

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits (5.297) 4,031 • (321) • (1,587) • • (1,587)

Net assets transferred (from) to afTiHates (18,380) 900 143 986 - (16,351) 16,351 - -

Other changes in net assets - - - (2,286) - (2,286) 5,281 (6,359) (3,364)

Change in fair value on interest rate swaps 6,418 • 1,337 47 '  • 7,802 - - 7,802

' Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets i  41,854 $  2,807 $  110 S  1,09.5 $  (1) S  45,865 8  25,254 8 (8,355) 8  64,764
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Health

D41H D-Hind Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System
(in thousands of doiars) (Parent) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APO Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Unrestricted revenue and other support
Net petient service revenue, net of contractual alowances and discounts S S  1.447,961 S  214,265 S  59,926 S  46,072 S 65,635 %  23,150 S  (19) $  1,859,192
ProvisiORS for bad debts - 42,963 14,125 2.010 1,705 2,275 567 63,645

Net patient service revenue less provnions for bad debts - 1,404,996 200,140 57,916 48,367 63,560 22,583 (19) 1,795,547

Coritracted revenue (5,602) 89,427 - . 1,861 . . (41,815) 43,671
Other operating revenue 673 106,775 3,264 3,637 3,038 1,537 381 (328) 119,177
Net assets released from restrictions . 10,200 639 116 61 106 . . 11,122

Total unrestricted revenue and other support (5.129) 1,611,400 204,043 61,671 51,327 65,203 22,964 (42,162) 1,969,517

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,009 787,644 102,769 30,311 24.273 29,397 11,197 (20,246) 966,352
Emptoyee benefits 293 202,176 26,632 7,071 5,686 5,532 2,404 "(4,941) 244,855

Medical supplies and mecfications • 257,100 30,692 6,143 2,905 7,760 1,753 (273) 306,080

Purchased services and other 10.021 212,414 29,902 12,653 13,626 16,564 6,007 (18,282) 289,805
Medicaid enhancement tax • 50,118 7,800 2,923 1,620 2,608 . . 65,069

Depreciation and amortization 26 66,067 10,396 3,886 2,242 1,532 413 - 84,562

Interest . 17,352 1,127 819 249 467 33 (209) 19,836

Total operating expenses 17.349 1,592,873 209,318 63,806 50,601 63,860 22,707 (43,953) 1,978,561

Operating (loss) margin (22.476) 18,527 (5.275) (1.935) 726 1,343 257 1,791 (7.044)

NonoperatJng gains (losses)
Investment (losses) gains (321) 44,746 2,124 1,516 1,045 439 1,718 (209) 51,056
Other, net - (3,003) . (879) 561 (161) 868 (1.579) (4,153)
ContrttKJtion revenue from acquisition 20.215 - • - . . . . 20,215

Total nonoperating gains, net 19.694 41,743 2,124 637 1,626 278 2,604 (1.786) 67,118

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over e}g)enses (2.564) 60,270 (3.151) (1,296) 2,352 1,621 2,861 3 60,074

Unrestricted net assets

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 9) - 1,075 - 9 442 158 155 . 1,639

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits • (5.297) 4,031 . (321) • • - (1.587)
Net assets transferred (from) to affiliates (3.664) (18,380) 900 143 986 . 20,215 - .

Additional paid in capit^ - . -  . . . .

Other changes in net assets 6,359 - - • (2,286) (1.078) • (6,359) (3.384)
Change in lair value on interest rate.svraps . 6,418 • 1,337 47 . • . 7,802

(Decrease) increase in unrestricted net assets $  (69) 5  44,086 S  1,780 i  191 $  1,220 S 701 S  23,231 $  (6,356) %  64,764
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Dartmouth-

DH Obligated
Group

Ail Other Non-

Obllg Group
Health

System
(in thousands of dollars) Hitchcock Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Unrestricted revenue and other support
Net patient service revenue, net of contractual allowances and discounts $  1,387,677 S 1,387,677 $ 302,159 $ (561) S 1,689,275
Provisions for bad debts 41,072 41,072 14,049 - 55,121

Net patient service revenue less provisions for bad debts $  1,346.605 S 1,346,605 S 288,110 S (561) $ 1,634,154
Contracted revenue 63.188 63,188 2,794 . 65,982

Other operating revenue 69.902 69,902 16,994 (4.544) 82,352

Net assets released from restrictions 7,928 7.928 1,291 . 9,219

Total unrestricted revenue and other support 1,487,623 1,487.623 309,189 (5.105) 1,791.707

Operating expenses

Salaries 731,721 731,721 126,108 14,636 872,465

Employee benefits 197,050 197,050 34,824 2,533 234,407
Medical supplies and medications- 236,918 236,918 72,896 . 309,814

Purchased services and other 208,763 208,763 68,582 (22,204) 255,141

Medlcaid enhancement tax 46,078 46,078 12,487 . 58,565

Depreciation and amortization 62,348 62,348 18,646 - 80,994
Interest 16,821 16,821 2,480 - 19,301

Total operating expenses 1,499,699 1,499,699 336,023 (5,035) 1,830,687

Operating (loss) margin (12,076) (12,076) (26,834) (70) (38,980)

Nonoperatlng (losses) gains
Investment losses (18,537) (18,537) (1,566) - (20,103)
Other, net (3,789) (3,789) (56) - (3,845)
Contribution revenue from acquisition - - 18,014 69 18,083

Total nonoperatlng (losses) gains, net (22,326) (22,326) -  16,392 69 (5,865)

Deficiency of revenue over expenses (34,402) (34,402) (10,442) (1) .  (44.845)

Unrestricted net assets

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 6) 1,994 1,994 1,254 - 3,248

Change in funded status of pension and other

postretirement benefits (52,262) (52,262) (14,279) -  - (66,541)
Net assets transferred (from) to affiliates (22,558) (22,558) 22,558 - -

Additional paid in capital - 12,793 (12,793) -

Change in fair value on interest rate swaps (4,907) (4.907) (966) •- (5,873)

(Decrease) increase in unrestricted net assets %  (112,135) $ (112,135) s 10,918 $ (12,794) $ (114,011)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets
Year Ended June 30, 2016

H«atth

D-HH D-H and Cheshira and NLH and MAHHCand System
pn thousands of doBars) (Parent) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Eliminations Consolidated

Unrestricted revenue acxi other support
Net patient service revenue, net of contraduaf allowances arxi discounts $ $  1,387.677 $  171,620 $  61,740 $  47,680 S 21,119 $  (561) S  1,689,275
Provisiorts for bad debts - 41,072 9,833 1,951 1,249 1,016 55,121
Net patient service revenue less provisions for bad debts - 1,346,605 161,787 59,789 46,431 20,103 (561) 1,634,154

Contracted revenue 1,696 64,286 . . . 65.962
Other operating revenue 3,300 71,475 3,187 3,509 4,555 . 870 (4,544) 82,352
Net assets released from restrictions - 8,713 322 65 119 . . 9.219

Total unrestricted revenue and other support 4,996 1,491,079 165,296 63,363 51.105 20,973 (5.105) 1,791,707

Operating expenses
Salaries 730 732,393 60,406 29,873 24,019 10,408 14,636 872,465

Employee benefits 219 197,165 19,276 6,824 6,260 2,130 2,533 234.407
Medical supplies artd medications - 236,918 59,121 6,597 4.246 2,932 - 309,814

Purchased services and other 22,506 211,611 14,020 12,876 11,955 4,377 (22,204) 255,141

Medicaid enhancement tax - 46,078 7,132 2,808 1,707 840 . 58,565
Depredation artd aiiwrtization 15 62,348 11,069 4,674 2,345 543 . 80,994

Interest - 16.821 1.046 823 467 144 . 19.301

Total operating expenses 23.470 1,503,334 172,070 64,475 50,999 21.374 (5.035) 1,830,687

Operating (loss) margin (18.4741 (12.255) (6.774) (1.112) 106 (401) ■  (70) (38.980)

Nonoperating gains (losses)
Investment (losses) gains (1.027) (18,848) (1.075) 627 (15) 235 - (20,103)
Other, net (529) (3.647) • 57 205 • 69 (3,845)
Contribution revenue from acquisition 18.083 • • . . • - 18,083

Total nonoperating (losses) gairts, net 16,527 (22.495) (1.075) 684 190 235 69 (5.865)

(Defidency) excess of revenue over expenses (1,947) (34,750) (7,849) (428) 296 (166) (1) (44,845)

Unrestricted net assets

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 8) . 2.185 107 23 586 347 3,248

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits ■ (52,262) (12,982) • (1.297) - . (66,541)
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 4.475 (22,558) - . - 16.063 -

.

Additional paid in capital 12,793 - - . . (12,793) .

Change in fair value on interest rate swaps , (4,907) - (1.115) 149 - •  . (5.873)

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets S  15,321 S  (112,292) $  (20,724) S  (1.520) S  (266) % 18,264 $  (12.794) S  (114,011)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in unrestricted net assets of
D-HH and subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-HH and
subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared on the
accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements, the consolidating
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements
and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2017

Federal Program

Other Sponsored Projects

U^. Department of Agrlcultiite

Distance Learning and Telemei&ine Loans and Grants

CKstance Learning and Telemerficine Loans and Grants

Subtotal 10.685

Total U.i Department of Agriculture
U.S. Department of Justice •

Crime Victim Assistance

Crime Victim Assistance

Subtotal 16.575

Impnmng the Investigation and Prosecution of Chid Abuse and the

Regional and Local Chidren's Advocacy Centers

Total U.S. Department of Justice

National Endowment for the Humanities

Promotion of the Arts Partnership Agreements

Total National Endowment for the Humanities

Department of KeaKh and Human Series

Envirpnmental PiAfic Health and Emergency Response '

Hospital Preparedness Program (HPP) and Pirtific Health Emergency

Preparedness (PHEP)

Maternal and Chid Healtir Federal Consofidated Programs

Coordinated Services and Access to Research for Women, Infants, ChBdren

TeleheaBh Programs

Substance Abuse and Menbl Health Services Projects of

Regional and National Signiticance

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Projects of

Regional and National Significance

Subtotal 93.243

CFDA Award numberfpass-through

number identiTication nimiber Funding source

10.855

10.855

16.575

16.575

16.758

45.025

93.070

93.074

93.110

93.153

93.211

93.243

93.243

NH0713^17

NH0713Vt17

2016185

Not Provided

Not Provided

9495,9496,9497

UE1EH001046

U90TP000535,

H30MC24048

5H12HA24881-OJOO

H2AfiH26029

03420^17028S

03420-171055

Direct

Direct

Pass-Through

•  Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Throu^

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Thnjugh

Pass-through Total

entity expenditures

230,792

275,860

506,652

506,652

(1)

(2)

(7)

{3}

(31

(4)

(5}

(6)

(6)

156,203

19,313

175,516

19.607

195,323

7,648

7,648

11,063

66,180

21,166

333,864

180,484

103,9n

4,480

108.453

Amount passed
through to

subrecipients

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2017

CFDA Award numberfpass-through Pass-through Total

Federal Program number identification number Funding source entity expenditures

Immunizabon Cooperative Agreements 93.268 H23IP000757 Pass-Through (3) . 9.900

Drug Free Communities Support Program Grants 93.276 1H79SP020382 Direct 173.209

Centers for Disease Control and Prevenfion: Investigations, Techrwal Assistance 93.283 03420^G64653 Pass-Through .  (6) 718

Centers for Disease Control and Prevenfion: Investigafions, Techrucal Assistance 93i83 03420-LG64S4 Pass-Through (61 ^ 645

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Investigations. Techrucal Assistance • 93.283 Not Provided Pass-Through (3) 11.025

Subtotal 93.283 12,388

National Slate Based Tobacco Control Programs 93.305 03421W951S Pass-Through (6) 97,249

Parb^erslups to Improve Community Healfii 93.331 NU58DP005821' Direct 358,117

Healthcare Innovation Awards (HCIA) 93.610 GT-32013^ Chrect 305,238

Preventive Health and Health Services Bfock Grant 93.758 B0tOT009037 Pass-Through (3) 31,227

Organized Approaches to Increase Coforectal Cancer Screening 93.800 1NU58DP006086 f^rect 847,204

Hospital Preparedness Program (KPP) Ebola Preparedness and Response 93.817 0342«755$ Pass-Through (6) 257

National ̂ terrorism Hospital Prepareifoess Program 93.889 Not Provided Pass-Through (3) 16,818

National ̂ terrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 Not Provided Pass-Through (3) 63,697

National Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 03420«880S Pass-Through (6) 27,296

National Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 Not Provided Pass-Through 20,186

Subtotal 93.889 127.997

Rural Healtir Care Services Outreach. Rural Health Network Development and

Small Heattii Care Provider Quafity Improvement Program 93.912 G20RH26396 Krect 51.681

Grants to Provide Oufoatient Early Intervention Services with Respect to ■

Hh/Disease 93.918 2H76HA0081M2-01 Pass-Through (51 300,527

Bfock Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse 93.959 T1010035-14 Pass-Through (3) 71,328

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Muse 93.959 TI010035-14 Pass-Through (31 82,875

Block Grants for Prevenfion and Treatment of Sifostance Abuse 93.959 03420^826S Pass-Through (61 45,000

Block Grants for Prevenfion and Treatment of Sitostance Abuse 93.959 03420^160376 Pass-Through (61 53,843

Subtotal 93.959 253,046

Maternal and Chid Health Services Bfock Grant to the States 93.994 Not Provided Pass-Through (31 118,546

Amount passed
ttirough to

subrecipients

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2017

Amount passed
CFDA Award number/pass-through Pass-through Total through to

Federal Program number Identification number Funding source entity eipendituras subrecipients

Me(ficaid Ctusler

Medcal Assistance Program 93.n8 OS9W7-470010-52010000 Pass-Through (3) 342,360

Medical Assistance Program 93.778 05^W8^101&-33170000 Pass-Through (3) 2,903,233

Medkai Assistance Progran 93.778 0595^-920010-7143 Pass-Through (3) 49,199

Medical Assist Program 93.778 03410-1535 Pass-Through (6) 7.759
Total Medkaid Cluster 3,302,551

Total U.S Department of Health and Human Services 6,712,347

Total Federal Ottier Sponsored Projects 7,421,970

Researct^ and Development Ctuster

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Research on Heaflhcare Costs, QuaEty and Outcomes 93226 1P30HS024403 Dired 1,249,742 90,014

Totd U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 1,249,742 90,014

Total Reseach and Development 1,249.742 90,014

Total Federal Awards $  8,671,712 $  90,014

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2017

1. Basts of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") presents the
activity of federal award programs administered by Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
(the "Health System") as defined In the notes to the consolidated financial statements and is
presented on an accrual basis. The purpose of this schedule is to present a summary of those
activities of the Health System for the year ended June 30, 2017 which have been financed by the
United States government ("federal awards"). For purposes of this Schedule, federal awards
include all federal assistance entered into directly between the Health System and the federal
government and subawards from nonfederal organizations made under federally sponsored
agreements. The information in this Schedule in presented in accordance with the requirements
of Uniform Guidance, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-profit Organizations. Pass-
through entity identification numbers and CFDA numbers have been provided where available.

The Health System acquired Visiting Nurse and Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire
("VNH") on July 16, 2016. The results of VNH's operations have been included in the Health
System's consolidated financial results'as of June 30, 2017. The accompanying Schedule
excludes federal expenditures of VNH. VNH is subject to a stand-alone Uniform Guidance audit.

2. Indirect Expenses

Indirect costs are charged to certain federal grants and contracts at a federally approved
predetermined indirect rate, negotiated with the Division of Cost Allocation. The predetermined
rate provided for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 29.3%, as such, the 10% de minimis cost
rate, as described in Section 200.414 of the Uniform Guidance, is not applicable to the Health
System. Indirect costs are included in the reported federal expenditures.

3. Related Party Transactions

The Health System has an affiliation agreement with Dartmouth College dated June 4, 1996 in
which the Health System and the Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth College affirm their
mutual commitment to providing high quality medical care, medical education and medical research
at both organizations. Pursuant to this affiliation agreement, certain clinical faculty of the Health
System participate in federal research programs administered by Dartmouth College. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, Health System expenditures, which Dartmouth College
reimbursed, totaled $7,497,745. Based on the nature of these transactions, the Health System and
Dartmouth College do not view these arrangements to be subrecipient transactions but rather view
them as Dartmouth College activity. Accordingly, this activity does not appear in the Health
System's schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30, 2017.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance

and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with

Government Auditing Standards

T0 the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries (the "Health System'), which comprise the consolidated

balance sheet as of June 30,2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net

assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial

statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 17, 2017. Our report includes a

reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of Alice Peck Day Hospital, as described

in our report on the Health System's financial statements. The financial statements of Alice Peck Day

Hospital were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the Health

System's internal control over financial reporting ("Internal control') to determine the audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated

financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health

System's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health

System's intemal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a

combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there Is a reasonable possibility that a material

misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a

timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged

with govemance.

PricewaterhouseCoopcrs LLP, loi Seaport Blvd., Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, \\'\nv.p\vc.coni/us
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of.this

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material

weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material

weaknesses may exist that have not been.Identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Health System's consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain

provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a

direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an

opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not

express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other

matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's

intemal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with

Government Auditing Standards in considering the Health System's internal control and compliance.

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2017
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance with Requirements

That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over

Compliance in Accordance with the 0MB Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries' (the "Health System") compliance with the

types of compliance requirements described In the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct

and material effect on each of the Health System's major federal programs for the year ended June 30,

2017. The Health System's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results

section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

The Health System's consolidated financial statements include the operations of Visiting Nurse and

Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire ("VNH"), which expended $2,800,000 in federal awards which is

not included in the Health System's Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards during the year ended

June 30, 2017. Our audit, described below, does not Include the federal expenditures associated with

VNH because these were audited by another firm and for which a separate Uniform Guidance report was

issued.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions

of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility Is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Health System's major federal

programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted

our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued

by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal

Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for

Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of

compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal

program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Health System's

compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in

the'circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal

program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Health System's compliance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Blvd., Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, ww.pwc.coni/us
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries complied, in all material respects, with the types
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major
federal programs for the year ended June 30,2017.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Health System is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control

over compliance vrith the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing

our audit of compliance, we considered the Health System's internal control over compliance with the

types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to

determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over

compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Health System's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in intemal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a

federal program on,a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,,

or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable

possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not

be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in intemal control over

compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type

of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal

control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with govemance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the ftrst

paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in intemal control over

compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any

deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,

material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on intemal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing

of intemal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform

Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts

November 17, 2017
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2017

I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued

Internal control over financial reporting

Material weakness (es) identified?
Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?
Noncompliance material to financial statements

Federal Awards

Intemal control over major programs

Material weakness (es) identified?
Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major programs

Audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

Identification of major program

CFDA Number

93.778

93.226

93.918

Unmodified

No

None reported
No

No

None reported

Unmodified

No

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Medical Assistance Program

Research on Healthcare Costs, Quality and
Outcomes

Grants to Provide Outpatient Early Intervention
Services with Respect to HIV Disease

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

$750,000

Yes

Financial Statement Findings
None noted.

Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Summary Schedule of the Status of Prior Audit Findings
Year Ended June 30, 2017

IV. Status of Prior Audit Findings

Finding 2016-001

Cash Reconciiiatlon - Significant Deficiency

Condition

During Fiscal 2016, Dartmouth-Hitchcock implemented Epic and also changed its primary banking
relationship and underlying lockbox system. As a result of these initiatives, Dartmouth-Hitchcock
was unable to reconcile its cash accounts on a timely basis throughout the year.

Criteria

The Dartmouth-Hitchcock is expected to maintain sufficient controls for purposes of mitigating
material misstatements within the System's financial statements based on criteria established by the
COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) intemal control
framework.

Cause

As a result of the Epic implementation, change in primary banking relationship and underlying
lockbox system, Dartmouth-Hitchcock experienced significant information technology issues related
to the configuration of how cash postings were processed in the general ledger.

Effect
Dartmouth-Hitchcock was unable to reconcile its cash accounts on a timely basis throughout the
year. The process to reconcile cash required a significant investment of time and a redirection of
resources from other responsibilities.

Questioned Costs ^
None noted.

Recommendation

PwC recommended that we Investigate and resolve the underlying root causes contributing to delays
in reconciling cash such that cash reconciliations can be completed on a timely basis going forward.

Status

Management updated there internal control structure surrounding cash reconciliation processes and
was able to reconcile cash as of June 30, 2017.
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COOPEIiATIVE PROJECT AGREEMENT

between the

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE, Department of Justice
and the

Univcrsit>'ofNe\v Hampshire of the UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

A. This Cooperative Project Agreement (hereinafter "Project Agreement") is entered into by the Slate of
New Hampshire, Department of Justice, (hereinafter "State"), and the University System of New
Hampshire, acting through University of New Hampshire, (hereinafter "Campus"), for the purpose of
undertaking a project of mutual interest. This Cooperative Project shall be carried out under the terms
and conditions of the Master Agreement for Cooperative Projects between the State of New Hampshire
and the University System of New Hampshire dated November 13, 2002, except as may be modified
herein.

B. This Project Agreement and all obligations of the parlies hereunder shall beconne effective on the date
the Governor and Executive Council of the State of.New Hampshire approve this Project Agreement
("Effective date") and shall end on 9/30/20. If the provision of services by Campus precedes the
Effective date, all services performed by Campus shall be performed at the sole risk of Campus and in
the event that this Project Agreement does not become efTective, State shall be under no obligation to
pay Campus for costs incurred or services performed; however, if this Project Agreement becomes
effective, all costs incurred prior to the Effective date that would otherwise be allowable shall be paid
under the terms of this Project Agreement.

C. The work to be performed under the terms of this Project Agreement is described in the proposal
identified below and attached to this document as Exhibit A, the content of which is incorporated herein
as a part of this Project Agreement.

Project Title: VOCA - uSafcUS Technolog)' Enhancements

D. The Following Individuals are designated as Project Administrators. These Project Administrators shall
be responsible for the business aspects of this Project Agreement and all invoices, payments, project
amendments and related correspondence shall be directed to the individuals so designated.

State Project Administrator

Name: Kathleen Carr

Address: New Hampshire Department of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord NH 03301-6397

Phone: 603-271-3658

Campus Project Administrator

Name: Susan Sosa
Address: University of New Hampshire

Sponsored Programs Administration
51 College Rd. Rm 1 16
Durham, NH 03824

Phone: 603-862-4848

E. The Following Individuals are designated as Project Directors. These Project Directors shall be
responsible for the technical leadership and conduct of the project. All progress reports, completion
reports and related correspondence shall be directed to the individuals so designated.

State Proiect Director Campus Project Director

Name: Tanya Pitman

Address: New Hampshire Deparlmeni of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord NH 03301-6397 .

Name: Shar^m Potter

Address: Prevention Innovations Research Ctr

9 Madbury Road, Ste. 405
Durham, NH 03824

Phone: 603-271-1261 Phone: 603-862-3630

Pimc 1 i)f5

Campus Authorized Official
Date 4/Z7/20



F. Total State funds in the amount of $13,460.70 have been allotted and are available for payment of
allowable costs incurred under this Project Agreement. State will not reimburse Campus for costs
exceeding the amount specified in this paragraph.

Check if applicable

^ Campus will cost-share 20 % of total costs during the term of this Project Agreement.

^ Federal funds paid to Campus under this Project Agreement are from Grant/Contract/Cooperative
Agreement No. 2017-VA-GX-0044 from the Office for Victims of Crime under CFDA# 16.575.
Federal regulations required to be passed through to Campus as part of this Project Agreement, and
in accordance with the Master Agreement for Cooperative Projects between the State of New
Flampshire and the University System of New Hampshire dated November 13, 2002, are attached
to this document as Exhibit B, the content of which is incorporated herein as a part of this Project
Agreement.

G. Check if applicable

F~| Article(s) of the Master Agreement for Cooperative Projects between the State of New
Hampshire and the University System of New Hampshire dated November 13, 2002 is/are hereby
amended to read:

H. ̂  State has chosen not to take possession of equipment purchased under this Project Agreement.
rn State has chosen to take possession of equipment purchased under this Project Agreement and will
issue instructions for the disposition of such equipment within 90 days of the Project Agreement's end-
date. Any expenses incurred by Campus in carrying out State's requested disposition will be fully
reimbursed by State.

This Project Agreement and the Master Agreement constitute the entire agreement between State and
Campus regarding this Cooperative Project, and supersede and replace any previously existing
arrangements, oral or written; all changes herein must be made by \vritten amendment and executed for the
parties by their authorized officials.

IN WITNESS WHEREOI;, the University System of New Hampshire, acting through the
University of New Hampshire and the State of New Hampshire, Department of Justice have executed
this Project Agreement.

By An Authorized Official of:
University of New Hampshire
Name: Karen Jensen

TitleiDirector, Sponsored. Programs Administration

Signature and Date:
kjHyZh JeWfl 4/27/20

By An Authorized OfTicial of: the New
Hampshire Office of the Attorney General
Name: Takhmina Rakhmatova

Title: Attorney

Signature and Date:
04/28/2020

By An Authorized Official of:
the New Hampshire Department of Justice
Name: Kathleen Carr
Title: Director of Administration
Signature and Date:

By An Authorized Official of: the New
Hampshire Governor & Executive Council
Name:
Title:

Si^aibo

Signature and Date:
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EXHIBIT A

A. Project Title: VOCA-uSafeUS

B. Project Period: 7/1/2020-9/30/2020

C. Objectives: uSafcUS Technology Enhancement.

D. Scope of Work:
1. University ofNevv Hampshire as Subrecipient shall receive a subgranl from the New Hampshire
Department of Justice (DOJ) for expenses incurred for technology enhancements to:
a) to collect uSafeUS data to understand which 'Tind Help'" services victims find most useful and how
they prefer to access information about these services (by web or phone contact).
b) Expand the uSafeUS functionality of the GPS feature in "Expect Me" to provide a GPS last location to
user designated contacts, should a user fail to arrive or be contactable.
c) To understand which of the three main uSafeUS categories are most used by victims and supporters by
tracking usage of information within the three "Helpful Ansvver" categories (sexual assault, dating
violence, stalking).

2. Subrecipient is required to maintain supporting documentation for all grant expenses both state
funds and match if provided and to produce those documents upon request of this office or any other state
or federal audit authority. Grant project supporting documentation should be maintained for at least 3
years after the close of the federal grant. • . . -

3. Subrecipient shall be subject to periodic desk audits and-program reviews by DOJ. Such desk
audits and program reviews shall be scheduled with Subrecipient and every attempt shall be made by
Subrecipient to accommodate the schedule.

4. All correspondence and submittals shall be directed to:
NH Department of Justice
Grants Management Unit
33 Capitol Street
Concord, NH 03301

603-27l-i26lorTanya.Pitman@doj.nh.gov.

E. Deliverables Schedule: Ouartefly performance reports are due four weeks following the end of each
quarter or on a schedule in which the grant administrator provides.

F. Budget and Invoicing Instructions:
1. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed by the DOJ based on budgeted expenditures described herein.

2. The Subrecipient shall submit incurred expenses for reimbursement on the state approved expenditure
reporting form as provided. Expenditure reports shall be submitted,on a quarterly basis, within fifteen (15)
days following the end of the current quarterly activities. Expenditure reports submitted later than thirty
(30) days following the end of the quarter will be considered late and out of compliance. For example,
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with an award that'begins on January 1. the first quarterly report is due on April 15th or 15 days after the
close of the first quarter ending on March 31.

3. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed within thirty (30) days following the DOJ's approval of
expenditures. Said payment shall be made to the Subrecipient's account receivables address per the
Financial System of the State of New Hampshire.

4. The State's obligation to compensate the Subrecipient under this Agreement shall not exceed the price
limitation set forth in section F of this agreement.

4a. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $ 13,460.70 of the total Grant Limitation
from Governor and Council approval or 07/01/20, whichever is later, to 09/30/20, with approved
expenditure reports. This shall be contingent on continued federal funding and program performance.

5. Neither the Subrecipient nor DOJ will be responsible for any expenses or costs incurred under this
agreement prior to Governor and Council approval, nor after 9/30/20.
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EXHIBIT B

This Project Agreement is funded under a Grant/Contract/Cooperalive Agreement to State from the Federal
sponsor specified in Project Agreement article F. All applicable requirements, regulations, provisions, terms
and conditions of this Federal Grant/Conlracl/Cooperalive Agreement are hereby adopted in full force and
effect to the relationship between State and Campus, except that wherever such requirements, regulations,
provisions and terms and conditions differ for INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION, the
appropriate requirements should be substituted (e.g.,. OlVlB Circulars A-21 and A-1 10, rather than 0MB
Circulars A-87 and A-102). References to Contractor or Recipient in the Federal language will be taken
to mean Campus; references to the Government or Federal Awarding Agency will be taken to mean
Government/Federal Awarding Agency or State or both, as appropriate.

Special Federal provisions are listed here: n None or Uniform Guidance issued by the Office of
Management and Budget (0MB) In lieu of Circulars listed in paragraph above. Subrecipients shall
be compliant at all times with the terms, conditions and specifications detailed in the VOCA Federal
Grant Program Rule and the attached Special Conditions at Exhibit C which are subject to annual
review and certifications at exhibits D-F .
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GRANT AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampahirc and the Subrecipient hereby
Mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Identification and Definitionf.

1.1. State Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Justice

1.2. State Agency Address

33 Capitol Street, Concord, NH 03301

1.3. Subrecipient Name

Claremont Police Department

1.4. Subrecipient Address

58 Opera House Square, Claremont, NH 03743

1.5 Sidrrec^ient Phone 0

(603)504-0208

1.6. Account Number

02-20.20-201510-5021 -072-5

00574

1.7. Conq)letion Date

09/30/2022

1.8. Grant Limitation

s

222,143.00

1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency

Thomas Kaempfer

1.10. State Agency Telqihone Number

(603)271-3658

"By signing this form we certify that we have complied with an
including if applicable RSA 31:9S-b."

' public meeting requirement for acceptance of this grant.

1.11. Subrecipient Signature 1

Su^ecipient Signature 2 IfAppUcai

1.12! Name & Title of Subrecipient Signer 1

Name & Title of Subrecipient Signor 2 ̂Appll

I Cj

1.13. Acknewedgmenn State of New Hampshire, County of
, before the undersigned ofTiccr, personally appeared the person identified in block 1.12., known to me (or

satisfactorily proven) to be the person whose name is sign^ in block 1.11., and acknowledged that he/she executed this
document in Ae capacity indicated in block 1.12.

1.13.1. Signature ofNotary Public or Justice of the Peace

(Seal)

1.13.2. Name A Title ofNotary Public or Justice of the Peace

1.14. State Agency Sigtuture(8) 1.15. Name & Title of State Agency SigDar(s)

1.16. Approval by Attorney General (Form, Sidistance and Execution) (if 0 A C ai^roval required)

AssistantAttomeyGeacral,On: / /

1.17. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable)

By: On: / /

2.SC0PE OF WORK: In exchange for grant Amds provided by the State of New Han^shire, acting through the Agency
identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as *nbe State"). ̂  Subrecipient identified in block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as
"the Subrecipient"), sh^l perform that work identified and more particularly described in the scope of work attached hereto as
EXHIBIT A (the scope ofwork being hereinafter refored to as Project").
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3. AREA COVERED. Except u otherwise speciEcaUy provided for herein, the 92.
Subrecipient shall perform the Project in, a^ with re^rect to, the State of New
Hampshire.

4. EFFECTTVE DATE: COMPLETION OF PROJECT. .

4.1. This Agreement, tod all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become 92.
effective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the Oovemor
and Council of the Sute of New Hangishije if required (block 1.17), or upon 9.4.
signature try the State Agency u shown in block 1.14 ("the effective date").

42. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Project, includbg all
reports required by this Agreement, shall be coo^leted in ITS entirety prior to
the date in block 1.7 (hereinafter referred to as "the Completion Date").

5. GRANT AMOUNT: HMUATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS: PAYMENT. 9.S.

S.l. The Grant Amount is identified aixl more particularly described in EXHIBIT B,
'attached hereto. 10.

S2. The manner of, and schedule ofpayment «K«II be as set forth in EXHIBIT B.
5.3. In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT B, and in consideTatioo

of the satisfietory performance of the Project, u determined by the State, and aa
limited by subpaxagraph 5.5 of tiiese genera! provisions, the State shall pay the
Subrecipient the Grant Amotut. The State ahali withhold fiom the amount
othawise payable to the Subrecipient under this subparagnpb 5.3 those sums
required, or permitted, to be withheld pursuant to N.H. RSA 80:7 through 7-c.

5.4. The payment by the State of the Grant amount shall be the only, and the
complete payment to the Subrecipient for aU expenses, of whatever nature, 11.
incurred by the Subreeipient in the performance hereof, and shall be the only, 11.1.
and the coQq)lete, compensation to the Subrecipient for the Project The State
shall have no liabilities to the Subrec^ient other than the Grant Amount

5.5. Notwithstanding anything in diis Agreement to the contrary, and 11.1.1
notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all 11.1.2
payments authorized, or actually made, hereunder exceed tiie Grant limitation 11.1.3
set forth in block 1.8 of these general provisions. 11.1.4

6. COMPLIANCE BY SUBRECIPIENT WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS. 11.2.

In connection with the performance of the Project, the Subrecipient shall comply
with all statutes, laws regulations, and ordeis of federal, state, county, or 112.1
municipal authorities which shall impoae any obligations or duty upon the
Subrecipient, inctuding the acquisition of any and all necessary permits.
RECORDS at>d ACCOUNTS.

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Conqilctioo
Date the Subrecipient shall keep detailed accounu of all expenses incurred in 11.22
coimectioo with the Project, including, but not limited to, coats of
admirusttation, tran^ortation, insurance, telephone calls, and clerical materials
and services. Such accounts shall be supported by receipts, iovoices, bills and
other similar documents.

Between the Effective Date and the date three (3) years after the Conqtletion
Date, at any time during the Subrecipient's normal business boun, and as often 11.2.3
as the State shall demand, the Subrecipient shall make available to the State all
records pertaining to matten covered by this Agreement The SulirBcipient shall 11.2.4
pemit the State to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make
audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of peraooncl, data 12.
(as that term is hereinafter defined), and other information relating to matters 111.
covered by (hit Agreement. As used in this paragraph, "Subredpieot" includes
all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or uitder common
ownership with, the entity identified as the Subrecipient in block 1.3 of these
provisions
PERSONNEL

Tbe Subrecipient shall, at its own eiqtense, provide all personnel necessary to 112.
perform tise Project. The Subrecipient warrants that all personnel engaged in the
Project shall be qualified to paform such Project, and shall be jnx^perly licensed
and authorized to perform such Project under all applicable laws.
The Subrecipient shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor, 12.3.
subgrantcc, or otho person, finn or corporation with «bom it is engaged in a
combined effort to perform tbe Project, to hire any person who has a contractual
relationship with tiie State, or who is a State officer or enqtloyee, elected or
appointed.
Ibe Grant Officer shall be die representative of the State hereunder. Intheevent 12.4.
of any dispute hereuixler. the interpretation of this Agreement by tbe Grant
Officer, and hia/her decision on any dispute, shall be ftnai.

'  9. DATA: RETENTION OF DATA: ACCESS.
9.1. As used in this Agreement, tbe word "data" shall mean all information and 13.

things developed or obtained during tbe performance of, or acquired or
developed by reason of, this Agreementi inching, but not limitivt to, all studies,
reports, files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, gr^hic representations,
computer programs, computer printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

8.

8.1.

82.

83.

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Subrecipient shall
grant to tbe State, or any person designated by it, unrestricted access to all data
for examination, duplication, publication, translation, sale, disposal, or for any
other purpose whatsoever.
No data ihall be subject to copyright in tbe United States or any other country by
anyone other than die State.
On and after tbe Effective Date all data, and any property Miich has been
received from the State or purchased with funds provided for diat purpose under
this Agreement, shall be the property of tbe State, awl ibsU be returned to the
State upon demand or upon termination of this Agreement for any reason,
whichever shall first occur.

Tbe State, and anyone it shall designate,' shall have unrestricted authority to
publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, all data.
CONDITIONAL NATURE OR AGREEMENT. Notwithstanding anything m
this Agreement to the contrary, all obligatioas of tbe State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are contingent upon
the availability or continued qiprt^riation of ftmds, and in iw event «h«ii the
State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of such available or
appf^Miated f^tnds. In the event of a reduction or termination of those ftmds, the
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such fimds become
available, if ever, and shall have tbe rî t to terminate this Agreement
immediately upon giving the Subrecipient notice of such termination.
EVENT OF DEFAULT: REMEDIES.

Any one or more of tbe following acts or omissions of the Subrecipient shall
constitute an event of default hereunder (hereinafler referred to as "Events of
Defauh"):
Failure to perform tbe Project satis&ctorily or on schedule; or
Failure to submit any report required hereunder; or
Failure to maintain, or permit access to, tbe records required bereunden or
Failure to perform any oftbe otho^ covenants and conditions ofthis Agreement
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may take any one, or
more, or all, of the following actions:
Give the Subrecipient a written notice qmi^ing tbe Event of Defauh and
requiring it to be remedied wititin, in tbe absence of a greater or lesser
specification of time, thirty (30) days from the date of the notice; and if tbe
Event of Default is not timdy remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Submipient notice of termination; and
Give tite Subrecipient a umttec notice specifying tbe Event of Defauh and
suspending all payments to be made under this Agreement and ordering that the
portion of the Grant Amount which would otherwise accrue to the Subrecipient
during the period from the date of such imtice until such tiroe as the State
determines that tbe Subrecipient has cured tbe Event of Default shaU never be
paid to tbe Subrec^ieot; and
Set off against ny other obligation tbe State may owe to tbe Subrecipient any
damages tbe State suffers by reason ofany Event of Default; and
Treat the agreement u breached and punue any of its remedies at law or in
equity, or both.

Intheevent ofany early termination ofthis Agreement for any reason other than
tbe completion of tbe Project, the Subrecipient shall deliver to tbe Grant Officer,
not lata than fifteen (15) days aiW the date of termination, a report (hereinafter
referred to as die Tennination Report") describing in detail iJl Project Work
performed, and the Grant Amount earned, to and including the date of
tenninatioc.

In the event of Tennination under puagiaphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, the approval of such a Tennination Report by tbe State «h«|| atitle
the Subrecipient to receive that portion of the Grant amount earned to and
including the date oftermination.
In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these gmeial
provisions, (he approval of such a TermiiMtioD Rqxirt by the State «h«ll in no
event relieve the Subrecipient from any and all liability for damages sustamed or
incurred by tbe State as a result of the Subrecipient's breach of its obligations
hereunder.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to die contrary, either tbe State or,
except vdiere notice default has been given to the Subrecipient hereunder, tbe
Subrecipient, may terminate this Agreement widwut cause upon durty (30) days
written notice.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST. No officer, member of employee of the
Subrecipioit. and no representative, offiiw or en^loyee of the State of New
Hampshire or of tbe governing body of the locality or localities in which the
Project is to be performed, who exocises any functions or responsibilities in tbe
review or approval of the undertaking or carrying out of such Project, shall
participate in any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his or her
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14.

15.

16.

19.

20.

17.

17.1

17.1.1

17.1.2

penosal interest or the interest of sny coipoiation, pwtnenhip, or usociatioo 17.2.
in which he or the is directly or indirectly interested, nor thall he or the have
any personal or pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the
proceeds thereof.
SUBRECIPIENT'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the performance of thii
Agreement the Subrecipient, its employees, and any subcontractor or
subgnntee of the Subrecipient are in all respects indepcadeni cootrecton, and 18.
are neither agents nor employees ofthe State. Neither the Subrecipient nor any
of its officers, employees, agents, members, subcbntractors or subgrantees,
shall have authority to bind the State nor are they entitled to any of the benefits,
workmen's compensatiaD or emolumoits provided by the State to its
employees.
ASSIGNMENT ANP SUBCONTRAC IS. The Subrecipient shall not assign,
or odterwise transfer any interest in this Agreement without the prior writtoa
consent of the State. None of the Project Work shall be subcontracted or
subgranted by the Subrecipient other than as set forth in Exhibit A without the
prior written consent of the State.
rNDEMNtf lCATlQN. The Subrecipient thall defend, indemnify and hold
bannleas the State, its officers and employees, from and against any and all
losses suflered by the State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties assened againit the State, its officers tad employees, by
or on behalf of any penon, on account of, based on, resuhbg from, arising out 21.
of (or which may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissions of the
Subrec^ient or subcontractor, or lubgrantee or other agent of the Subrecipient
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver of the sovereign iimnuaity of the State, which immunity is
hereby reserved to the State. Tliis covenant ahall survive the termination of
this agreement 22.
INSURANCEANDBOND.

The Subrecipient shall, at its own expense, obtain and twinfiw io force, or 23.
shall require any subcontractor, cubgrantce or assignee performing Project
work to obtain and maintain in force, both, for the benefit of the State, the
following insurance:
Statutory workmen's compensation and enqrioyeet liability insurance for all 24.
employees engaged in the performance of the Project snd
Conqrrehensive public liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries,
death or property damage, io amounts not less $1,000,000 per occurroice
and $2,000,000, aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and
$500,000 for property damage in any one incident; tod

The policies described in subparegraph 17.1 of this paragraph shall be the
standard form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters
acceptable to the State, and audiorized to do business m the State of New
Hampshire. Each policy shall contain a clause prohibiting cancellation or
modification of the policy earlier than ten (10) days after written notice thereof
has been received by the State.
WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the Stale to enforce any provisions
hereof after any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event, or any subsequent Event No express waiver of any Event
of De&ult shall be deemed a waiver of any provisions hereof. No such failure of
waiver shall be deemed a waiver of the rî t of the State to enforce each and all
of the provisions hereof upon any further or other default on the part of the
Sut>rec9icnL
NOTICE Any notice by a party bdvto to the other party shall be deemed to
have been duly delivered or given at the time of mailing by certified mail,
postage prqMid, in a United Sutes Post Office addressed to the parties at the
addresses Gist above given.
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amende^ waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto and only ailer approval
of such amendmcDt, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the
State ofNew Hampshire, if required or by the signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS. This Agreement shall be
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assignees. The captions and contents of die "subject" blank are
used only as a matter of ccnvenieoce, and are not to be considered a part of this
Agreement or to be used in determining the mtecd of die parties hereto.
THIRD PARilfcS. The parties hereto do not intend to benefit any third parties
and this Agreement shall tu>t be construed to confer any such bmefit.
ENi ikE agreement "Huj Agreement, which may be executed in a number
of counterpsita, each of which shall be deemed an origitul, constimtes tbe entire
agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and urrderstandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISJONS. Tbe additional provisions set' forth in Exhibit C
hereto are incorporated as part ofthis agreement
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EXmBITA

-SCOPE OF SERVICES-

1. Claremont Police Department as Subrecipient shall receive a subgrant from the New
Hampshire Department of Justice (DOJ) for expenses incurred and services provided for
direct victim services provided by the subrecipient and members of the Greater
Claremont Area ACERT (GCAA). GCAA is an Adverse Childhood Experiences
Response Team that is a coordinated system of support focused specifically on response
and providing services to children affected by trauma as result of crime. This subgrant is
provided under the Victims of Crime Act Grant.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed by the DOJ based on budgeted expenditures
described in Exhibit B. The Subrecipient shall submit incurred expenses for
reimbursement on the state approved expenditure reporting form as provided.
Expenditure reports shall be submitted on a quarterly basis, within fifteen (15) days
following the end of the current quarterly activities. Expenditure reports submitted later
than thirty (30) days following the end of the quarter will be considered late and out of
con^liance. For example, with an award that begins on January I. the first quarterly
report is due on April 15'* or J 5 days after the close ofthefirst quarter ending on March
31.

3. Subrecipient is required to maintain supporting documentation for all grant expenses both
state funds and match if provided and to produce those documents upon request of this
office or any other state or federal audit authority. Grant project supporting
documentation should be maintained for at least 5 years after the close of the project.

4. Subrecipient shall be required to submit an annual grant application to the DOJ for
review and compliance.

5. Subrecipient shall be subject to periodic desk audits and program reviews by DOJ. Such
desk audits and program reviews shall be scheduled with Subrecipient and every attempt
shall be made by Subrecipient to accommodate the schedule.

6. Alt correspondence and submittals shall be directed to:

NH Department of Justice

Grants Management Unit

33 Capitol Street

Concord, NH 03301

603-271-7820 or Rhonda.Bcaucherain@doj.nh.gov.
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EXHIBITS

-METHOD OF PAYMENT-

1. The Subrecipient shall receive reimburseraent in exchange for approved expenditure
reports as described in EXHIBIT A.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed within thirty (30) days following the DOJ's
approval of expenditures. Said payment shall be made to the Subrecipient's account

receivables address per the Financial System of the State of New Hampshire.

3. The State's obligation to compensate the Subrecipient under this Agreement shall not
exceed the price limitation set forth in form P-37 section 1.8.

3a. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $111,754.51 of

the total Grant Limitation from Governor and Council approval or 07/01/20,
whichever is later, to 06/30/21, with approved expenditure reports. This shall be

contingent on continued federal funding and program performance.

3b. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $110,388.49 of

the total Grant Limitation from 07/01/21 to 06/30/22, with improved expenditure
reports. This shall be contingent on continued federal funding and program
performance.

i. With sufficient reason and under limited circumstances, the

Subrecipient may apply for an extension of the grant period for up to
three months. The Subrecipent must submit the request in writing. No
extension is granted until approval is received by DOJ in writing.

ii. Neither the Subrecipient nor DOJ will be responsible for any expenses
or costs incurred under this agreement prior to Governor and Council
approval, nor after 06/30/22 or 9/30/22 if an extension is approved.
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ExmerT c

-SPECIAL PROVISIONS-

I. Subrecipients shall also be compliant at all times with the terms, conditions and

specifications detailed in the Special Conditions, which are subject to annual review.
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EXmBIT c

2018-V2-GX-0036

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

1. Requirements of the award; remedies for non-compliance or for materially false
statements

The conditions of this award are material requirements of the award. Compliance
with any certifications or assurances submitted by or on behalf of the recipi^t that
relate to conduct during the period of performance also is a material requirement of
this award.

Failure to comply with any one or more of these award requirements — whedier a
condition set out in full below, a condition incorporated by reference below, or a
certification or assurance related to conduct during the award period —may result in
the Office of Justice Programs ("OJP") taking appropriate action with respect to the
recipient and the award. Among other things, the OJP may withhold award funds,
disallow costs, or suspend or terminate the award. The Department of Justice
("DOJ"), including OJP, also may take other legal action as appropriate.
Any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement to the federal government
related to this award (or concealment or omission of a material fact) may be the
subject of criminal prosecution (including under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or 1621, and/or
34 U.S.C. 10271-10273), and also may lead to imposition of civil penalties and
administrative remedies for false claims or otherwise (including under 31 U.S.C.
3729-3730 and 3801-3812).

Should any provision of a requirement of this award be held to be invalid or
unenforceable by its terms, that provision shall fu^t be applied with a limited
construction so as to give it the maximum effect permitted by law. Should it be held,
instead, that the provision is utterly invalid or -unenforceable, such provision shall be
deemed severable from this award.

2. Applicability of Part 200 Uniform Requirements-

The Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
in 2 C;F.R Part 200, as adopted and supplemented by DOJ in 2 C.F.R. Part 2800
(together, the "Part 200 Uniform Requirements") apply to this FY 2018 award from
OJP.

The Part 200 Uniform Requirements were first adopted by DOJ on December 26,
2014. If this FY 2018 award supplements funds previously awarded by OJP under
the same award number (e.g., funds awarded during or before December 2014), the
Part 200 Uniform Requirements apply with respect to all fimds under that award
number

(regardless of the award date, and regardless of whether derived from the initial
award or a supplemental award) that are obligated on or after the acceptance date of
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EXmSITC

this FY 2018 award.

For more information and resources on the Part 200 Uniform Requirements as they
relate to OTP awards and subawards ("subgrants"), see the OJP website at
fattPs://oip.gov/fiinding/Part200UniforTnReQuirements.htm.

Record retention and access: Records pertinent to the award that the recipient (arid
any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier) must retain — typically for a period of 3
years from the date of submission of the Hnal expenditure report (SF 425), unless a
different retention period applies — and to which the recipient (and any subrecipient
("subgrantee") at any tier) must provide access, include performance measurement
information, in addition to the financial records, supporting documents, statistical
records, and other pertinent records indicated at 2 C.F.R. 200.333.

In the event that an award-related question arises from documents or other materials
prepared or distributed by OJP that may appear to conflict with, or differ in some
way from, the provisions of the Part 200 Uniform Requirements, the recipient is to
contact OJP promptly for clarification.

3. Compliance with DOJ Financial Guide
References to the DOJ Grants Financial Guide are to the DOJ Grants Financial Guide

as posted on the OJP website (currently, the "DOJ Grants Financial Guide" available

at https://ojp.gov/financiaIguide/DOJ/index.htm), including any updated version that
may be posted during the period of performance. The subrecipient agrees to comply
with the DOJ Grants Financial Guide.

4. Rcclassification of various statutory provisions to a new Titlc.34 of the United States
Code

On Sepitember 1,2017, various statutory provisions previously codified elsewhere in
the U.S. Code were editorially rcclassified to a new Title 34, entitled "Crime Control
and Law Enforcement." The reclassifrcation encompassed a number of statutory
provisions pertinent to OJP awards (that is, OJP grants arid cooperative agreements),
including many provisions previously codified in Title 42 of the U.S. Code.

Effective as of September 1, 2017, any reference in this award document to a
statutory provision that has been reclassified to the new Title 34 of the U.S. Code is
to be read as a reference to that statutory provision as reclassified to Title 34. This
rule of construction specifically includes references set out in award conditions,
references set out in material incorporated by reference through award conditions,,
and references set out in other award requirements.

5. Requirements related to "de minimis" indirect cost rate
A recipient that is eligible under the Part 200 Uniform Requirements and other
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applicable law to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate described in 2 C.F.R.
200.414(f), and that elects to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate, must advise OJP

. in writing of both its eligibility and its election, and must comply with all associated ,
requirements in the Part 200 Uniform Requirements. The "de minimis" rate may be
applied only to modified total direct costs (MTDC) as defined
by the Part 200 Uniform Requirements.

6. Requirement to report actual or imminent breach of personally identifiable
information (PR)
The recipient (and any "subrecipient" at any tier) must have written'procedures in
place to respond in the event of an actual or imminent "breach" (0MB M-17-12) if it
(or a subrecipient)— 1) creates, collects, uses, processes, stores, maintains,
disseminates, discloses, or disposes of "personally identifiable information (PII)" (2
CFR 200.79) wthin the scope of an OJP grant-funded program or activity, or 2) uses
or operates a "Federal information system" (0MB Circular A-130). The recipient's
breach procedures must include a requirement to report actual or imminent breach of
PII to an OJP Program Manager no later than 24 hours after an occurrence of an
actual breach, or the detection of an imminent breach.

7. All subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization
The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements for authorization of any subaward. This condition applies to
agreements that — for purposes of federal grants administrative requirements — OJP
considers a "subaward" (and therefore docs not consider a procurement
"contract").
The details of the requirement for authorization of any subaward arc postied on the
OJP web site at

https;//ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SubawardAuthorization.htm (Award condition: All
subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization), and arc
incorporated by reference here.

8. Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in any
procurement contract that would exceed $250,000. The Subrecipient at any tier, must
comply with all applicable requirements to obtain specific advance approval to use a
noncompetitive approach in any procurement contract that would exceed the
Simplified Acquisition Threshold (currently, $250,000). This condition applies to
agreements that - for purposes of federal grants administrative requirements - OJP
considers a procurement "contract" (and therefore does not consider a subaward):
The details of the requirement for advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in
a procurement contract under an OJP award are posted on the OJP web site at
http://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/NoncompctitiveProcurement.htm (Award
condition: Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in a
procurement contract (if contract would exceed $250,000)), and are incorporated by
reference here.
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9. Requirements pertaining to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons
(including reporting requirements and OJP authority to terminate award). The
recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements (including requirements to report allegations) pertaining to
prohibited conduct related to the trafficking of persons, whether on the part of
recipients, subrecipients ("subgrantees"), or individuals defined (for purposes of this
condition) as "employees" of the recipient or of any subrecipient. The details of the
recipient's obligations related to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons
are posted on the OJP web site at http://ojp.gov/fimding/Explore/ProhibitcdConduct-
Trafficking.htm (Award condition: Prohibited conduct by recipients and
subrecipients related to trafficking in persons (including reporting requirements and
OJP authority to terminate award)), and arc incorporated by reference here.

10. Compliance with applicable rules regarding tqiproval, planning, and reporting of
conferences, meetings, trainings, and other events.
The subgrantee at any tier, must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, policies,
and official DOJ guidwce (including specific cost limits, prior approval and reporting
requirements, where applicable) governing the use of federal fun^ for expenses
related to conferences (as that term is defined by DOJ), including the provision of food
and/or beverages at such conferences, and costs of attendance at such conferences.
Information on the pertinent DOJ definition of conferences and the rules applicable to
this award appears in the DOJ Grants Financial Guide (currently, as section 3.10 of
"Post-award Requirements" in the "2015 DOJ Grants Financial Guide").

11. Requirement for data on performance and effectiveness under the award
the recipient must collect and maintain data that measure the performance and
effectiveness of activities under this award. The data must be provided to OJP in the
manner (including within the timeframes) specified by OJP in the program solicitation
or other applicable written guidance. Data collection supports compliance with the
Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and the GPRA Modernization Act
of 2010, and other applicable laws.

12. OJP Training Guiding Principles
Any training or training materials that the recipient — or any subrecipient
("subgrantee") at any tier — develops or delivers with OJP award funds must adhere
to the OJP Training Guiding Principles for Grantees and Subgrantees, available at
httPs://oiD.eov/funding/Implement/TrainingPrinciplesForGrantees-Subgrantces.btm

13. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28C.F.R.Part42

The recipient, and any subrecipient (subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 42, specifically including any applicable
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requirements in subpart E of 29 C.F.R. Part 42 that relate to an equal employment
opportunity program.

14. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28 C.F.R. Part 54

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 54, which relates to nondiscrimination on
the basis of sex in certain "education programs."

15. Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination -
28C.F.R.Part38

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable requirements of 28 C.F.R, Part 38, specifically including any applicable

requirements regarding written notice to program beneficiaries and prospective
program beneficiaries. Part 38 of 28 C.F.R., a DOJ regulation, was fended
effective May 4,2016.

Among other things, 28 C.F.R, Part 38 includes rules that prohibit specific forms of
discrimination on the basis of religion, a religious belief, a refusal to hold a religious
belief, or refusal to attend or participate in a religious practice. Part 38 also sets out
rules and requirements that pertain to recipient and subrecipient ("subgrantee")
organizations that engage in or conduct explicitly religious activities, as well as rules

and requirements that pertain to recipients and subrecipients that are faith-based or
religious organizations.

The text of the regulation, now entitled "Partnerships with Faith-Based and Other

Neighborhood Organizations," is available via the Electronic Code of Federal
Regulations (currently accessible at https://wv/w.ecfr.gov/cgi-
bin/ECFR?page=browse), by browsing to Title 28-Judicial Administration, Ch^ter
1, Part 38, under e-CFR "current" data. '

16. Restrictions on "lobbying"

In general, as a matter of federal law, federal funds awarded by OJP may not be used
by the subrecipient at any tier, either directly or indirectly, to support or oppose the
enactment, repeal, modification, or adoption of any law, regulation, or policy, at any
level of government. See 18 U.S.C. 1913. (There may be exceptions if an applicable
federal statute specifically authorizes certain activities that otherwise would be barred
by law.)

Another federal law generally prohibits funds awarded by OJP from being used by the
recipient, or any subrecipient at any tier, to pay any person to influence (or attempt/to
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influence) a federal agency, a Member of Congress, or Congress (or an official or
en:^)loyec of any of them) with respect to the awarding of federal grant or cooperative
agreement, subgrant, contract, subcontract, or loan with respect to actions such as
renewing, extending, or modifying any such award. See 31 U.S.C. 1352. Certain
exceptions to this law, including exception that applies to Indian Tribes and tribal
Organizations.

Should any questions arise to whether a particular use of funds by a recipient (or
subrecipient) would or might fall within the scope of these prohibitions, the recipient is
to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without the express prior written
approval of OJP.

The Subrecipient assures that no federal VOCA funds or match funds have been paid
or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Subrecipient, to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of congress in
connection with the making of any Federal grant, the entering into of any cooperative
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of
any Federal grant or cooperative agreement. If any funds other than Federal
appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with this Federal grant or cooperative agreement, the Subrecipient shall
complete and submit Standard Form - LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying Activities," in
accordance with its instructions.

17. Compliance with general appropriations-law restrictions on the use of federal funds
(FY2018)
The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all
applicable restrictions on the use of federal funds set out in federal appropriations
statutes. Pertinent restrictions, including from various "general provisions" in the
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018, are set out at

https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/FY 18AppropriationsRestrictions.htm, and arc
incorporated by reference here.

Should a question arise as to whether a particular use of federal funds by a recipient
(or a subrecipient) would or might fall within the scope of an appropriations-law
restriction, the recipient is to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without
the express prior written approval of OJP.

18. Reporting potential fraud, waste and abuse and similar misconduct.
The recipient and any subrecipicnts ("subgrantees") must promptly refer to the DOJ
Office of the Inspector General (OIG) any credible evidence that a principal,
employee, agent, subrecipient, contractor, subcontractor, or other person has, in
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connection with fiinds under this award - (1) submitted a claim that violates the
False Claims Act; or (2) committed a criminal or civil violation of laws pertaining to
fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct.

Potential fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct involving or relating to funds under this
award should be reported to the OIG by- (1) mail directed to; Office of the Inspector
General, U.S. Department of Justice, Investigations Division, 1425 New York
Avenue, N.W. Suite 7100, Washington, DC 20530; and/or (2) the DOJ OIG hotline:'
(contact information in English and Spanish) at (800) 869-4499 (phone) or (202)
616-9881 (fax).
Additional information is available from the DOJ OIG website at

https://oig.justice.gov/hotline.

19. Restrictions and certifications regarding non-disclosiu^ agreements and related
matters.

no Subrecipient under this award, or entity that receives a procurement contract or
subcontract with any funds under this award, may require any employee or contractor
to sign an internal confidentiality agreement or statement that prohibits or otherwise
restricts, or purports to prohibit or restrict, the reporting (in accordance with law) of
waste, fî ud, or abuse to an investigative or law enforcement representative of a federal
department or agency authorized to receive such information. The foregoing is not
intended, and shall not be understood by the agency making this award, to contravene
requirements applicable to Standard Form 312 (which relates to classified
information), Form 4414 (which relates to sensitive compartmented information), or
any other form issued by a federal department or agency governing the nondisclosure
of classified information.

a. In accepting this award, the recipient—
i. represents that it neither requires nor has required internal

confidentiality agreements or statements finm employees or
contractors that currently prohibit or otherwise currently restrict
(or purport to prohibit or restrict) employees or contractors from
reporting waste, fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. certifies that, if it learns or is notified that it is or has been
requinng its employees or contractors to execute agreements or
statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport to
prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as
described above, it will immediately stop any further obligations
of award funds, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this awaid, and will resume (or permit
resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to
do so by that agency.

b. If the recipient does or is authorized under this award to make subawards
V  ("subgrants"), procurement contracts, or both-

i. it represents that— it has determined that no other entity y
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that the recipient's application proposes may or will
receive award fiinds (whether through a subaward
("subgrant"), procurement contract, or subcontract under
a procurement contract) either requires or has required
internal confidentiality agreements or statements from
employees or contractors that currently prohibit or
otherwise currently restrict (or purport to prohibit or
restrict) employees or contractors from reporting waste,
fraud, or abuse as described above; and

ii. it has made appropriate inquiry, or otherwise has an
adequate factual basis, to support this representation; and

c. it certifies that, if it learns or is notified that any subrecipient,
contractor, or subcontractor entity that receives funds under this award
is or has been requiring its employees or contractors to execute
agreements or statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport
to prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as described
above, it will immediately stop any further obligations of award funds
to or by that entity, will provide prompt written notification to the
federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit

,  resumption of) such obligations only if expressly authorized to do so
by that agency.

20. Compliance with 41 U.S.C. 4712 (including prohibitions on rqirisal; notice to
employees)
The subrecipient at any tier must comply with, and is subject to, all applicable
provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712, including all applicable provisions that prohibit, under
specified circmnstanccs, discrimination against an employee as reprisal for the
employee's disclosure of information related to gross mismanagement of a federal
grant, a gross waste of federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a federal grant,
a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule,
or regulation related to a federal grant.
The subrecipient also must inform its employees, in writing (and in the
predominant native language of the workforce), of employee riglits and remedies
under 41 U.S.C. 4712.

Should a question arise as to the applicability of the provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712 to
this award, the recipient is to contact the DOJ awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as
appropriate) for guidance.

21. Encouragement of policies to ban text messaging while driving
Pursuant to Executive Order 13513, "Federal Leadership on Reducing Text
Messaging While Driving," 74 Fed. Reg. 51225 (October 1, 2009), DOJ encourages
recipients and subrecipients ("subgrantees") to adopt and choree policies banning
employees from text messaging while driving any vehicle during the course of
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performing work funded by this award, and to establish worlq^lace safety policies
^d conduct education, awareness, and other outreach to decrease crashes caused by
distracted drivers.

22. The subrecipient authorizes Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) and/or the Office of
the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO), the New Hampshire Department of Justice
(NHDOJ) and its representatives, access to and the right to examine all records,
books, paper or documents related to the VOCA grant.

23. VOCA Requirements
The recipient assures that the State and its subrecipients will comply with the
conditions of the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) of 1984, sections 1404(a)(2),
and 1404(b)(1) and (2), 34 U.S.C. 201D3(a)(2) and (b)(1) and (2) (and the
applicable program guidelines and regulations), as required. Specifically, the
State certifies that fimds under this award will:
a) be awarded only to eligible victim assistance organizations, 34 U.S.C.

20103(a)(2);
b) not be used to supplant State and local public funds that would otherwise be

available for crime victim assistance, 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2); and
c) be allocated in accordance with program guidelines or regulations

implementing 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(A) and 34 U.S.C. 20103(a)(2)(B) to, at
a minimum, assist victims in the following categories: sexual assault, child
abuse, domestic violence, and undcrserved victims of violent crimes as
identified by the State.

24. Demographic Data
The recipient assures that its subrecipients will collect and maintain information on
race, sex, national origin, age, and disability of victims receiving assistance, where
such information is volimtarily furnished by the victim.

25. Discrimination Findings
The recipient assures that in the event that a Federal or State court or Federal or State
administrative agency makes a finding of discrimination after a due process hearing
on the ground of race, religion, national origin, sex, or disability against a recipient of
victim assistance formula funds under this award, the recipient will forward a copy of
the findings to the Office for Civil Rights of DIP.

26. The recipient understands that all DIP awards are subject to the National
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA, 42 U.S.C. section 4321 et seq.) and other related
Federal laws (including the National Historic Preservation Act), if applicable. The
recipient agrees to assist OJP in carrying out its responsibilities under NEPA and
related laws, if the recipient plans to use VOCA funds (directly or through subaward
or contract) to undertake any activity that triggers these requirements, such as
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renovation or construction. (See 28 C.F.R. Part 61, App. D.) The recipient also
agrees to comply with all Federal, State, and local environmental laws and
regulations applicable to the development and implementation of the activities to be
funded under this award.

27. The recipient agrees to submit (and, as necessary, require sub-recipients to submit)
quarterly performance reports on the performance metrics identified by OVC, and in
the manner required by OVC. This i^ormation on the activities supported by the
award funding will assist in assessing the effects that YOGA Victim Assistance funds
have had on services to crime victims within the jurisdiction.

28. If Primary Award Exceeds $500,000 - Recipient integrity and performance matters:
Requirement to report information on certain civil, criminal, and administrative
proceedings to and FAPIIS
The subrecipient must comply with any and all applicable requirements regarding
reporting of information on civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings connected
with (or connected to the performance of) either this OJP award or any other grant,
cooperative agreement, or procurement contract fi-om the federal government. Under
certain circumstances, recipients of OJP awards are required to report information
about such proceedings, through the federal System for Award Management (known
as "SAM"), to the designated federal integrity and performance system (currently,
"FAPIIS").

The details of recipient obligations regarding the required reporting (and updating) of
information on certain civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings to the federal
designated integrity and performance system (currently, "FAPIIS") within SAM are
posted on the OJP web site at https://ojp.gov/funding/FAPnS.htra (Award condition:
Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters, including Recipient Reporting to
FAPIIS), and are incorporated by reference here.

29. The Subrecipient understands that grants are funded for the grant award period noted on
the grant award document. No guarantee is given or implied of subsequent funding in
future years.

30. Any publications (written, visual or sound), whether published through Federal grant
funds or matching funds, shall contain the following statements: "This project was
supported by (2018-V2-GX-0036) awarded by the Office for Victims of Crime', Office
of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view in this document are
those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of
the U.S. Department of Justice."
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31. The Subrecipient agency agrees that, should they employ a former member of the NH
Department of Justice (NHDOJ), that employee or their relative shall not perform work
on or be billed to any federal or state subgrant or monetary award that the employee
directly managed or supervised while at the NHDOJ for the life of the subgrant without
the express approval of the NH DOJ.

32. The Subrecipient must utilize volunteers to assist in providing VOCA allowable victim
services unless extenuating circumstances justify the exclusion of volunteers, and a
volunteer waiver is obtained from the NHDOJ.

33. The Subrecipient agrees to assist victims in aoplving for Victims r.ompensation benefits.
Such assistance includes: identifying eligible victims; making reasonable efforts to notify
eligible victims of the availability of compensation; making reasonable efforts to explain
the program to victims; offering to assist victims with the application process when it is
reasonable to do so.

34. The Subrecipient understands that VOCA non-allowable personnel activities include:
general administration, prevention, active investigation and prosecution of criminal
activities, research and studies, lobbying, capital expenses, compensation for victims of
crime and fundraising.

35. The Subrecipient agrees that all services will be provided at no charge to victims
unless a program income waiver is obtained from the NHDOJ. If permission to
generate program income is granted, the Subrecipient agrees that there must be a
sliding scale that starts at zero, and that all program income will be totally expended on
grant allowable activities by the end of the funding cycle.

36. Equipment purchased with VOCA funds shall be listed by the Subrecipient on the
agency inventory. The inventory must include the item description, serial number, cost,
percentage of federal VOCA funds, and location. The Subrecipient agrees that the title
to any equipment purchased with VOCA funds will revert back to the NHDOJ, Grants

Management Unit, when it is no longer being used for the VOCA program purposes
for which it was acquired.

37. The Subrecipient agrees that if a financial audit of the agency is performed, whether it be
an audit under 2 CFR or not, the Subrecipient a^es to provide a copy of the audit and
any associated management letters to the NITOOJ, Grants Management Unit. The Single
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Audit report must be submitted to the Grants Management Unit within 9 months after the
subrecipient's year-end or one month after the issuance of the audit.

38. Sub-Recipients of federal ftmding from the NHDOJ are required to comply with all
federal regulations that relate to non-discrimination. These requirements are specified
in United States Code of Federal Regulation Title 28, sections 35, 38,42 and 54.

Individuals who believe they may have been discriminated against by the NHDOJ or
by an organization that receives federal ftmding from the NHDOJ based on their race,
color, national origin, religion, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation or gender identity
should print and complete a Discrimination Complaint Form found at

httDs://www.doi.nh.gov/grants-mana£ement/civil-rights.htm.

39. The subgrantee, if a non-profit organization, agrees to make its fmancial statements
available online (either on the subgrantee's website, or the NHDOJ's, or another

publicly available website). Organizations that have Federal 501 (c) 3 tax status are

considered in compliance with this requirement, with no further action needed, to the

extent that such organization files IRS Form 990 or similar tax document (e.g., 990-
EZ), as several sources already provide searchable online databases of such financial

statements.

40. The subgrantee, if a non-profit organization, must certify their non-profit status by
submitting a statement to NHDOJ: 1) affirmatively asserting that the recipient is a non
profit organization and 2) indicating that the subgrantee has on file and available upon
audit one of the following:

•  A copy of the organization's 501 (c) 3 designation letter, or:

•  A letter from the State of NH stating that the subgrantee is a non-profit

organization operating within the state, or:
•  A copy of the subrgrantee's state certificate of incorporation that substantiates

its non- profit status

Subgrantees that are local non-profit affiliates of state or national non-profits should
also have a statement by the parent organization that the subgrantee is a local non
profit affiliate.

41. Certification Regarding EEOP Required:
If required, within 30 days from the date of the award, the Subrecipient will submit for
approval, an acceptable Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP) as required by 28
CFR 42.301 et seq. or a Certification Form to both the NH DOJ and the Office of Civil
Rights, Office of Justice Programs, US DOJ at 810 7th Street, NW, Washington, DC
20531. Failure to submit an approved EEOP or Certification is a violation of the ProgiM
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Guidelines and Conditions and may result in suspension or termination of funding, until
such time as the Subrecipient is in compliance. The EEOP reporting tool and
instructions can be found at:: http://oiD.gov/about/ocr/faQ eeoo.htm

42. Compensation for individual consultant services is to be reasonable and consistent with
that paid for similar services in the marketplace. The current consultant limit is $650 per
day or $81.25 per hour. When the rate exceeds the limit for ah 8-hour day, or a
proportionate hourly rate (excluding travel and subsistence costs), a written prior
approval is required from OVCi Prior approval requests require additional justification.

I have read and understand all 42 special provisions contained in this document:

Name and Titl^f jilStBbi ige3^»rescntative /

Signature Day

^  AJf}
Name a^d/^iress of Agency AJ-H
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EEOP Rqrorting

1. IcUuaajpj [responsible official], certify that

[recipient] has completed the EEO reporting tool
certiHdation

form at: https://oip.gov/about/ocr/faQ ceop.htm on [Date]

[responsible official] has completed theAnd that

EEOP

training at https://oip.gov/about/ocr/ocr-trainine-videos/video-ocr-traininp.htm on:

[date]

I further «it)fy that:

ChJ Mp-r\S^C frecioientl will comply
with applicable federal civil rights fews that prSlfcibit discrimination in employment and in the
delivery of services.

Signature: Qgjg. ^5^/ 2-^tLi
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Non«suDDlanting Certification

Supplanting defined

Federal funds must be used to supplement existing funds for program activities and must not
replace those funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose. Supplanting shall be the
subject of application review, as well as pre-award review, post-award monitoring, and audit. If
there is a potential presence of supplanting, the applicant or grantee will be required to supply
documentation demonstrating that the reduction in non-Federal resources occurred for reasons
other than the receipt or expected receipt of Federal funds. For certain progranis, a written
certification may be requested by the awarding agency or recipient agency stating that Federal
funds will not be used to supplant State or local
funds will not be used to supplant State or local funds. See the OJP Financial Guide (Part II,
Chapter 3)

httD://www.oiD.usdoi.gov/financialguide/Dart2/part2cbaD3.htm.

Supplanting and iob retention

A grantee may use federal funds to retain jobs that, without the use of the federal money, would
be lost. If the grantee is planning on using federal funds to retain jobs, it must be able to
substantiate that, without the funds, the jobs would be lost. Substantiation can be, but is not
limited to, one of the following forms: an official memorandum, o^icial minutes of a county or
municipal board meeting or any documentation, that is usual and customarily produced when
making determinations about employment. The documentation must describe the terminated
positions and that the termination is because of lack of the availability of State or local funds.

The ^ffyfApplicantl certifies that any fund'; awaMfH
through ̂ ain number 2018-V2-GX-0036_ shall be used to supplement existing
fimds for program activities and will not replace (supplant) nonfederal funds that have been

appropriated for the purposes and goals of the grant.

_ (Applicant) understands that supplanting

violations may result in a range of penalties, including but not limited to suspension of future

funds under this program, suspension or debarment from federal grants, recoupment of monies

provided under this grant, and civil and/or criminal penalties.

Printed Name and Title:

Signature:
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EXHIBIT F

NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

CERTIFICATIONS REGARDING LOBBYING; DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION AND
OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS; AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE

REQUIREMENTS

Applicants should refer to the regulations cited below to determine the certification to which they
are required to attest. Applicants should also review the instructions for certification included in
the regulations before completing this form. The certifications shall be treated as a material
representation of fact upon which reliance will be placed when the U.S. Department of Justice
("Department") determines to award the covered transaction, grant, or cooperative agreement.

1. LOBBYING

As required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as implemented by 28 C.F.R. Part 69, the Applicant certifies
and assures (to the extent applicable) the following:
(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
Applicant, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
Member of Congress in connection with the making of any Federal grant, the entering into of
any cooperative agreement, or the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification
of any Federal grant or cooperative agreement;

(b) If the Applicant's request for Federal funds is in excess of $ 100,000, and any funds other
than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with this
Federal grant or cooperative agreement, the Applicant shall complete and submit Standard Form
- LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying Activities" in accordance with its (and any DOJ awarding
agency's) instructions; and

(c) The Applicant shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all subgrants and procurement contracts (and their subcontracts) funded with
Federal award funds and shall ensure that any certifications or lobbying disclosures required of
recipients of such subgrants and procurement contracts (or their subcontractors) are made and'
filed in accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 1352.

2. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBn^ITY MATTERS
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EXHIBIT F

A. Pursuant to Department regulations on nonprocurement debarment and suspension
implemented at 2 C.F.R. Part 2867, and to other related requirements, the Applicant certifies,
with respect to prospective participants in a primary tier "covered transaction," as defined at 2
C.F.R. § 2867.20(a), that neither it nor any of its principals—
(a) is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, sentenced to a
denial of Federal benefits by a State or Federal court, or voluntarily excluded from covered
transactions by any Federal department or agency;

(b) has within a three-year period preceding this application been convicted of a felony criminal
violation under any Federal law, or been convicted or had a civil judgment rendered against it for
commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or
performing a public (Federal, State, tribal, or local) transaction or private agreement or
transaction;

violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery,
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statemeiits, tax evasion or receiving
stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction ofjustice, or commission of any offense
indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty that seriously and directly affects its
(or its principals') present responsibility;

(c) is presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph
(b) of this certification; and/or

(d) has within a three-year period preceding this application had one or more public transactions
(Federal, State, tribal, or local) terminated for cause or default.

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application. Where the Applicant or any of its principals was
convicted, within a three-year period preceding this application, of a felony criminal violation
under any Federal law, the Applicant also must disclose such felony criminal conviction in
writing to the Department (for OJP Applicants, to OJP at Ojpcompliancereporting@usdoj.gov;
for OVW Applicants, to OVW at OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS
at AskCOPSRC@usdoj.gov), unless such disclosure has already been made.

3. FEDERAL TAXES

A. If the Applicant is a corporation, it certifies either that (1) the corporation has no unpaid
Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative
remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, that is not being paid in a timely manner
pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability, or
(2) the corporation has provided written notice of such an unpaid tax liability (or
liabilities) to the Department (for OJP
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EXHIBIT F

Applicants, to OJP at Ojpcomplianccrcporting@usdoj.gov; for OVW Applicants, to OVW at
OVW.GFMD@usdoj.gov; or for COPS Applicants, to COPS at AskCOPSRG@usdoj.gov).

B. Where the Applicant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, it shall
attach an explanation to this application.

4. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE (GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, as implemented at 28 C.F.R. Part 83,
Subpait F, for grantees, as defined at 28 C.F.R. §§ 83.620 and 83.650:
A. The Applicant certifies and assures that it will, or will continue to, provide a drug-free
workplace by—

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in its workplace and
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition;

(b) Establishing an on-going drug-free awareness progr^ to inform employees about—

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; /

(2) The Applicant's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the
workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the award
be given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);

(d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of
employment under the award, the employee will—

(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and

(2) Notify the employer in writing of the employee's conviction for a violation of a criminal drug
statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such conviction;

(e) Notifying the Department, in writing, within 10 calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph (d)(2) from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title of any such
convicted employee to the Department, as follows:
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EXHIBIT F

For COPS award recipients - COPS Office, 145 N Street, Washington, DC, 20530;
For OJP and OVW award recipients - U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs,
ATTN: Control Desk, 810 7th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20531.

Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected award;
(f) Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph (d)(2), widi respect to any employee who is so convicted:

(1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including
termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or

(2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law
enforcement, or other appropriate agency; and

(g)Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (c), and (f).

If you are unable to sign this certification, you must attach an explanation to this
certification.

Cw'/ {^Jajrt4Uj3yi^ A)^ Qla?
; and Tftle of Head of Agency {/ /X

—

Name ana j^dress of Agency
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--— CITY OF

Claremont
RESOLUTION 2020-22

Department of Justice VOCA Grant

BE IT RESOLVED by the Claremont City Council, after a public hearing duly noticed, that:

WHEREAS the City of Claremont, New Hampshire has been awarded a United States Department
of Justice Victims of Crime Grant in the amount of $222,143.00 for a two-year period to hire and
train a person for the position of ACERT Coordinator who will create and facilitate an Adverse
Childhood Experiences Response Team (ACERT) for the Greater Claremont Area; and

WHEREAS the City would like to accept and expend the funds for their intended purpose;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council hereby authorizes the City
Manager or his designees to undertake all actions and execute all documents as may be required
to accept a grant in the amount of $222,143.00 from the United States Department of Justice for
the purpose of hiring, training and facilitation of said position; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED to raise and appropriate the sum of $222,143.00 for the Police
Department (from off-setting grant revenue) for the purpose of hiring and training of said position
for the Claremont Police Department; and

BE IT FIJRTHER RESOLVED that the City M^ger or his designees are hereby authorized to
execute all documents and undertake all actions as may be required to implement this resolution.
{2/3 Vote Required)

Dated this 13'*' day of May, 2020, the City of Claremont, County of Sullivan, State of New
Hampshire.

/AYES Q ABSENT

NAYS 0  ABSTAIN O

CERTIFICATION

I, Dor6e Russell, the undersigned officer, hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was adopted
by the City Council of the City of Claremont, New Hampshire, at a meeting duly noticed and held
on May 13,2020.

Dor6e Russell, Clerk to the Council



Primex'
NH Public RUk Monootmcnt tahong* CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

Tho New Hampshire PubBc Risk Management Exchange (Primex') is organized under the New Hampshire Revtoed Statutes Annotated, Chapter 5*B.
Pooled Risk Management Programs, in accordance with these statutes. Its Trust Agreement and bylaws, Primer^ is authorized to provide pooled risk
management programs established for the benefit of political subdivisions in the State of New Hampshire.

Each member'of Primex' Is entitled to the categories of coverage set forth below. In addition, Primex' may extend the same coverage to non-members.
However, any coverage extended to a non-member is sut^ect to an of the terms, conditions, exclusions, amendments, rules, policies and procedures
that are applicable to the members of Primex', Including but not limited to the final and binding resolution of all claims and coverage disputes before the
Primex' Board of Trustees. The Additional Covered Party's per occurrence limit shall be deemed included in the Member's per occurrence limit, and
therefore shall reduce the Member's limit of liability as set forth by the Coverage Documents and Declarations. The limit shown may have been reduced
by claims paid on behalf of the member. General UablHty coverage is limited to Coverage A (Personal Injury Liability) and Coverage 8 (Property
Damage Uabillty) only. Coverage's C (Public Officials Errors and Omissions), D (Unfair Employment Practices). E (Employee Benefit Liability) and F
(Educator's Legal Liability Claims-Made Coverage) are excluded from this pro^lon of coverage.

The below named entity Is a member In good standing of tho New Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange. The coverage provided may.
however, be revised at any time by the actions of Primex'. As of the date this certiftcate is issued, the information set out below accurately reflects the
categories of coverage established for the current coverage year.

Thb Certificate Is Issued as a mattor of information only and confers no rights upon the certificate holder. This certificate does not amend, extend, or
alter the coverage afforded by the coverage categories listed below.

Pvtic^Mtlng Alsmbtr;

City (Df Claremont
58 Opera House Square
Claremont, NH 03743

Member A/umber

141

Ccmpany AftonUng Coverege;

NH Public Risk Management Exchange - Primex'
. Bow Brook Race

46 Donovan Street

Concord, NH 03301-2624

*^(iiSnAidfvw^V Sh. fmmAwvwf rfcr

General Liability (Occurrence Form)
Professional Liability (describe)

O MadT D Occurrence

1/1/2020 1/1/2021 Each Occurrerrca

Genaral Aggregate

Fire Damage (Any one
fire)

Med Exp (Any one person)

% 5,000,000

$5,000,000

Automobile Liability
Deductible Comp and Coll:

Any auto

Combined Single Limit
(EKhAcceM) .

Aggregate

X  I Workers' Compensation & Employers' Uabillty
1/1/2020 1/1/2021 Statutory

Each Accident $2,000,000

Disease - E*ch EmployM $2,000,000

Disease - poiey lmi-

Property (Special Risk Includes Fire and Theft) Blinket Umtt. Replacement
Cost (unless otherwise stated)

Description: Proof of Primex Member coverage only.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER: | AddHlonai Covered Party 1 Loss Payee Primex'- NH Public Risk Management Exchange

By: MmfScOlpmcM

State of New Hampshire Date: 5/15/2020 m(>utvrtl|!S)nhprimex.ora

Department of Justice
33 Capitol St
Concord, NH 03301

Please direct Inquires to:
Primex* Claims/Coverage Services

60S-225-2S41 phone
603-228-3833 fax



Prim^^
NH Public fUik MoAogcrntnt uchonM CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

The New Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange (Primex') Is organized under the New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated. Chapter 5-B.
Pooled Risk Management Programs. In accordance with those statutes, its Trust Agreement and bylaws. Primex' Is authorized to provide pooled risk
management programs established for the benefit of polllical subdivisions in the State of New Hampshire.

Each member of Primex' is entitled to the categories of coverage set forth below. In addition, Prlmex^ may extend the same coverage to non^members.
.However, any coverage extended to a non-member Is subject to all of the terms, conditions, exclusions, amendments, rules. poPdes and procedures
that are appPcabie to the members of Primex', induding but not limited to the final and binding resolution of aP claims and coverage disputes before the
Primex' Board of Trustees. The Additional Covered Part/s per occurrence limit shall be deemed lr>duded In the Member's per occurrence limit, and
therefore shaP reduce the Member's limit of flabiPty as set forth by the Coverage Documents and OedaratJons. The limit shown may hove been reduced
by dalms paid on behalf of the member. General UabiPty coverage is PmKed to Coverage A (Personal Injury UabPity) and Coverage B (Property
Damage Llabiltty) only. Coverage's C (Public Officials Errors and Omissions}. D (Unfair Employment Practices), E (Employee Benefit UabiPty) and F
(Educator's Legal Liability Claims-Made Coverage) are exduded from this provision of coverage.

The below named entity to a member In good standing of the New Hampshire PubPc Risk Management Exchange. The coverage provided mey,
however, be revised at any time by the actions of Pilmex'. As of the date this certificate is Issued, the information set out below accurately reflects the
categories of coverage estabibhad for the current coverage year.

Thb Certtficata b bsued as a matter of information only and confers no rights upon the cerltflcate holder. Thb certificate does not amend, extend, or
alter the coverage afforded by the coverage categories Ibted below.

Partlc^ttng Utmber Member Number

City CFf Claremont 141
58 Opera House Square
Claremont, NH 03743

CorrsMny A/fordfog Covwagt:

NH Public Risk Management Exchange - Primex'
■Bow Brook Place
46 Donovan Street
Concord. NH 03301-2624

t'firfoctfveOstsii t > EipJnrdprrOsfs*. ' ,^Umftt>NH,Sta*uti)iy4Ufnto^y^ppfy?ff,^p
General Liability (Occurrence Form)
Professional Liat>illty (describe)

-

Each Occurrerrce

General Aggregate

D mST D Occurrence Fire Damage (Any one
fire)

Mod Exp (Any one person)

Automobile Uabiiity
Deductible Comp and Coll;

Any auto

Combined Single UrNt
(EtcTi Aeddwii)

Aggregate

X Worlters' Compensation & Employers' Liability 1/1/2020 1/1/2021 X  Statutory

Each Accident $2,000,000

Dbeasa - EMh EmployM $2,000,000

Dbease-PoScyLMt

Property (Special Risk Includes Fire and Theft) Btonkst Umlt. Rsplsceinsnt
Coat (unless otherwbs atsted)

Description: Proof of Primex Member coverage only.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER: | | Additional Covered Party | Lots Payee Primex' - NH Public Risk Managomerrt Exchange

By: Itmf S(4

Data: 5/1S/2020 rrv)urcellAnhprimex.orQNH Department of Justice
33 Capitol Street
Concord. NH 03301

Please direct inquiree to:
Prfrhax' Claims/Coverage Servlcos

603-22&.2S41 phone
S03-22S-3fl33fax


